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(1) Brain Scientific Inc. (the “Company”) is offering units of its securities, each unit consisting of five shares of common stock, par value $0.001, and a warrant to purchase one
share of common stock, par value $0.001. The Company has engaged Dalmore Group, LLC, member FINRA/SIPC (“Dalmore”), to act as the broker-dealer of record in
connection with this offering, but not for underwriting or placement agent services. This includes a 1% commission, but it does not include the one-time set-up fees payable
by the Company to Dalmore. See “Plan of Distribution” for details.
(2) The Company expects that, not including state filing fees, the maximum amount of expenses of the offering that it will pay will be approximately $227,000 assuming that the
maximum number of Units are sold in this offering.
(3) Including a maximum of 1,111,111 Units, consisting of a total of 5,555,556 shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share, and warrants to purchase an aggregate of
1,111,111 shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share.
This offering (the “Offering”) will terminate at the earlier of (1) the date at which the maximum offering amount has been sold, (2) one hundred and eighty (180) days from the
qualification of this circular or ______, 2021, or (3) the date at which the offering is earlier terminated by the Company at its sole discretion. Funds will be deposited into a
segregated account maintained at Novation Solutions Inc. (O/A DealMaker, hereinafter “DealMaker”), who acts as the funds collection agent for the Offering. Dealmaker is an
online platform administering this Offering for the benefit of the Company. The Offering is being conducted on a best-efforts basis with the targeted maximum offering amount
(the “Maximum Offering Amount”) of $10,000,000. There is no minimum offering amount in this Offering. The Company may undertake one or more closings on a rolling
basis. After each closing, funds tendered by investors will be made available to the Company assuming the Company has accepted the investors’ subscription for the Units.
After the initial closing of this offering, we expect to hold closings on at least a monthly basis.

THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION DOES NOT PASS UPON THE MERITS OR GIVE ITS APPROVAL OF ANY
SECURITIES OFFERED OR THE TERMS OF THE OFFERING, NOR DOES IT PASS UPON THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF ANY OFFERING
CIRCULAR OR OTHER SOLICITATION MATERIALS. THESE SECURITIES ARE OFFERED PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION
WITH THE COMMISSION; HOWEVER, THE COMMISSION HAS NOT MADE AN INDEPENDENT DETERMINATION THAT THE SECURITIES
OFFERED ARE EXEMPT FROM REGISTRATION
GENERALLY, NO SALE MAY BE MADE TO YOU IN THIS OFFERING IF THE AGGREGATE PURCHASE PRICE YOU PAY IS MORE THAN 10% OF THE
GREATER OF YOUR ANNUAL INCOME OR NET WORTH. DIFFERENT RULES APPLY TO ACCREDITED INVESTORS AND NON-NATURAL PERSONS.
BEFORE MAKING ANY REPRESENTATION THAT YOUR INVESTMENT DOES NOT EXCEED APPLICABLE THRESHOLDS, WE ENCOURAGE YOU TO
REVIEW RULE 251(d)(2)(i)(C) OF REGULATION A. FOR GENERAL INFORMATION ON INVESTING, WE ENCOURAGE YOU TO REFER
TO www.investor.gov.
This offering is inherently risky. See “Risk Factors” on page 2.
Sales of these securities will commence on approximately _______, 2020.
The Company is following the “Offering Circular” format of disclosure under Regulation A.
The date of this offering circular is_______ __, 2020.
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SUMMARY
This summary highlights information contained elsewhere in this offering circular. This summary is not complete and does not contain all of the information that
you should consider before investing in our Units, each Unit consisting of five (5) shares of common stock and a warrant to purchase one (1) share of common stock. You
should carefully read the entire offering circular carefully, especially concerning the risks associated with the investment in the securities covered by this offering circular
discussed under the “Risk Factors” section beginning on page 2.
The Company
Brain Scientific Inc. (the “Company” or “we”) is a neurodiagnostic and predictive technology platform company seeking to provide a centralized platform for data
acquisition and analysis of electroencephalography (“EEG”) data that combines our medical device technologies with cloud-based telehealth services. Both our NeuroCap, a
pre-gelled disposable EEG headset, and NeuroEEG, a full-montage standard encephalograph, received FDA clearance to market in 2018. The pre-gelled electrodes are
already coated with a conductive gel and vacuum sealed to ensure that it will not dry out so that when taken out of the package they already have conductive gel to transport
electricity. The full montage refers to how the electrodes are positioned on the patient’s head. These scalp electrodes are used to record the EEG by using a machine called an
electroencephalograph.
The Offering
Securities offered by us

Maximum: 1,111,111 units (the “Unit”), each Unit consisting of five (5) shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per
share, and a warrant to purchase one (1) share of common stock

Common Stock outstanding before the Offering

19,478,258 shares (based on number of shares outstanding as of October 7, 2020).

Market for Common Stock

The OTCQB Tier.

Minimum Investment

Fifty-six (56) Units in the amount of $504.

Terms of the Warrants

The warrants are exercisable at a price of $2.25 per share, exercisable from the closing of the offering for a term of
three (3) years, detachable from the Units upon closing of the Offering. However, subject to limited exceptions,
holders of the warrants may not transfer their warrants and we do not intend to develop a trading market for the
warrants, which are currently part of the Units.
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RISK FACTORS
Investing in our Units involves a high degree of risk. In addition to the other information provided in this offering circular, you should carefully consider the following
risk factors in evaluating our business and before purchasing any of our securities. We are subject to a number of risks, including risks that may prevent us from achieving our
business objectives or that may adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.
Risks Related to Our Business
We have incurred significant operating losses since inception and cannot assure you that we will ever achieve or sustain profitability.
We have incurred losses since the formation of MemoryMD in 2015 and had an accumulated deficit of $3,672,077 as of December 31, 2019 and had a working capital
deficit of $897,206 as of December 31, 2019. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and increasing operating and net losses for the foreseeable future. To date, we
have financed our operations primarily through debt and equity financings. To date, our primary activities have been limited to, and our limited resources have been dedicated
to, performing business and financial planning, raising capital, recruiting personnel, negotiating with business partners and the licensors of our intellectual property and
conducting development activities, including the commercialization of our first two Products.
We believe that to fully implement our business strategy we need to, among other things, raise approximately or generate revenues of $10.0 million, or some
combination thereof. We have never been profitable and do not expect to be profitable in the foreseeable future. Any profitability in the future will be dependent upon the
successful development of our business model, of which we can give no assurance of success. We expect our expenses to increase significantly as we pursue our objectives. The
extent of our future operating losses and the timing of profitability are highly uncertain, and we expect to continue incurring significant expenses and operating losses over the
next several years. Our prior losses have had, and will continue to have, an adverse effect on our stockholders’ equity and working capital. Any additional operating losses may
have an adverse effect on our stockholders’ equity, and we cannot assure you that we will ever be able to achieve profitability. Even if we achieve profitability, we may not be
able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. Our failure to become and remain profitable would depress the value of our company and could impair our
ability to raise capital, expand our business, maintain our development efforts, obtain regulatory approvals or continue our operations. Accordingly, we are a highly speculative
venture involving significant financial risk.
We are a development stage company with a limited operating history, making it difficult for you to evaluate our business and your investment.
Our operations are subject to all of the risks inherent in the establishment of a new business enterprise, including but not limited to the absence of an operating history,
lack of fully-developed or commercialized products, insufficient capital, expected substantial and continual losses for the foreseeable future, limited experience in dealing with
regulatory issues, lack of manufacturing and marketing experience, need to rely on third parties for the development and commercialization of our proposed Products, a
competitive environment characterized by well-established and well-capitalized competitors and reliance on key personnel.
We may not be successful in carrying out our business objectives. The revenue and income potential of our proposed business and operations are unproven as the lack
of operating history makes it difficult to evaluate the future prospects of our business. There is nothing at this time on which to base an assumption that our business operations
will prove to be successful or that we will ever be able to operate profitably. Accordingly, we have no track record of successful business activities, strategic decision-making by
management, fund-raising ability, and other factors that would allow an investor to assess the likelihood that we will be successful in our business. There is a substantial risk
that we will not be successful in fully implementing our business plan, or if initially successful, in thereafter generating material operating revenues or in achieving profitable
operations.
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Since inception of MemoryMD in 2015, we have not established any material revenues or operations that will provide financial stability in the long term, and there can be
no assurance that we will realize our plans on our projected timetable (or at all) in order to reach sustainable or profitable operations.
We are not currently generating any revenue from sales of Products, and may never be able to successfully commercialize our NeuroEEG™ and NeuroCap™, or other
future Product candidates. Even if we succeed in commercializing any of such Products, we may never generate revenues significant enough to achieve profitability.
In 2019, we commenced acting as a distributor of third-party medical devices in Russia (including those purchased from a company affiliated with one of our officers
and directors), which resulted in all of our revenue for 2019. While we intend to continue the sale of third party medical devices, we do not intend for it to be our primary source
of revenue in the long-term and expect to curtail or cease this line of operations as, if and when we commence generating material, recurring revenues from our Products, of
which we can give no assurance. We also can give no assurance that any revenue we generate from so acting as a distributor of third-party medical devices will continue, will
continue to be material or will be sufficient to enable us to continue our operations. We have no supply or distribution agreements with respect to such business.
Investors are subject to all the risks incident to the creation and development of a new business and each investor should be prepared to withstand a complete loss of
his, her or its investment. Furthermore, the accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that we will continue as a going concern. We have not emerged
from the development stage, and may be unable to raise further equity. These factors raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. Our financial
statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
The Company has limited experience in medical device development and commercialization. Our ability to become profitable depends primarily on: our ability to
develop our Products, our successful completion of all necessary pre-clinical testing and clinical trials on such Products, our ability to obtain approval for such Products and, if
approved, successfully commercialize such Products, our ongoing research and development efforts, the timing and cost of clinical trials, our ability to identify personnel with
the necessary skill sets or enter into favorable alliances with third-parties who can provide substantial capabilities in clinical development, regulatory affairs, sales, marketing
and distribution and our ability to obtain and maintain necessary intellectual property rights to such Products. Our limited experience in medical device development may make
it more difficult for us to complete these tasks.
Even if we successfully develop and market our Products, we may not generate sufficient or sustainable revenue to achieve or sustain profitability, which could cause
us to cease operations and cause you to lose all of your investment. Because we are subject to these risks, you may have a difficult time evaluating our business and your
investment in our Company.
Our ability to continue our operations requires that we raise additional capital and our operations could be curtailed if we are unable to obtain the additional funding as or
when needed. As a result, our registered public accounting firm has included an explanatory paragraph relating to our ability to continue as a going concern in its report
on our audited financial statements included in this circular. We will need to raise substantial additional funds in the future, and these funds may not be available on
acceptable terms or at all. A failure to obtain this necessary capital when needed could force us to delay, limit, scale back or cease some or all operations.
Upon the completion of the audit of our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019, we concluded there was substantial doubt about our ability to
continue as a going concern. As a result, our independent registered public accounting firm included an explanatory paragraph regarding this uncertainty in its report on those
financial statements.
The continued growth of our business, including the development, regulatory approval and commercialization of our Products, will significantly increase our expenses
going forward, regardless of our revenues. As a result, we are required to seek substantial additional funds to continue our business. Our future capital requirements will depend
on many factors, including:
●

the cost of developing our Products;

●

obtaining and maintaining regulatory clearance or approval for our Products;

●

the costs associated with commercializing our Products;
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●

any change in our development priorities;

●

the revenue generated by sales of our Products, if approved;

●

the revenue generated by sales of third-party medical devices;

●

the costs associated with expanding our sales and marketing infrastructure for commercialization of our Products, if approved;

●

any change in our plans regarding the manner in which we choose to commercialize any approved Product in the United States or internationally;

●

the cost of ongoing compliance with regulatory requirements;

●

expenses we incur in connection with potential litigation or governmental investigations;

●

the costs to develop additional intellectual property:

●

anticipated or unanticipated capital expenditures; and

●

unanticipated general and administrative expenses.

We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents, without raising additional capital or generating additional revenues, is insufficient to fund our operating expenses
for the foreseeable future. We expect to seek additional capital from public or private offerings of our capital stock, borrowings under credit lines, if available, or other sources.
We may not be able to raise additional capital on terms acceptable to us, or at all. Any failure to raise additional capital could compromise our ability to execute on our
business plan, and we may be forced to liquidate our assets. In such a scenario, the values we receive for our assets in liquidation or dissolution could be significantly lower
than the values reflected in our financial statements.
If we issue equity or debt securities to raise additional funds, our existing stockholders may experience dilution, and the new equity or debt securities may have rights,
preferences and privileges senior to those of our existing stockholders. In addition, if we raise additional funds through collaborations, licensing, joint ventures, strategic
alliances, partnership arrangements or other similar arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish valuable rights to our potential future products or proprietary technologies,
or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.
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Medical device development involves a lengthy and expensive process, with an uncertain outcome. We may incur additional costs or experience delays in completing, or
ultimately be unable to complete, the development and commercialization of any Product.
Before obtaining marketing approval from regulatory authorities for the sale of our Products under development in the United States or elsewhere, we must complete
all pre-clinical testing, clinical trials and other regulatory requirements necessitated by the FDA and foreign regulatory bodies and demonstrate the performance and safety of
our Products. Clinical testing is expensive, difficult to design and implement, can take many years to complete and is inherently uncertain as to outcome. A failure of one or
more clinical trials can occur at any stage of testing. Further, the outcomes of completed clinical trials may not be predictive of the success of later clinical trials, and interim
results of a clinical trial do not necessarily predict final results. Clinical data is often susceptible to varying interpretations and analyses, and many companies that have believed
their products performed satisfactorily in clinical trials have nonetheless failed to obtain marketing approval. We have limited resources to complete the expensive process of
medical device development, pre-clinical testing and clinical trials, putting at a disadvantage, particularly compared to some of our larger and established competitors, and we
may not have sufficient resources to commercialize our Products under development in a timely fashion, if ever.
We may experience numerous unforeseen events during or as a result of clinical trials that could delay or prevent our ability to receive marketing approval or
commercialize our Products, including:
●

regulators may not authorize us or our investigators to commence a clinical trial or conduct a clinical trial at a prospective trial site;

●

the failure to successfully complete pre-clinical testing requirements required by the FDA and international organizations;

●

we may experience delays in reaching, or fail to reach, agreement on acceptable clinical trial contracts with third parties or clinical trial protocols with prospective trial
sites, the terms of which can be subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different trial sites;

●

clinical trials of our Products may produce negative or inconclusive results, including failure to demonstrate statistical significance, and we may decide, or regulators
may require us, to conduct additional clinical trials or abandon our development programs;

●

the number of people with brain related disorders required for clinical trials may be larger than we anticipate, enrollment in these clinical trials may be slower than we
anticipate or people may drop out of these clinical trials or fail to return for post-treatment follow-up at a higher rate than we anticipate;

●

our Products may have undesirable side effects or other unexpected characteristics, causing us or our investigators, regulators or institutional review boards to suspend or
terminate the trials;

●

our third-party contractors conducting the clinical trials may fail to comply with regulatory requirements or meet their contractual obligations to us in a timely manner, or
at all;

●

regulators may require that we or our investigators suspend or terminate clinical development for various reasons, including noncompliance with regulatory requirements
or a finding that the participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks;

●

the cost of clinical trials of our Products may be greater than we anticipate;

●

the supply or quality of our Products or other materials necessary to conduct clinical trials of our Products may be insufficient or inadequate; and

●

delays from our suppliers and manufacturers could impact clinical trial completion and impact revenue.
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If we are required to conduct additional clinical trials or other testing of our Products under development beyond those that we contemplate, if we are unable to
successfully complete clinical trials of our Products under development or other testing, if the results of these trials or tests are not favorable or if there are safety concerns, we
may:
●

not obtain marketing approval at all;

●

be delayed in obtaining marketing approval for our Products under development in a jurisdiction;

●

be subject to additional post-marketing testing requirements; or

●

have our Products removed from the market after obtaining marketing approval.

Our development costs will also increase if we experience delays in testing or marketing approvals. We do not know whether any of our clinical trials will begin as
planned, will need to be restructured or will be completed on schedule, or at all. Significant clinical trial delays also could allow our competitors to bring innovative products to
market before we do and impair our ability to successfully commercialize our Products.
Business or economic disruptions or global health concerns could seriously harm our business.
Broad-based business or economic disruptions could adversely affect our business. For example, in December 2019 an outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus
originated in Wuhan, China, and has since spread around the world. To date, this outbreak has already resulted in extended shutdowns of businesses around the world, including
in the United States. We cannot presently predict the scope and severity of any potential business shutdowns or disruptions, but if we or any of the third parties with whom we
engage, including the suppliers, clinical trial sites, regulators, health care providers and other third parties with whom we conduct business, were to experience shutdowns or
other business disruptions, our ability to conduct our business could be materially and negatively impacted. It is also possible that global health concerns such as this one could
disproportionately impact the hospitals, clinics and healthcare providers to whom we intend to sell our products, as, if and when commercialized, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business and our results of operation and financial condition.
Current economic and political conditions make tax rules in any jurisdiction subject to significant change.
We are subject to income taxes as well as non-income based taxes, in both the U.S. and ultimately various jurisdictions outside the U.S. where we intend to operate.
We cannot predict the overall impact that changes or revisions to any such tax laws and regulations, whether in in the U.S. or in jurisdictions outside the U.S., may have on our
business. We may be subject to ongoing tax audits in various jurisdictions, and the tax authorities conducting such audits may disagree with certain taxation positions we have
taken and assess additional taxes. Although we intend to regularly assess the likely outcomes of these audits in order to determine the appropriateness of our tax obligations,
there can be no assurance that we will accurately predict the outcomes of these audits, and the actual outcomes of these audits could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition and business operations.
Recent executive and legislative actions to amend or impede the implementation of the Affordable Care Act and ongoing efforts to repeal, replace or further modify the
Affordable Care Act may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Recent executive and legislative actions to amend or impede the implementation of the Affordable Care Act and ongoing efforts to repeal, replace or further modify
the Affordable Care Act may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
There have been judicial and congressional challenges to certain aspects of the Affordable Care Act, as well as recent efforts by the Trump administration to repeal or
replace certain aspects of the Affordable Care Act. Since January 2017, President Trump has signed two Executive Orders and other directives designed to delay the
implementation of certain provisions of the Affordable Care Act or otherwise circumvent some of the requirements for health insurance mandated by the Affordable Care Act.
Concurrently, Congress has considered legislation that would repeal or repeal and replace all or part of the Affordable Care Act. While Congress has not passed comprehensive
repeal legislation, two bills affecting the implementation of certain taxes under the Affordable Care Act have been signed into law. The Tax Act included a provision which
repealed, effective January 1, 2019, the tax-based shared responsibility payment imposed by the Affordable Care Act on certain individuals who fail to maintain qualifying
health coverage for all or part of a year that is commonly referred to as the “individual mandate”. The 2018 Appropriations Resolution delayed the implementation of
certain Affordable Care Act-mandated fees, including, without limitation, the medical device excise tax. The Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018, or BBA, among other things,
amended the Affordable Care Act, effective January 1, 2019, to close the coverage gap in most Medicare drug plans, commonly referred to as the “donut hole”. In July 2018,
CMS published a final rule permitting further collections and payments to and from certain Affordable Care Act qualified health plans and health insurance issuers under
the Affordable Care Act risk adjustment program in response to the outcome of federal district court litigation regarding the method CMS uses to determine this risk adjustment.
On December 14, 2018, a Texas U.S. District Court Judge ruled that the Affordable Care Act is unconstitutional in its entirety because the “individual mandate” was repealed
by Congress as part of the Tax Act. While the Texas U.S. District Court Judge, as well as the Trump administration and CMS, have stated that the ruling will have no immediate
effect pending appeal of the decision, it is unclear how this decision, subsequent appeals, and other efforts to repeal and replace the Affordable Care Act will impact
the Affordable Care Act and our business.
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In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the Affordable Care Act was enacted. These changes included aggregate reductions to
Medicare payments to providers of up to 2% per fiscal year, which went into effect in April 2013 and, due to the BBA, will stay in effect through 2027 unless additional
Congressional action is taken. In January 2013, President Obama signed into law the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, which, among other things, further reduced
Medicare payments to several providers, and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years. These
new laws may result in additional reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding, which could negatively impact customers for our product candidates, if approved, and,
accordingly, our financial operations.
We expect that other healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future, may result in additional reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding, more
rigorous coverage criteria, new payment methodologies and additional downward pressure on the price that we receive for any approved product. Any reduction in
reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result in a similar reduction in payments from private payors. The implementation of cost containment
measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent us from being able to generate revenue, attain profitability, or commercialize our Products.
We are subject to costly and complex laws and governmental regulations and any adverse regulatory action may materially adversely affect our financial condition and
business operations.
Our medical devices are subject to regulation by numerous government agencies, including the FDA and comparable agencies outside of the U.S. To varying degrees,
each of these agencies requires us to comply with laws and regulations governing the development, testing, manufacturing, labeling, marketing, and distribution of our Products.
We cannot guarantee that we will be able to obtain or maintain marketing clearance for our new Products, or enhancements or modifications to existing Products, and the failure
to maintain approvals or obtain approval or clearance could have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of our business and our business operations. Even if we are
able to obtain such approval or clearance, it may take a significant amount of time, require the expenditure of substantial resources, involve stringent clinical and pre-clinical
testing, require increased post-market surveillance, involve modifications, repairs, or replacements of our Products, and result in limitation on the proposed uses of our Products.
Both before and after a Product or service is commercially released or offered, we have ongoing responsibilities under FDA regulations. Many of our facilities and
procedures and those of our suppliers are also subject to periodic inspections by the FDA to determine compliance with the FDA’s requirements, including the quality system
regulations and medical device reporting regulations. The results of these inspections can include inspectional observations on FDA’s Form-483, warning letters, or other forms
of enforcement. If the FDA were to conclude that we are not in compliance with applicable laws or regulations, or that any of our medical devices are ineffective or pose an
unreasonable health risk, the FDA could ban such medical devices, detain or seize adulterated or misbranded medical devices, order a recall, repair, replacement, or refund of
such devices, refuse to grant pending pre-market approval applications or require certificates of non-U.S. governments for exports, and/or require us to notify health
professionals and others that the devices present unreasonable risks of substantial harm to the public health. The FDA may also assess civil or criminal penalties against us, our
officers or employees and impose operating restrictions on a company-wide basis, or enjoin and/or restrain certain conduct resulting in violations of applicable law. The FDA
may also recommend prosecution to the U. S. Department of Justice. Governmental agencies comparable to the FDA which operate in foreign jurisdictions may also require us
to comply with regulations similar to those required by the FDA, and failing to do so may result in material adverse ramifications similar to those caused by a failure to comply
with FDA regulations. Any adverse regulatory action, depending on its magnitude, may restrict us from effectively marketing and selling our Products and limit our ability to
obtain future pre-market clearances or approvals, and could cause result in a substantial modification to our business practices and operations.
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In addition, the FDA has taken the position that device manufacturers are prohibited from promoting their products other than for the uses and indications set forth in
the approved product labeling. A number of enforcement actions have been taken against manufacturers that promote products for “off-label” uses, including actions alleging
that federal health care program reimbursement of products promoted for “off-label” uses constitute false and fraudulent claims to the government. The failure to comply with
“off-label” promotion restrictions can result in significant civil or criminal exposure, administrative obligations and costs, and/or other potential penalties from, and/or
agreements with, the federal government.
Governmental regulations outside the U.S. have become increasingly stringent and more common, and we may become subject to more rigorous regulation by
governmental authorities in the future in the event we determine to conduct business internationally. In the European Union, for example, a new Medical Device Regulation was
published in 2017 which, when it enters into full force, will impose significant additional premarket and post-market requirements. Penalties for a company’s non-compliance
with governmental regulation could be severe, including fines and revocation or suspension of a company’s business license, mandatory price reductions and criminal sanctions.
Any governmental law or regulation imposed in the future may have a material adverse effect on us.
We are subject to environmental laws and regulations and the risk of environmental liabilities, violations and litigation.
We are subject to numerous U.S. federal, state, local and non-U.S. environmental, health and safety laws and regulations concerning, among other things, the health
and safety of our employees, the generation, storage, use and transportation of hazardous materials, emissions or discharges of substances into the environment, investigation
and remediation of hazardous substances or materials at various sites, chemical constituents in medical products and end-of-life disposal and take-back programs for medical
devices. Our operations involve the use of substances regulated under such laws and regulations, primarily those used in manufacturing and sterilization processes. If we violate
these environmental laws and regulations, we could be fined, criminally charged or otherwise sanctioned by regulators.
In addition, certain environmental laws assess liability on current or previous owners or operators of real property for the costs of investigation, removal or remediation
of hazardous substances or materials at their properties or at properties which they have disposed of hazardous substances. Liability for investigative, removal and remedial
costs under certain U.S. federal and state laws are retroactive, strict and joint and several. In addition to cleanup actions brought by governmental authorities, private parties
could bring personal injury or other claims due to the presence of, or exposure to, hazardous substances. The ultimate cost of site cleanup and timing of future cash outflows is
difficult to predict, given the uncertainties regarding the extent of the required cleanup, the interpretation of applicable laws and regulations, and alternative cleanup methods.
We may in the future be subject to additional environmental claims for personal injury or cleanup based on our past, present or future business activities (including the
past activities of companies we may acquire). The costs of complying with current or future environmental protection and health and safety laws and regulations, or liabilities
arising from past or future releases of, or exposures to, hazardous substances, may exceed our estimates, or have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of our
business and our business operations.
Our failure to comply with laws and regulations relating to reimbursement of health care goods and services may subject us to penalties and adversely impact our
reputation, financial condition, and business operations.
Our Products are expected to be purchased primarily by medical professionals and organizations that typically bill various third-party payers, such as governmental
programs (e.g., Medicare, Medicaid and comparable non-U.S. programs), private insurance plans and managed care plans, for the healthcare services provided to their patients.
The ability of our customers to obtain appropriate reimbursement for products from third-party payers is critical because it affects which products customers purchase and the
prices they are willing to pay for such products. As a result, our Products are subject to regulation regarding quality and cost by the U.S. Department of Health and Human
Services, including the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”) as well as comparable state and non-U.S. agencies responsible for reimbursement and regulation of
health care goods and services. The principal U.S. federal laws implicated include those that prohibit (i) the filing of false or improper claims for federal payment, known as the
false claims laws, (ii) unlawful inducements for the referral of business reimbursable under federally-funded health care programs, known as the anti-kickback laws, and (iii)
health care service providers from seeking reimbursement for providing certain services to a patient who was referred by a physician who has certain types of direct or indirect
financial relationships with the service provider, known as the Stark Law. Many states have similar laws that apply to reimbursement by state Medicaid and other funded
programs as well as in some cases to all payers. Insurance companies can also bring a private cause of action claiming treble damages against a manufacturer for causing a false
claim to be filed under the federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act. In addition, if we were to become a manufacturer of FDA-approved devices
reimbursable by federal healthcare programs, we would be subject to the Physician Payments Sunshine Act, which would require us to annually report certain payments and
other transfers of value we make to U.S.-licensed physicians or U.S. teaching hospitals.
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Our anticipated domestic and international operations may be subject to risks relating to changes in government and private medical reimbursement programs and
policies, and changes in legal regulatory requirements in the U.S. and around the world. Implementation of further legislative or administrative reforms to the reimbursement
system in the U.S. and outside of the U.S., or adverse decisions relating to our Products or services by administrators of these systems in coverage or reimbursement, could
significantly reduce reimbursement or result in the denial of coverage, which could have an impact on the acceptance of and demand for our Products and the prices that our
customers are willing to pay for them.
The laws and regulations of healthcare related products that are applicable to us, including those described herein, are subject to evolving interpretations and
enforcement discretion. If a governmental authority were to conclude that we are not in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, we and our officers and employees
could be subject to severe criminal and civil penalties, including, for example, exclusion from participation as a supplier of products or services to beneficiaries covered by
CMS. Any failure to comply with laws and regulations relating to reimbursement and healthcare products could adversely affect our financial condition and business operations.
We are subject to federal, state and foreign healthcare regulations related to anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws, and could face substantial penalties if we fail to fully
comply with such regulations and laws.
The relationships that we and our potential distributors and others that market or may market our Products have with healthcare professionals, such as physicians and
hospitals, are subject to scrutiny under various federal, state, foreign laws often referred to collectively as healthcare fraud and abuse laws. In addition, U.S. and foreign
government regulators have increased the enforcement of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and other anti-bribery laws. We also must comply with a variety of other laws that
protect the privacy of individually identifiable healthcare information and impose extensive tracking and reporting related to all transfers of value provided to certain healthcare
professionals. These laws and regulations are broad in scope and are subject to evolving interpretation and we could be required to incur substantial costs to monitor compliance
or to alter our practices if we are found not to be in compliance. Violations of these laws may be punishable by criminal or civil sanctions, including substantial fines,
imprisonment of current or former employees and exclusion from participation in governmental healthcare programs, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition and business operations.
Quality problems with, and product liability claims in connection with our Products could lead to recalls or safety alerts, harm to our reputation, or adverse verdicts or
costly settlements, and could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and business operations.
Quality is extremely important to us and our customers due to the serious and costly consequences of Product failure and our business exposes us to potential product
liability risks that are inherent in the design, manufacture, and marketing of medical devices and services. In addition, our products may be used in intensive care settings with
seriously ill patients. Component failures, manufacturing defects, design flaws, off-label use, or inadequate disclosure of product-related risks or product-related information
with respect to our products, could result in an unsafe condition or injury to, or death of, a patient or other user of our products. These problems could lead to the recall of, or
issuance of a safety alert relating to, our Products, and could result in unfavorable judicial decisions or settlements arising out of product liability claims and lawsuits, including
class actions, which could negatively affect our financial condition and business operations. In particular, a material adverse event involving one of our products could result in
reduced market acceptance and demand for all products offered under our brand, and could harm our reputation and ability to market products in the future.
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High quality products are critical to the success of our business. If we fail to meet the high standards we set for ourselves and which our customers expect, and our
products are the subject of recalls, safety alerts, or other material adverse events, our reputation could be damaged, we could lose customers, and our revenue and results of
operations could decline. Our success also depends generally on our ability to manufacture to exact tolerances precision-engineered components, subassemblies, and finished
devices from multiple materials. If our components fail to meet these standards or fail to adapt to evolving standards, our reputation, competitive advantage and market share
could be negatively impacted. In certain situations, we may undertake a voluntary recall of products or temporarily shut down product production lines if we determine, based
on performance relative to our own internal safety and quality monitoring and testing data, that we have or may be in danger of failing to meet the high quality standards we
have set for ourselves and which our customers expect. Such recalls or cessation of services or product manufacturing may also negatively impact our business.
Any product liability claim brought against us, with or without merit, could be costly to defend and resolve. Any of the foregoing problems, including product liability
claims or product recalls in the future, regardless of their ultimate outcome, could harm our reputation and have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and business
operations.
We are substantially dependent on patent and other proprietary rights and failing to protect such rights or to be successful in litigation related to our rights or the rights of
others may result in our payment of significant monetary damages and/or royalty payments, negatively impact our ability to sell current or future Products, or prohibit us
from enforcing our patent and other proprietary rights against others.
We are and will continue to be materially dependent on a combination of patents, trade secrets, and trademarks, non-disclosure and non-competition agreements, and
other intellectual property protections which will enable us to maintain our proprietary competitiveness. We also operate in an industry characterized by extensive patent
litigation. Patent litigation against us can result in significant damage awards and injunctions that could prevent our manufacture and sale of affected Products or require us to
pay significant royalties in order to continue to manufacture or sell affected Products. At any given time, we could potentially be involved as a plaintiff and/or as a defendant in
a number of patent infringement and/or other contractual or intellectual property related actions, the outcomes of which may not be known for prolonged periods of time. While
it is not possible to predict the outcome of such litigation, we acknowledge the possibility that any such litigation could result in our payment of significant monetary damages
and/or royalty payments, negatively impact our ability to sell current or future Products, or prohibit us from enforcing our patent and proprietary rights against others, which
would have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of our business and on our business operations.
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While we intend to defend against any threats to our intellectual property, including our patents, trade secrets, and trademarks, and while we intend to defend against
any actual or threatened breaches of our non-disclosure and non-competition agreements, may not adequately protect our intellectual property or enforce such agreements.
Further, patent or trademark applications currently pending that are owned by us may not result in patents or trademarks being issued to us, patents or trademarks issued to or
licensed by us in the past or in the future may be challenged or circumvented by competitors and such patents or trademarks may be found invalid, unenforceable or
insufficiently broad to protect our proprietary advantages.
In addition, the laws of certain countries in which we market, or intend to market, some or all of our Products do not protect our intellectual property rights to the same
extent as the laws of the U.S., which could make it easier for competitors to capture market position in such countries by utilizing technologies and other intellectual property
that are similar to those developed or licensed by us. Competitors may also harm our sales by designing products or offering services that mirror the capabilities of our Products,
or the technology contained therein, without infringing our intellectual property rights. If we are unable to protect our intellectual property in these countries, it could have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition and business operations.
If we experience decreasing prices for our Products and we are unable to reduce our expenses, our financial condition and business operations may suffer.
We may experience decreasing prices for our Products due to pricing pressure experienced by our customers from managed care organizations and other third-party
payers, increased market power of our customers as the medical device industry consolidates, and increased competition among medical engineering and manufacturing service
providers. If the prices for our Products decrease and we are unable to reduce our expenses, our results of operations will be adversely affected.
Our research and development efforts rely upon investments and investment collaborations, and we cannot guarantee that any previous or future investments or investment
collaborations will be successful.
Our commercialization strategy requires a wide variety of technologically advanced and capable Products. The rapid pace of technological development in the
MedTech industry and the specialized expertise required in different areas of medicine make it difficult for one company alone to develop a broad portfolio of technological
solutions. In addition to internally generated growth through our research and development efforts, we anticipate the need to rely upon investments and investment
collaborations to provide us access to new technologies both in areas served by our contemplated businesses as well as in new areas. A failure to establish such collaborations
may harm our financial condition and business operations.
Going forward, we expect to make future investments where we believe that we can stimulate the development or acquisition of new technologies, Products to further
our strategic objectives and strengthen our existing business ventures. Investments and investment collaborations in and with medical technology companies are inherently risky,
and we cannot guarantee that any of our previous or future investments or investment collaborations will be successful or will not have a materially adverse effect our financial
condition and business operations.
The ability to offer our planned Products, and the continuing development of new Products, depends upon us maintaining strong relationships with health care
professionals.
If we fail to maintain our working relationships with health care professionals, many of our Products may not be developed and offered in line with the needs and
expectations of the professionals who use and support our Products, which could cause a decline in our earnings and profitability. The research, development, marketing, and
sales of our Products is expected to be dependent upon our maintaining working relationships with such health care professionals, and the use of our Products is expected to
often require the participation of health care professionals. In addition, health care professionals are the primary customer groups we expect to market and sell our Products
directly to, further highlighting the importance of our relationship with such health care professionals. If we are unable to maintain our relationships with these professionals,
we may lose our primary customer base, our Products may not be utilized correctly or to their full potential, and our ability to develop, manufacture, and market future Products
may be significantly stunted.
Economic and political instability around the world could adversely affect our financial condition and business operations.
Economic and political instability around the world may adversely affect our ability to develop, manufacture, market, and sell our Products. Our customers and
suppliers may experience financial difficulties or be unable to borrow money to fund their operations which may adversely impact their ability to purchase our Products or
services or to pay for our Products on a timely basis, if at all. As with our customers and suppliers, these economic conditions make it more difficult for us to accurately forecast
and plan our future business activities. In addition, a significant amount of our trade receivables are with national health care systems in the U.S. and in many foreign countries.
Repayment of these receivables is dependent upon the political and financial stability of those countries. In light of domestic and global economic fluctuations, we continue to
monitor the creditworthiness of customers located both inside and outside the U.S. Failure to receive payment of all or a significant portion of these receivables could adversely
affect our financial condition and business operations.
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Laws and regulations governing the export of our Products could adversely impact our business.
The U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control and the Bureau of Industry and Security at the U.S. Department of Commerce administer
certain laws and regulations that restrict U.S. persons and, in some instances, non-U.S. persons, in conducting activities, transacting business with or making investments in
certain countries, governments, entities and individuals subject to U.S. economic sanctions. Due to our planned international operations, we expect to be subject to such laws
and regulations, which are complex, could restrict our business dealings with certain countries and individuals, and are constantly changing. Further restrictions may be enacted,
amended, enforced or interpreted in a manner that adversely impacts our financial condition and business operations.
Consolidation in the health care industry may cause a material adverse effect on our financial health and business operations.
In response to a variety of actions by legislators, regulators, and third-party payers to reduce the perceived rise in healthcare costs, many health care industry
companies, including health care systems, are consolidating to create new companies with greater market power. As the health care industry consolidates, competition to
provide goods and services to industry participants will become more intense. These industry participants may try to use their market power to negotiate price concessions or
reductions our products which price concessions may be unanticipated and adversely affect our financial condition and business operations.
We operate in a highly competitive industry and we may be unable to compete effectively.
We expect to compete domestically and internationally in the neurology and diagnostic imaging MedTech markets. These markets are characterized by rapid change
resulting from technological advances and scientific discoveries. In the product lines and offered services in which we compete, we face a mixture of competitors ranging from
large manufacturers with multiple business lines to small manufacturers that offer a limited selection of niche products. Development by other companies of new or improved
products, processes, technologies, or the introduction of reprocessed products or generic versions when our proprietary Products lose their patent protection may make our
Products or proposed Products less competitive. In addition, we face competition from providers of alternative medical therapies such as pharmaceutical companies.
Competitive factors include product reliability, product performance, product technology, product quality, breadth of product lines, product services, customer support, price,
and reimbursement approval from health care insurance providers.
We also face competition for marketing, distribution, and collaborative development agreements, for establishing relationships health care professionals, medical
associations, and academic and research institutions, and for licenses to intellectual property. In addition, academic institutions, governmental agencies and other public and
private research organizations also may conduct research, seek patient protection and establish collaborative arrangements for discovery, research, clinical development and
marketing of products similar to ours. These companies, professionals, and institutions compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management
personnel, as well as in acquiring necessary product technologies.
A reduction or interruption in our supply of raw materials coupled with an inability to develop alternative sources for such raw materials, and other similar supply chain
management difficulties, may adversely affect our ability to manufacture our Products.
The manufacture of our Products require the timely delivery of sufficient amounts of quality components and materials and is highly exacting and complex, due in part
to strict regulatory requirements, and we cannot guarantee that our efforts to secure quality components and materials in a timely, cost effective manner will be successful. Other
problems in the manufacturing process, including equipment malfunction, failure to follow specific protocols and procedures, defective raw materials and environmental factors,
could lead to launch delays, product shortage, unanticipated costs, lost revenues and damage to our reputation. A failure to identify and address manufacturing problems prior to
the release of Products to our customers may also result in quality or safety issues.
The Company’s operating results could be negatively impacted if it is unable to capitalize on research and development spending.
The Company has and intends to continue to spend a significant amount of time and resources on research and development projects in order to develop and validate
new and innovative products. The Company believes these projects will result in the commercialization of new products and will create additional future sales. However, factors
including regulatory delays, safety concerns or patent disputes could delay the introduction or marketing of new products. Additionally, unanticipated issues may arise in
connection with current and future clinical studies that could delay or terminate a product’s development prior to regulatory approval. The Company may experience an
unfavorable impact on its financial condition and business operations if we are unable to capitalize on those efforts by attaining the proper FDA approval or to successfully
market new products.
We may be unable to attract and retain key employees.
Our sales, technical and other key personnel play an integral role in the development, marketing and selling of our Products. If we are unable to recruit, hire, develop
and retain a talented, competitive work force, we may not be able to meet our strategic business objectives.
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Risks Related to the Investment in our Securities
There is not now, and there may never be, an active market for our common stock and we cannot assure you that our common stock will become liquid or that it will be
listed on a securities exchange.
There currently is no liquid market for our common stock. An investor may find it difficult to obtain accurate quotations as to the market value of the common stock
and trading of our common stock may be extremely sporadic. For example, several days may pass before any shares may be traded. A more active market for our common
stock may never develop. In addition, if we failed to meet the criteria set forth in SEC regulations, various requirements would be imposed by law on broker-dealers who sell
our securities to persons other than established customers and accredited investors. Consequently, such regulations may deter broker-dealers from recommending or selling the
common stock, which may further affect its liquidity. This would also make it more difficult for us to raise additional capital.
Our shares may not become eligible to be traded electronically which could result in brokerage firms being unwilling to trade them.
Our shares of common stock are quoted on the OTC Market. However, our shares are not eligible with Depository Trust Company (DTC) to trade electronically.
Because we are not DTC eligible, our shares cannot be electronically transferred between brokerage accounts, the practical effect of which means that our shares will not trade
much, if at all, on the OTC Market. In order for our shares to trade on the OTC Market, our shares would need to be traded manually between broker dealers and their accounts,
which is time consuming, costly and cumbersome. We cannot guaranty that our shares will ever become DTC eligible or how long it will take to become eligible.
The price of our common stock might fluctuate significantly, and you could lose all or part of your investment.
Volatility in the market price of our common stock may prevent you from being able to sell your shares of our common stock at or above the price you paid for your
shares. The trading price of our common stock may be volatile and subject to wide price fluctuations in response to various factors, including:
●

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly financial and operating results;

●

our progress toward developing our Products;

●

the commencement, enrollment and results of our future clinical trials;

●

adverse results from, delays in or termination of our clinical trials;

●

adverse regulatory decisions, including failure to receive regulatory approval;

●

publication of research reports about us or our industry or positive or negative recommendations or withdrawal of research coverage by securities analysts, if any;

●

perceptions about the market acceptance of our Products and the recognition of our brand;

●

adverse publicity about our Products or industry in general;

●

overall performance of the equity markets;

●

introduction of Products, or announcements of significant contracts, licenses or acquisitions, by us or our competitors;

●

legislative, political or regulatory developments;

●

additions or departures of key personnel;

●

threatened or actual litigation and government investigations;

●

sale of shares of our common stock by us or members of our management; and

●

general economic conditions.
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These and other factors might cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate substantially, which may negatively affect the liquidity of our common stock.
In addition, from time to time, the stock market experiences price and volume fluctuations, some of which may be significant. This volatility has had a significant impact on the
market price of securities issued by many companies across many industries. The changes frequently appear to occur without regard to the operating performance of the affected
companies. Accordingly, the price of our common stock could fluctuate based upon factors that have little or nothing to do with our company, and these fluctuations could
materially reduce our share price.
Securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the overall market and in the market price of a company’s
securities. This litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs, divert our management’s attention and resources, and harm our business, operating results and
financial condition.
Our common stock is subject to the “penny stock” rules of the SEC, which makes transactions in our stock cumbersome and may reduce the value of an investment in our
stock.
The SEC has adopted regulations which generally define a “penny stock” as an equity security that has a market price of less than $5.00 per share, subject to specific
exemptions. The SEC’s penny stock rules require a broker-dealer, before a transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from the rules, to deliver a standardized risk
disclosure document that provides information about penny stocks and the risks in the penny stock market. The broker-dealer must also provide the customer with current bid
and offer quotations for the penny stock, the compensation of the broker-dealer and the salesperson in the transaction, and monthly account statements showing the market value
of each penny stock held in the customer’s account. In addition, the penny stock rules generally require that before a transaction in a penny stock occurs, the broker-dealer must
make a special written determination that the penny stock is a suitable investment for the purchaser and receive the purchaser’s agreement to the transaction. If applicable in the
future, these rules may restrict the ability of brokers-dealers to sell our common stock and may affect the ability of investors to sell their shares, until our common stock no
longer is considered a penny stock.
Concentration of ownership of our common stock among our existing executive officers, directors and principal stockholders may prevent new investors from influencing
significant corporate decisions.
Our executive officers, directors and their affiliates, in the aggregate, beneficially own approximately 48.5% of our outstanding common stock as of October 7, 2020.
As a result, these persons, acting together, would be able to significantly influence all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election and removal of directors,
any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our assets, or other significant corporate transactions.
Some of these persons or entities may have interests different than yours. For example, they may be more interested in selling our company to an acquirer than other
investors, or they may want us to pursue strategies that deviate from the interests of other stockholders.
We intend to issue more shares to raise capital, which will result in substantial dilution.
Our certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of a maximum of 200,000,000 shares of common stock and 10,000,000 shares of “blank check” preferred
stock. Any additional financings effected by us may result in the issuance of additional securities without stockholder approval and the substantial dilution in the percentage of
common stock held by our then existing stockholders. Moreover, the securities issued in any such transaction may be valued on an arbitrary or non-arm’s-length basis by our
management, resulting in an additional reduction in the percentage of common stock held by our current stockholders on an as converted, fully-diluted basis. Our board of
directors has the power to issue any or all of such authorized but unissued shares without stockholder approval. To the extent that additional shares of common stock or other
securities convertible into or exchangeable for common stock are issued in connection with a financing, dilution to the interests of our stockholders will occur and the rights of
the holder of common stock might be materially and adversely affected.
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Anti-takeover provisions that may be in our charter and bylaws may prevent or frustrate attempts by stockholders to change the board of directors or current management
and could make a third-party acquisition of us difficult.
Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may contain provisions that may discourage, delay or prevent a merger, acquisition or other change in control that
stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These provisions could limit the price
that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock.
We do not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings for use in the operation
and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, you may have to sell some or all of your shares of our
common stock in order to generate cash flow from your investment. You may not receive a gain on your investment when you sell shares and you may lose the entire amount of
the investment.
We expect to incur increased costs and demands upon management as a result of being a public company.
As a public company in the United States, we expect to incur significant additional legal, accounting and other costs. These additional costs could negatively affect our
financial results. In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure, including regulations implemented by the SEC
and the stock exchange on which we may list our common stock, may increase legal and financial compliance costs and make some activities more time-consuming. These
laws, regulations and standards are subject to varying interpretations and, as a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by
regulatory and governing bodies. We intend to invest resources to comply with evolving laws, regulations and standards, and this investment may result in increased general and
administrative expenses and a diversion of management’s time and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities. If, notwithstanding our efforts to
comply with new laws, regulations and standards, we fail to comply, regulatory authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us and our business may be harmed.
Failure to comply with these rules might also make it more difficult for us to obtain some types of insurance, including director and officer liability insurance, and we
might be forced to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. The impact of these events could also
make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, on committees of our board of directors or as members of senior
management.
Failure to establish and maintain an effective system of internal controls could result in material misstatements of our financial statements or cause us to fail to meet our
reporting obligations or fail to prevent fraud in which case, our stockholders could lose confidence in our financial reporting, which would harm our business and could
negatively impact the price of our stock. Furthermore, our management and our independent auditors have identified certain internal control deficiencies, which
management and our independent auditors believe constitute material weaknesses.
Prior to the Acquisition, Memory MD, Inc. was a private company with limited accounting personnel and other resources with which to address our internal controls
and procedures. Following the Acquisition, we must review and update our internal controls, disclosure controls and procedures, and corporate governance policies as our
Company continues to evolve. In addition, in connection with the Acquisition and becoming a company that files reports with the SEC, we are required to comply with the
internal control evaluation and certification requirements of Section 404 of SOX and management is required to report annually on our internal control over financial reporting.
Our independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section
404 of SOX until the date we are no longer a “smaller reporting company” as defined by applicable SEC rules.
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Any ineffective internal control regarding our financial reporting could have an adverse effect on our business and financial results and the price of our common stock
could be negatively affected once we become a registrant required to file registration statements with the SEC. This reporting requirement could also make it more difficult or
more costly for us to obtain certain types of insurance, including director and officer liability insurance, and we may be forced to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or
incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. Any system of internal controls, however well designed and operated, is based in part on certain
assumptions and can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurances that the objectives of the system are met. Any failure or circumvention of the controls and procedures or
failure to comply with regulation concerning control and procedures could have a material effect on our business, results of operation and financial condition. Any of these
events could result in an adverse reaction in the financial marketplace due to a loss of investor confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, which ultimately could
negatively affect the market price of our shares, increase the volatility of our stock price and adversely affect our ability to raise additional funding. The effect of these events
could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors and as executive officers.
Our management’s evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting as of June 30, 2020 concluded that our controls were not effective,
due to material weaknesses resulting from:
●

Management did not maintain effective internal controls relating to the accounting closing and financial reporting process pertaining to certain stock transactions and
complicated convertible debt instruments;

●

The Company has insufficient internal personnel resources and technical accounting and reporting expertise within the Company’s financial closing and reporting
functions; and

●

Due to our small size, the Company did not maintain effective internal controls to assure proper segregation of duties as the same employee was responsible for initiating
and recording of transactions, thereby creating a segregation of duties weakness.

Management believes there is a reasonable possibility that these control deficiencies, if uncorrected, could result in material misstatements in the annual or interim
financial statements that would not be prevented or detected in a timely manner. Accordingly, we have determined that these control deficiencies constitute material
weaknesses. Although the Company is taking steps to remediate the material weaknesses, it currently has limited resources to do so and there can be no assurance that similar
incidents can be prevented in the future.
We will need to evaluate our existing internal controls over financial reporting against the criteria set forth in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) (the
“Framework”) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. During the course of our ongoing evaluation of the internal controls, we
may identify other areas requiring improvement, and may have to design enhanced processes and controls to address issues identified through this review. Remediating any
deficiencies, significant deficiencies or material weaknesses that we or our independent registered public accounting firm may identify may require us to incur significant costs
and expend significant time and management resources. We cannot assure you that any of the measures we implement to remedy any such deficiencies will effectively mitigate
or remedy such deficiencies. The existence of one or more material weaknesses could affect the accuracy and timing of our financial reporting. Investors could lose confidence
in our financial reports, and the value of our common stock may be harmed, if our internal controls over financial reporting are found not to be effective by management or by
an independent registered public accounting firm or if we make disclosure of existing or potential material weaknesses in those controls.
Even if we conclude that our internal control over financial reporting provides reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect fraud or misstatements. Failure to implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation, could
harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our future reporting obligations.
Our reporting obligations as a public company will place a significant strain on our management, operational and financial resources and systems for the foreseeable
future. If we fail to timely achieve and maintain the adequacy of our internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to produce reliable financial reports or help
prevent fraud. Our failure to achieve and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could prevent us from filing our periodic reports on a timely basis which
could result in the loss of investor confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, harm our business and negatively impact the trading price of our common stock.
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If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports, or publish unfavorable research or reports, about us, our business or our market, our stock price and
trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us and our business.
Securities or industry analysts may elect not to provide coverage of our common stock, and such lack of coverage may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
In the event we do not secure additional securities or industry analyst coverage, we will not have any control over the analysts or the content and opinions included in their
reports. The price of our stock could decline if one or more securities or industry analysts downgrade our stock or issue other unfavorable commentary or research. If one or
more securities or industry analysts ceases coverage of our company or fails to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our stock could decrease, which in turn could cause
our stock price or trading volume to decline.
We may be subject to unknown risks and liabilities which could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Before the Acquisition, MemoryMD conducted due diligence on, among other things, the business and financial conditions of All Soft Gels that it believed was
customary and appropriate for a transaction such as the Acquisition. However, the due diligence process may not have revealed all material liabilities of the Company then
existing or which may be asserted in the future against us relating to the Company’s activities before the consummation of the Acquisition. In addition, the agreement with the
Company contains representations with respect to the absence of any liabilities. However, there can be no assurance that the Company had no liabilities upon the closing of the
Acquisition. Any such liabilities of the Company that survive the Acquisition Transaction could harm our revenues, business, prospects, financial condition and results of
operations.
In addition, in connection with the Acquisition, the known liabilities existing in All Soft Gels at the time of the Acquisition were cancelled or paid by us, as required by
the Merger Agreement. Despite this requirement and the representations and warranties of All Soft Gels in the Merger Agreement, there may be unknown liabilities, or
liabilities that were known but believed to be immaterial, related to the business of All Soft Gels that may become material liabilities we are subject to in the future. If we are
subject to material liability as a result of the conduct of All Soft Gels, we may have limited recourse for such liabilities, which could have a material impact on our business and
stock price.
Future sales of substantial amounts of our common stock could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
We may choose to raise additional capital due to market conditions or strategic considerations even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current or future
operating plans. Furthermore, the holders of our outstanding convertible notes may exercise their conversion right to convert part or all of the outstanding convertible notes to
our common stock at prices that are at discount with the market price of our common stock pursuant to the respective terms of the various convertible promissory notes. If
additional capital is raised through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, additional shares of common stock are issued at discounted prices from the convertible
notes, or perceptions that those sales or conversion could occur, the issuance of these securities could result in further dilution to investors purchasing our common stock in this
offering or result in downward pressure on the price of our common stock, and our ability to raise capital in the future.
The warrants may not have any value.
Each warrant included in a Unit will have an exercise price of $2.25 per share and will expire on the third anniversary of the date it first becomes exercisable. In the
event our common stock price does not exceed the exercise price of the warrants during the period when the warrants are exercisable, the warrants may not have any value.
There will be no public market for the warrants to purchase shares of our common stock being offered in this offering.
Currently there is no established public trading market for the warrants being offered in this Offering, and we do not intend to develop a market for the warrants.
Holders of the warrants may not transfer or trade the warrants unless in compliance with one of the exceptions as set forth in the warrant agreement. Therefore, there is, nor will
there be, a trading market for the warrants offered hereby.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING STOCKHOLDER
The Company is offering a maximum of 1,111,111 Units on a “best efforts” basis. Each Unit consists of five (5) shares of common stock and a warrant to purchase one
(1) share of common stock at an exercise price of $2.25 per share. There is no minimum offering amount in this Offering.
The cash price is $9.00 per Unit which equates to $1.80 per share of common stock, included as part of the Unit. We will not issue fractional Units.
The Company intends to market the Units, consisting of common shares and warrants to purchase common shares, in this Offering both through online and offline
means. Online marketing may take the form of contacting potential investors through electronic media and posting our offering circular materials on an online investment
platform.
The Offering will terminate at the earliest of: (1) the date at which the Maximum Amount has been sold, (2) the date which is one hundred and eighty (180) days from
this Offering being qualified by the Commission, and (3) the date at which the Offering is earlier terminated by the Company in its sole discretion. Funds will be deposited into
a segregated account maintained at Novation Solutions Inc. (O/A DealMaker and hereinafter “DealMaker”), which will act as a funds collection agent for the offering.
Dealmaker is an online platform administering this Offering for the benefit of the Company. The Company will pay Dealmaker a fee of $10,000 for hosting the Offering
materials and be responsible for other expenses due to DealMaker, such as monthly subscription, transaction fees and tranche releases. A copy of the service agreement between
the Company and DealMaker is filed herein as Exhibit 6.2.
The Company may undertake one or more closings on an ongoing basis. After each closing, funds tendered by investors will be available to the Company when and if
the Company decides to accept the investors’ subscription for the Units. After the initial closing of this Offering, the Company expects to hold closings on at least a monthly
basis.
The Company is offering its securities in all states.
The Company has engaged Dalmore Group, LLC (“Dalmore”), a New York limited liability company and broker-dealer registered with the SEC and a member of
FINRA, to act as the broker-dealer of record in connection with this offering, but not for underwriting or placement agent services. Dalmore will:
●

Review investor information, including KYC (“Know Your Customer”) data, AML (“Anti Money Laundering”) and other compliance background checks, and provide a
recommendation to the company whether or not to accept investor as a customer.

●

Review each investor’s subscription agreement to confirm such investor’s participation in the offering, and provide a determination to the Company whether or not to
accept the use of the subscription agreement for the investor’s participation.

●

Contact and/or notify the Company, if needed, to gather additional information or clarification on an investor;

●

Not provide any investment advice nor any investment recommendations to any investor.

●

Keep investor details and data confidential and not disclose to any third-party except as required by regulators or pursuant to the terms of the agreement (e.g. as needed
for AML and background checks).

●

Coordinate with third party providers to ensure adequate review and compliance.

As compensation for the services listed above, the Company has agreed to pay Dalmore $5,000 as a one-time set up fee, plus a commission equal to 1% of the amount
raised in the offering to support the offering. In addition, the Company has agreed to engage Dalmore as a consultant to provide ongoing general consulting services relating to
the Offering, such as coordination with third party vendors and general guidance with respect to the Offering. The Company will pay a one-time consulting fee of $20,000,
which will be due and payable within 30 days after FINRA issues a no-objection letter and the Company receives the SEC Qualification. Assuming that the Maximum Offering
Amount is sold, the Company estimates that the total fees the Company will pay to Dalmore will be approximately $125,000.
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TAX CONSEQUENCES FOR RECIPIENT (INCLUDING FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL AND FOREIGN INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES) WITH RESPECT TO THE
INVESTMENT BENEFIT PACKAGES ARE THE SOLE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE INVESTOR. INVESTORS MUST CONSULT WITH THEIR OWN PERSONAL
ACCOUNTANT(S) AND/OR TAX ADVISOR(S) REGARDING THESE MATTERS.
The Online Platform
The Company has engaged DealMaker to host and administer the Offering of the Units on its online platform. DealMaker will act as a funds collection agent for the
Offering. DealMaker will not directly solicit or communicate with investors with respect to offerings posted on its site, although it does advertise the existence of its platform,
which may include identifying issuers listed on the platform. Our offering circular will be furnished to prospective investors in this offering via download 24 hours a day, 7 days
a week on a designated website.
Process of Subscribing
You will be required to complete a subscription agreement in order to invest. The subscription agreement includes a representation by the investor to the effect that, if
you are not an “accredited investor” as defined under securities law, you are investing an amount that does not exceed the greater of 10% of your annual income or 10% of your
net worth (excluding your principal residence).
If you decide to subscribe for the Units in this Offering, you should complete the following steps:
1.

Go to a designated website, and click on the “Offering Circular” button;

2.

After reviewing the Offering Circular, click on the “Invest Now” button;

3.

Complete the online investment form;

4.

Electronically receive, review, execute and deliver to us a subscription agreement.

5.

Deliver funds directly by check, wire, credit card, debit card, or electronic funds transfer via ACH to the specified account; and

6.

Once funds or documentation are received an automated AML check will be performed to verify the identity and status of the investor.

Any potential investor will have ample time to review the subscription agreement, along with their counsel, prior to making any final investment decision. Dalmore
will review all subscription agreements completed by the investor. After Dalmore has completed its review of a subscription agreement for an investment in the Company, the
funds may be released from the designated account, provided that the Company has accepted the investment.
If the subscription agreement is not complete or there is other missing or incomplete information, the funds will not be released until the investor provides all required
information. Dalmore will generally review all subscription agreements on the same day, but not later than the day after the submission of the subscription agreement.
All funds tendered (by check, wire, credit card, debit card, or electronic funds transfer via ACH to the specified account) by investors will be deposited into a
segregated account at DealMaker for the benefit of the Company. The Company has engaged DealMaker to act as a funds collection agent for receipt of funds from investors for
this Offering. There is no minimum to disburse funds from the segregated account at DealMaker and the Company will maintain a discretionary schedule for release into its
operating accounts. All funds received by wire transfer will be made available immediately while funds transferred by ACH will be restricted for a minimum of three days to
clear the banking system prior to deposit into the designated account.
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The Company maintains the right to accept or reject subscriptions in whole or in part, for any reason or for no reason, including, but not limited to, in the event that an
investor fails to provide all necessary information, even after further requests from the Company, in the event an investor fails to provide requested follow up information to
complete background checks or fails background checks, and in the event the Company receives oversubscriptions in excess of the maximum offering amount.
In the interest of allowing interested investors as much time as possible to complete the paperwork associated with a subscription, the Company has not set a maximum
period of time to decide whether to accept or reject a subscription. If a subscription is rejected, funds will not be accepted by wire transfer or ACH, and payments made by debit
card, credit card or check will be returned to subscribers within 30 days of such rejection without deduction or interest. Upon acceptance of a subscription, the Company will
send a confirmation of such acceptance to the subscriber.
Dalmore has not investigated the desirability or advisability of investment in the shares nor approved, endorsed or passed upon the merits of purchasing the Units.
Dalmore is not participating as an underwriter and under no circumstance will it solicit any investment in the company, recommend the Company’s securities or provide
investment advice to any prospective investor, or make any securities recommendations to investors. Dalmore is not distributing any offering circulars or making any oral
representations concerning this offering circular or this offering. Based upon Dalmore’s anticipated limited role in this offering, it has not and will not conduct extensive due
diligence of this offering and no investor should rely on the involvement of Dalmore in this offering as any basis for a belief that it has done extensive due diligence. Dalmore
does not expressly or impliedly affirm the completeness or accuracy of the offering statement and/or offering circular presented to investors by the Company. All inquiries
regarding this offering should be made directly to the Company.
Upon confirmation that an investor’s funds have cleared, the Company will instruct the Transfer Agent to issue shares to the investor. The Transfer Agent will notify an
investor when shares are ready to be issued and the Transfer Agent has set up an account for the investor.
Transfer Agent
The Company intends to engage VStock Transfer, LLC, a registered transfer agent with the SEC (the “Transfer Agent”), who will serve as transfer agent to maintain
shareholder information on a book-entry basis; there are no set up costs for this service, fees for this service will be limited to secondary market activity. The Company uses
VStock Transfer, LLC as its regular transfer agent. The Company estimates the aggregate fee due to the transfer agent for the above services to be $45,000 annually.
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USE OF PROCEEDS
We intend to use the net proceeds from this offering for general corporate purposes, including working capital. Additional specific uses include:

$
$
$

Total fees and expenses (estimated)
Estimated net proceeds
Specific use
Sales and business development
Marketing
IP (Patents) and legal services
General administration
Working capital
Long term product roll-out monitor
Tele-neurology cloud
Marketing for tele-neurology
Normative database for artificial intelligence (“AI”)
AI prediction technology
E-Tatto, graphene electrodes development
Marketing and business development AI

$
$
$
$
$
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Gross Proceeds Raised in this Offering
2,500,000 $
5,000,000 $
10,000,000
152,000 $
177,000 $
227,000
2,348,000 $
4,823,000 $
9,773,000
700,000
500,000
100,000
500,000
548,000
-

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

700,000
500,000
100,000
500,000
523,000
800,000
800,000
900,000
-

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

700,000
500,000
100,000
500,000
473,000
800,000
800,000
900,000
1,500,000
1,500,000
1,200,000
800,000

No proceeds will be used to compensate, make loans, or otherwise make payments to officers or directors of the issuer or any of its subsidiaries. However, we reserve
our discretion to use certain portion of the offering proceeds to retire some of the Company’s existing debts. As of the date of this circular, we plan to use part of the net
proceeds to retire the following debts: 1) On September 1, 2020, we issued and sold to Diamond Investment Group II LLC (“Diamond Investment II”), a convertible
redeemable note in the original principal amount of $157,500 (the “Diamond Investment II Note”), which bears an interest rate of 8% per annum and shall be payable along
with the principal amount on September 1, 2021. 2) On December 31, 2019, we issued and sold to Vista Capital Investments, LLC (“Vista Capital”) a 8% convertible note in
the original principal amount of $275,000 (the “Vista Note”), and a warrant to purchase 100,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. On August 5, 2020, Vista Capital and
the Company amended the Vista Note, which shall be payable with 8% annual interest rate and the increased principal amount of $302,500 on October 31, 2020, ten months
from December 31, 2019. On October 29, 2020, we entered into an Allonge #2 to the Vista Note (the “Allonge #2”), pursuant to which the maturity date of the Vista Note was
extended to thirteen months from December 31, 2019, the principal amount of the Vista Note was increased by an additional 10% to $332,750 and the Company issued 50,000
shares of its Common Stock to Vista Capital as consideration for the extension of the maturity date of the Note. 3) On September 22, 2020, we issued and sold to Auctus Fund,
LLC (“Auctus”), a convertible promissory note in the original aggregate principal amount of $600,000 (the “Auctus Note”), which bears an interest rate of 12% per annum and
shall mature on September 22, 2021 (the “Auctus Note Maturity Date”). Pursuant to the terms of the Auctus Note, we shall include a full year of interest in the principal amount
of the Note payable on the Auctus Note Maturity Date regardless of any prepayments and the payments for the original aggregate principal amount shall be made in six (6)
installments each in the amount of US$100,000.00 commencing one hundred and eighty (180) days following September 22, 2020 and continuing thereafter each thirty (30)
days for five (5) months. The final payment of the principal amount and accrued and unpaid interest shall be due on the Auctus Note Maturity Date. On September 22, 2020, we
received $100,000 in the principal amount of the Auctus Note and on October 19, 2020 receive $420,000 from Auctus with the issuance of $500,000 in the principal amount of
the Auctus Note.
We used and are using the proceeds from the Diamond Investment II Note, Vista Note and Auctus Note in the following areas of our operations:
-

Filing of two new FDA submissions for the new pediatric design of the NeuroCap and emergency use of the NeuroCap,

-

Preparing and executing the clinical trial for comparing NeuroCap to existing EEG caps,

-

Moving part of the manufacturing to the U.S.,

-

Expanding our office, research and development facility and warehouse,

-

Hired two more executives in marketing, strategy and business development,

-

Manufacturing a new version of NeuroCap,

-

Hired a public relation agency, an investor relationship agency, and software development companies in preparation for this offering,

-

Preparing to file new patents for our reusable, dry electrodes cap for long term monitor,

-

Participated in the Epilepsy Foundation Shark Tank, and

-

Participated in the Epilepsy Foundation conference in 2020.

As of the date of this offering circular, we cannot specify with certainty all of the particular uses of the proceeds from this offering. Pending the use of the net proceeds
from this offering as described above, we intend to invest the net proceeds in investment-grade, interest-bearing instruments.
The use of the proceeds represents management’s estimates based upon current business and economic conditions. We reserve the right to use of the net proceeds we
receive in the offering in any manner we consider to be appropriate. Although we do not contemplate changes in the proposed use of proceeds, to the extent we find that
adjustment is required for other uses by reason of existing business conditions, the use of proceeds may be adjusted.
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DILUTION
As of the date of this Offering Statement, an aggregate of 19,478,258 shares of Common Stock are issued and outstanding.
If you purchase Units in this Offering, your ownership interest in our Common Stock will be diluted immediately, to the extent of the difference between the offering
price for each Unit in this Offering and the net tangible book value per share of our Common Stock after this Offering.
Our net tangible book value as of June 30, 2020 was negative $3,619,672, or negative $0.19 per share, based on 19,478,258 shares of Common Stock outstanding. Net
tangible book value per share equals the amount of our total tangible assets less total liabilities, divided by the total number of shares of common stock outstanding, all as of the
date specified.
If the Maximum Offering Amount, at an offering price of $9.00 per Unit or $1.80 per share of Common Stock, is sold in this Offering, after deducting approximately
$227,000 at most in offering expenses payable by us, our pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value at June 30, 2020 would be approximately $6,153,328, or $0.25 per
share. This amount represents an immediate increase in pro forma net tangible book value of $0.44 per share to our existing shareholders as of the date of this Offering Circular,
and an immediate dilution in pro forma net tangible book value of approximately $1.55 per share to new investors purchasing Units consisting of five Shares and a warrant in
this Offering at a price of $9.00 per Unit or $1.80 per share of Common Stock.
The following table illustrates the approximate per share dilution to new investors discussed above, assuming the sale of, respectively, 100%, 50% and 25% of the
Units offered for sale in this Offering (after deducting our estimated offering expenses in various scenarios):
Funding Level
Net proceeds (after deducting the estimated offering expenses)

$
$

10,000,000
9,773,000

$
$

5,000,000
4,823,000

$
$

2,500,000
2,348,000

Offering price per Unit

$

9.00

$

9.00

$

9.00

Pro forma net tangible book value per share before the Offering

$

(0.19)

$

(0.19)

$

(0.19)

Increase per share attributable to investment in this Offering

$

0.44

$

0.24

$

0.13

Pro forma net tangible book value per share after the Offering

$

0.25

$

0.05

$

(0.06)

Dilution to investors after the Offering

$

1.55

$

1.75

$

1.86

The following tables set forth, assuming the sale of, respectively, 100%, 50% and 25% of the Units offered for sale in this Offering, the total number of shares
previously sold to existing shareholders during the twelve months prior to the date of this Circular, including shares issued for services, the total consideration paid for the
foregoing (based on cash actually received and the value of shares issued for services), and the respective percentages applicable to such purchased shares and consideration
paid based on an average price of $0.62 per share paid by our existing shareholders or as the value of shares issued for services and $9.00 per Unit paid by investors in this
Offering.
Units Purchased
Number
Percentage
Assuming 100% of Units Sold:
Existing Shareholders
New Investors
Total

245,966
5,555,556
5,801,522

4% $
96% $
100 % $

Units Purchased
Number
Percentage
Assuming 50% of Units Sold:
Existing Shareholders
New Investors
Total

245,966
2,777,778
3,023,744

8% $
92% $
100 % $

Units Purchased
Number
Percentage
Assuming 25% of Units Sold:
Existing Shareholders
New Investors
Total

245,966
1,388,889
1,634,855

15% $
85% $
100 % $

Total Consideration
Amount
Percentage
153,063
10,000,000
10,153,063

2%
98%
100 %

Total Consideration
Amount
Percentage
153,063
5,000,000
5,153,063

3%
97%
100 %

Total Consideration
Amount
Percentage
153,063
2,500,000
2,653,063

6%
94%
100 %

The foregoing tables and calculations exclude a maximum of 1,111,111 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Warrants as part of the Units, which are
exercisable at an exercise price of $2.25 per share.
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OUR BUSINESS
Overview
We are a neurodiagnostic and predictive technology platform company seeking to provide a centralized platform for data acquisition and analysis of
electroencephalography (“EEG”) data that combines innovative medical device technologies with cloud-based telehealth services. The Company is primarily focused on
establishing diagnostic protocols through the use of its Products to identify pathological risk factors involving the brain, and driving novel insights into cognitive health that
support early treatment of neurological disorders.
We believe our approach is unique in utilizing medical, consumer and hybrid technologies to create the value chain to ultimate
health:
●

linking analysis to business/health outcomes through benefits mapping;

●

investing in advanced analytics, starting with the assumption that advanced information will result in predictive analytics for the integral body;

●

validating the organization’s maturity against multiple complementary models;

●

ensuring there is sufficient trust in the data and analysis to change pre-existing beliefs; and

●

balancing analytic insight with the ability of an organization to make and optimally utilize the information (coupling man + machine learning) while prioritizing
incremental improvements over integral body transformation.

The Company is initially targeting brain data acquisition via the EEG medical market because it offers high revenue potential due to the established healthy base of
customer users with a broad demographic profile. Our technology solution combines a miniature, wireless, clinical device capable of recording electroencephalograms (EEG)
that is fast, portable, and easy-to-use with the capability to integrate an interpretive cloud-based platform allowing for rapid and remote interpretation. The NeuroEEG™
Hardware Platform for data collection and NeuroCap™ Software-like Consumables for data collection is expected to enjoy healthy margins and a business-to-business (B2B)
direct market opportunity with hospitals, neurologist, general practitioners as well as the various tele health and tele neurology companies.
This brain monitoring system is designed for use in physicians’ offices, sports fields, wellness centers and anywhere else that benefits from rapid EEG testing.
Recent Events
COVID-19 Pandemic
With the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, we are promoting the use of sanitary medical practice with the NeuroCap, which we believe promotes the use of good,
sanitary medical practice and can help flatten the COVID-19 curve.
A recent report from three COVID-19-designated hospitals in Wuhan, China indicated that more than one-third of coronavirus patients had some type of neurologic
symptom, including altered consciousness, evidence of skeletal muscle damage, and acute cerebrovascular disease. Early data implies that COVID-19, like prior coronavirus
breakouts MERS and SARS, is demonstrating a neurologic component in severe cases.
As hospitals and other first responders to the pandemic around the world increase their purchases of supplies to fight the virus, and the U.S. government has passed a
$2 trillion aid package to prop up the country’s economy and assist in fighting the virus, we are working to position our NeuroCap as a safe and effective diagnostic tool to help
against the COVID-19 virus.
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Information in this circular is based on available information from prior to the pandemic. We have not yet been able to evaluate how the pandemic has or may
continue to affect our business and operations, including the potential markets for our Products.
In 2019, we commenced acting as a distributor of third-party medical devices in Russia (including those purchased from a company affiliated with one of our officers
and directors), which resulted in all of our revenue for 2019. While we intend to continue the sale of third party medical devices, we do not intend for it to be our primary source
of revenue in the long-term and expect to curtail or cease this line of operations as, if and when we commence generating material, recurring revenues from our Products, of
which we can give no assurance. We also can give no assurance that any revenue we generate from so acting as a distributor of third-party medical devices will continue, will
continue to be material or will be sufficient to enable us to continue our operations. We have no supply or distribution agreements in place with respect to such business. In the
event that we see an opportunity to sell such products, we procure them and then re-sell them.
History
We were initially organized on November 18, 2013 as a Nevada limited liability company under the name Global Energy Express LLC by the filing of articles of
organization with the Secretary of State of the State of Nevada. On December 18, 2015, the Company converted from a Nevada limited liability company under the name
Global Energy Express LLC to a Nevada corporation under the name All Soft Gels Inc. by the filing of articles of conversion and articles of incorporation with the Secretary of
State of the State of Nevada. On September 18, 2018, the Company changed its name from All Soft Gels Inc. to Brain Scientific Inc. and changed its ticker symbol on the OTC
Market to “BRSF”.
On September 21, 2018, we entered into a merger agreement (the “Merger Agreement”) with MemoryMD, Inc. and AFGG Acquisition Corp. to acquire MemoryMD,
Inc. (the “Acquisition”). The transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement were consummated on September 21, 2018 and, pursuant to the terms of the Merger
Agreement, all outstanding shares of MemoryMD were exchanged for shares of our common stock. Accordingly, we acquired 100% of Memory MD, Inc. in exchange for the
issuance of shares of our common stock and MemoryMD, Inc. became our wholly-owned subsidiary. Furthermore, the Company at such time ceased all operations and
assigned all of its assets and liabilities from prior to the Acquisition, and assumed and commenced the business of MemoryMD as the sole business of the Company.
Our principal executive office is located at 205 East 42nd Street, 14th Floor, New York, New York 10017, and our telephone number is (646) 388-3788. Our website
address is www.brainscientific.com. The information on our website is not part of this circular.
Introduction to Data Acquisition using Electroencephalography (EEG)
Electroencephalography, or EEG, is a method to identify and evaluate the electrical activity of the brain. The ability to do this dates back to the mid-to-late 19th
century when scientists began to study the brain activity of various animals such as rabbits, dogs, and monkeys. The 1920’s saw the first example of these involving humans,
when in 1924 German physiologist and psychiatrist Hans Berger recorded the first human EEG.
One of the first discoveries was the EEG’s ability to identify the potential for epileptic seizures. As science and scientists began to understand the workings of the EEG,
they could identify more beneficial applications of the technology working in combination with other tests. These include:
●

Testing brain activity after a stroke

●

Dementia, including Alzheimer’s Disease

●

Depression

●

Migraine

●

Traumatic Head Injury (sports and non-sports related)

●

Sleep Disorders (e.g. Insomnia, Restless Leg Syndrome, Narcolepsy)

●

Epilepsy
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The EEG may also be used to determine the electrical activity of the brain of an individual involved in a trauma, addiction, as well as the brain activity of comatose
individuals.
It is here in the advancement of technology where we believe our products and technology will play a key role in the use and development of EEG related activities.
Product and Services Pipeline
Our data acquisition platform is composed of three main parts:
1.

Hardware - NeuroEEG™ and NeuroCap™, our two products on the market.

2.

Software - interpreted by remote technicians for rapid response time.

3.

NeuroNet Cloud - The database where brain data can be stored and analyzed.

NeuroEEG
NeuroEEG™ is an FDA cleared 16 channel, portable, cloud-enabled data acquisition platform for electroencephalogram (EEG) activity. This wireless system digitizes
and records electrophysiological activity at 500Hz, and is further supported by advanced artifact filtering allowing for the cleanest signal possible. The intuitive nature of the
device democratizes EEG as a viable diagnostic tool that can be implemented across environments that were formerly inaccessible by traditional EEG solutions. NeuroEEG™
is designed for use in mobile (ambulatory care & emergency medical service vehicles), field applications (clinical trials), as well as hospital and athletic environments.
NeuroEEG™ is non-invasive and is intended to acquire, display and store the electrical activity of a patient’s brain on a computer (PC or laptop). The generated data
serves as a clinical assessment aid within a clinical practice, rehabilitation institution, diagnostic center, neurosurgical clinics, operating room, intensive care unit, and
emergency room environments. Data acquired by NeuroEEG™ is to be analyzed under the direction and interpretation of a licensed medical professional. This device does not
provide any diagnostic conclusion about a subject’s condition. The NeuroEEG is designed to be used with our NeuroCap but can also work with other existing brands and
models of caps or with no cap at all.
The Company commenced delivery of its first purchase order of this product in the fourth quarter of 2018, although it has not had any further material orders to date.
NeuroCap
The NeuroCap™ is an FDA cleared disposable, soft layered cap with an integrated electrode circuit that is designed to address existing problems of conventional EEG
systems. The silver embedded wiring is pre-gelled, so it requires no prepping of the skin before application. NeuroCap™ makes it possible for medical staff of all levels to
perform EEG tests, without having to laboriously apply electrodes one-by-one or spend considerable time cleaning an EEG headset after each use.
The NeuroCap™ works in parallel with the NeuroEEG™ amplifier device to successfully carry out EEG tests. However, the NeuroCap™ can work also with other
existing EEG devices and not just our NeuroEEG. NeuroCap’s electrode placement follow standard alignment pursuant to the international 10-20 system. The acquisition of
electrical brain activity is carried out by non-invasive pre-gelled passive Ag/AgCl scalp (cutaneous) electrodes, ensuring maximum comfortability for the wearer.
We received our first purchaser order for the NeuroCap from a distributor of medical supplies for testing purposes and commenced shipping product in the fourth
quarter of 2018 to several hospitals and other customers, although we have not had any further material orders to date.
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NeuroNet Cloud
Our NeuroNet Cloud infrastructure is being designed to provide for a robust platform to store and manage all forms of data that may be received from internal and
external entities such as EHRs/EMRs, IOT devices and 3rd party apps, clinical applications and other forms of patient data. The NeuroNet Cloud is also being designed to
provide for streamlined connectivity, allowing secured access to patient data for purposes of evaluation and reporting by outside clinical specialists, such as a neurologists. The
NeuroNet Cloud platform is being designed to be able to process data from the NeuroEEG and NeuroCar products, as well as other existing EEG systems.
The Company is also developing a HIPAA-compliant data storage and patient management cloud infrastructure to provide teleneurology services. The infrastructure is
being designed so neurologists will be able to remotely access patient EEG and clinical data to evaluate patient conditions. We believe that such an infrastructure removes the
need for direct contact with the patient, opening up underserved geographic locations with an undersupply of physicians to meet growing demand for neurological care as aging
patient populations continues to grow.
Data is acquired via the 16 channel NeuroCap™ and would be wirelessly transmitted to the cloud, via the NeuroEEG™, as batch data (fully transferred before being
consumed) or in real-time (data is consumed as it is being produced). It is also being designed to process information from other EEG systems.
Data can then be consumed by a doctor or specialist who can recover the data, replay, and provide feedback, such as a report, on the selected patient data. This
infrastructure is configurable to match unique workflows of healthcare operators.
As designed, the MemoryMD™ cloud would then be able to cross-reference multiple points-of-data:
●

Medical Images

●

Lab Results

●

Genetic testing

●

Behavior data

●

Sensor data

●

Electronic Health Records

●

3rd party applications
We expect to have a fully working model of the NeuroNet Cloud by the end of 2020, subject to the availability of funds as it is not our priority product.

Artificial Intelligence Infrastructure
Our infrastructure is also being designed to gather and mine brain-imaging data. Clinicians and researchers would be able to access data profiles of their patients and
generate risk assessment and treatment plans to address neurological conditions. This data could also be useful in establishing correlations between a myriad of brain scans,
allowing us to further understand connections about the brain that have not been discovered.
Artificial intelligence infrastructure in the Company cloud refers to all modules used to perform automatic analysis of patient data. This infrastructure can receive
inputs from many different sources such as medical databases, normative data sets, and other patient health information. By using machine-learning algorithms, the system is
being designed to improve accuracy, providing for more advanced diagnostics as additional brain images are acquired.
The infrastructure is being designed to combine neural networks with a state-of-the-art tree search and pattern classification systems to build robust neurological health
profiles of patient brain scans. These models are expected to be self-learning, so the more data supplied to it, to more “educated” it is expected to be.
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We believe we will achieve better patient outcomes at a reduced cost through robust modelling and correlational analysis of brain imaging and other biometric data.
Significant patterns recognized by the system are designed to help medical professionals detect nuances in an individual brain, allowing them to tailor more personalized
treatment plans for their patients. The MemoryMD™ cloud is being designed to handle millions of brain images to create robust models that correlate health records, behaviors,
and other neurological factors.
Intellectual Property
Protection of our intellectual property is a strategic priority for our business. We rely on a combination of patents, trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets as well as
nondisclosure and assignment of invention agreements, material transfer agreements, confidentiality agreements and other measures to protect our intellectual property and
other proprietary rights.
Patents and trademarks are significant to our business to the extent that a Product or an attribute of a Product represents a unique design or process. Patent protection
restricts competitors from duplicating unique designs and features. To protect our proprietary secrets and competitive technologies, we have obtained and are seeking to further
obtain patent, trade secret, trademark and other intellectual property protection on our Products whenever appropriate. As of the date of this circular, the Company has applied
for one U.S. nonprovisional patent titled “Apparatus And Method For Conducting Electroencephalography” (Application No.: 15/898,611), one Chinese patent titled
“Apparatus and Method for Conducting Electroencephalography” (Application No.: 201880002338.7), and one European patent titled “Apparatus And Method For Conducting
Electroencephalography” (Application No.: 18757492.6), all of which relate to our NeuroCap Product. All of which, are pending and if approved would expire in 2037.
We also own two registered trademarks (Neuro EEG and NeuroCap) and have pending applications for two additional trademark registrations (Brain Scientific and
Memory MD).
In May 2018, we entered into a Patent Assignment and License Back Agreement with Boris Goldstein, our Chairman, Secretary and Executive Vice President, Dmitriy
Prilutskiy, Stanislav Zabodaev and Medical Computer Systems Ltd. Pursuant to the agreement, among other things, Messrs. Goldstein, Prilutskiy and Zabodaev assigned all of
their rights to a patent entitled “Apparatus And Method For Conducting Electroencephalography” (Application No.: 15/898,611), to our Company, and in return, we granted to
Medical Computer Systems Ltd., an unaffiliated entity who also provides manufacturing services to us, a limited, royalty-free, fully paid-up, worldwide, nonexclusive license
(without the right to sublicense or assign), to the patent, to practice, make and use the inventions, ideas and information embodied therein, and to make, use, offer to sell, sell,
lease or import products, services, processes, methods and materials embodying or deriving from the inventions, ideas and information from the patent and any activities
derived directly therefrom; provided, however, that if and upon FDA approval of a Product, Medical Computer Systems’ aforementioned rights shall be limited to
manufacturing and sales solely to our Company or on our behalf provided that we purchase from Medical Computer Systems (and Medical Computer Systems makes available
for sale) a minimum of 20,000 units of Products per calendar year on reasonable terms and conditions to be determined by the parties in good faith; provided further, however,
that Medical Computer Systems can without any limitation sell products embodying or deriving from the inventions, ideas and information from the patent in (i) the territories
that made up the former USSR (excluding the Baltic countries) and (ii) Japan. In furtherance of the foregoing first proviso, in the event we fail to purchase the annual minimum
order for a particular calendar year, Medical Computer Systems’ limitation to manufacture and sell Products only to our Company pursuant to this proviso shall be suspended
for the next calendar year.
Industry Overview
The Company competes within the domestic and global medical device industry, referred to as the “MedTech” industry, which industry, on a global scale, is expected
to reach an estimated $432.6 billion by 2025, and it is forecast to grow at a CAGR of 4.1% from 2020 to 2025.
The MedTech industry is characterized by rapid change resulting from technological advances and scientific discoveries. We believe that U.S. medical device
companies are highly regarded on a global scale for their innovations and high-technology products, which innovations and products are produced due to a significant
investment in research and development. U.S. sales are expected to grow from about $164 billion in 2018 to $208 billion in 2023, according to Fitch.
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The global brain monitoring market is expected to reach $11.6 billion by 2024 from $8.7 billion in 2019, at a CAGR of 6.1% during the forecast period. We believe the
increasing incidence and prevalence of neurological disorders, rising awareness about neurodegenerative disorders, growing incidence of traumatic brain injuries, and the
increasing applications of brain monitoring in clinical trials are driving the growth of this market. In addition, of this global market, the traumatic brain injury diagnostic market
size was estimated at approximately $38 million and it is expected to reach approximately $166 million by the end of 2025, with a CAGR of 23.6%.
Traumatic brain injury holds the largest share of the brain monitoring market, by disease type. Some of the major factors responsible for the large share of this market
include the growing incidence of TBIs across the globe, leading to the high demand for the management of these cases—which we believe requires the intensive use of brain
monitoring devices.
We believe the hospitals segment has accounted for the largest share of the brain monitoring market in 2019. Brain monitoring is a complex process, requiring
expensive and advanced devices and equipment that are mainly found only in hospitals. Hospitals also see a considerably larger inflow of patients as compared to small clinics
and other end users. Additionally, brain monitoring devices pose a considerable burden in terms of maintenance expenses on healthcare facilities; we believe that in general
hospitals, more than other end users, are able to bear such costs. Hence, brain monitoring devices are mostly used in hospitals, which consequently account for the largest
market share.
U.S. Healthcare Market
The National Health Expenditure Accounts (NHEA) are the official estimates of total health care spending in the United States. U.S. health care spending grew 4.6
percent in 2018, reaching $3.6 trillion or $11,172 per person. As a share of the nation’s Gross Domestic Product, health spending accounted for 17.7%.
Digital health innovations are driving growth and opportunity in three major verticals of healthcare:
●

Remote Patient Monitoring. Devices and applications that allow care providers to keep tabs on chronically ill, recently released, and overall “high-risk” patients (also
referred to as remote patient management, or RPM). Wearable patches that diagnose heart conditions, sensors that monitor asthma medication intake, and glucose
monitors that send diabetics’ data straight to their smartphones are just a few examples.

●

Telehealth. Doctor access and advice, from outside the confines of an office visit. It could be mental health counselling from across the country, diagnosis and
prescription writing in pediatrics without taking a sick child to the office, alternatives to primary care physician visits, and other, similar events.

●

Behavior Modification. Platforms that help patients change their habits and adopt healthier lifestyles, with the primary aim of preventing illness and a clinically validated
methodology of doing so. That includes smoking cessation tools and diabetes prevention through digital weight loss and coaching, among other technologies.

Athletic Performance Market
Athletic performance encompasses the treatment and prevention of injuries related to athletics and exercise.
The growth of this market can be attributed to increased participation in athletic activities, thus leading to an increased risk of injuries. Also, government support for
participation in athletics to combat high obesity rates is expected to boost participation in athletics.
Our business plan includes positioning our products and services as a go-to choice in diagnostic tools for brain-related sports injuries. The EEG with cortical brain
maps is highly capable of identifying post-concussion syndrome. Concussions and traumatic brain injuries caused by contact sports are a growing widespread issue among
athletes. The Center for Disease Control and Prevention has reported that 1.6 million to 3.8 million concussions occur each year.
If left undetected, concussions can lead to long-term brain damage and may even be fatal. Without professional doctors to survey the true damage of the head impact,
athletes often ignore head impacts and later suffer from the consequences. Since an estimated 90% of diagnosed concussions do not include a loss of consciousness, many head
impact injuries are dismissed. To prevent these outcomes, it is critical that coaches and players are aware of the dangers of contact sports and are able to conduct a proper
concussion evaluation. The growing number of sports related brain injuries suggests that there is an unmet demand for a quick assessment and delivery of brain damage, which
we believe our products and services can provide.
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Government Initiatives – Pre COVID 19 Pandemic
Although the Covid-19 pandemic has abruptly changed the world, which we hope is temporary, prior to the outbreak, there was a surge of regional tensions and
national security threats and many countries, including the United States, were increasing defense budgets. Also, prior to the pandemic, we expected that stable growth in global
GDP, lower commodity prices, and an increase in travel demand could lead to more defense spending as well as investing in next generation military equipment and technology
to combat terrorism and cyber-threats. While many of those expectations and paradigms have now changed, we expect that they will return as the pandemic is contained and the
world economy rebounds.
The Defense Advanced Research Project Agency supports the Brain Initiative, which is a program designed to revolutionize the understanding of the human brain to
find new ways to treat, cure, and prevent brain disorders. We believe our product and service offerings can be an asset in providing millions of brain scans that allow for
research and analysis. In addition to the Brain Initiative and other Government sponsored research and grants, our scalable, easy to use EEG can serve the military and can be
deployed in the field for either proactive brain monitoring or reactive emergency response.
Education Enhancement
Global education and training expenditures are estimated to reach approximately $10 trillion by 2030 as population growth and technology in developing markets is
expected to fuel a massive expansion in education, and training.
The growth in the market is due to an increase in the attendance of students, the promotion of online learning, a rise in tuition costs, an escalation of graduation rates,
and an expansion of scientific research. Parents are willing to spend on education for their children and government initiated awareness programs promote the importance of
education. The US is one of the most efficient, and therefore desired, destinations for educational purposes. In the United States, higher growth opportunity and better career
prospects reinforce the need for education and research.
Since analysis of EEGs are useful in recognizing cognitive differences, the brain scans of the up-to 50 million potential customers in this space can be a stepping stone
for further research. Furthermore, the cognitive measurements of EEGs are useful in assessing the effectiveness of an educational program. Conclusions drawn from the
analysis can then be further applied in the classroom in the future. The goal of selling to the education market is to have the opportunity to measure baseline EEGs of students.
The baseline EEGs can serve in multiple studies, including those that evaluate the best methods of teaching and learning in the classroom. Some additional uses of EEGs within
the education market include research and analysis into the brain images of students with learning disabilities.
Clinical Trials
The global healthcare contract research organization market size is expected to reach approximately $62.1 billion by 2027, registering a CAGR of 6.6% over the same
period, primarily resulting from the increasing cost of drug development. Rising cost of clinical trials and challenges pertaining to patient recruitment have led
biopharmaceutical companies to turn to regions like Central and Eastern Europe, Asia Pacific, Latin America, and Middle East for cost savings and quick patient recruitment.
Clinical trials assess the safety and efficacy of a new drug, therapy, surgical procedure, medical device, or other intervention and are essential tools in conducting
research. When used in clinical trials, we expect our products and services will give a fast and accurate analysis that may speed the clinical trial process. Moreover, clinical
imaging is the technique and process of capturing images of the human body for clinical purposes to reveal, diagnose or examine diseases. Our EEG is a clinical imaging tool
that can acquire millions of clinical images stored on a cloud infrastructure. A vast number of clinical images can assist in revealing, diagnosing, and examining neurological
conditions.
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The Global Telemedicine Market/Industry
In addition to the MedTech industry, we are also seeking to participate within the rapidly expanding global telemedicine industry/market. This industry focuses on the
delivery of healthcare services, consultations and advice to patients wherever they are through the means of technology, software mediated video and data portals. We believe
that there is and will continue to be significant demand for such services given the need to match physicians with patients in remote areas or without having patients travel long
distances to access the care they need. We also believe that there is a major need within this industry to also provide point of care diagnostic, which we are seeking to develop as
a niche, especially within neurology.
The global telemedicine market was estimated at approximately $31.5 billion in 2018 and is expected to grow at a CAGR of 19.28% by 2025.
Factors, such as rising emergency medical incidents and ageing world population, are anticipated to drive such growth. North America is anticipated to account for a
significant portion of market share, and the U.S. is expected to be the largest telemedicine market in North America over this period. The Europe telemedicine market is also
expected to grow substantially, due to factors such as rising cost of healthcare and rising prevalence of chronic diseases, while Asia-Pacific is projected to record the fastest
growth over such period.
Market Dynamics
Driver: Growing incidence of traumatic brain injuries
A traumatic brain injury (“TBI”) is non-degenerative, non-congenital damage to the brain from an external mechanical force, possibly leading to permanent or
temporary impairment. TBI is a major public health concern, and the most common cause of death and disability in developed as well as developing countries.
According to the CDC, TBI is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality, responsible for approximately 2.8 million accidents and emergency department visits
annually in the U.S. and approximately 1 million in the UK. It is one of the most common causes of mortality in people aged under 25, and its incidence is high in adults and
very young children, as well. However, the rate of TBI-related hospitalizations and deaths is the highest in the elderly. According to Headway, in 2016–2017, there were
348,453 hospital admissions related to brain injuries in the UK.
TBI, if ignored, can lead to permanent disabilities or death. Close monitoring and immediate therapy for related abnormalities are crucial to reducing the rate of
mortality or morbidity associated with TBIs. As intercranial pressure monitoring (ICP) is the most common cause of death in patients with severe TBI, ICP monitoring is
considered as the standard of care. The growing incidence of TBIs is, therefore, likely to support market growth.
Opportunity: Increasing Expanding therapeutic applications of brain monitoring devices
Apart from applications in neurological disorders, neurodegenerative diseases, and psychiatric disorders, brain monitoring devices are also used in other therapeutic
areas like insomnia, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), and sleep apnea. Quantitative EEG analysis is widely used to investigate the neurophysiological characteristics of
insomnia. EEG biofeedback is a training process that has been scientifically proven to aid in the management of PTSD.
A number of research studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of neurofeedback for PTSD in adults. For instance, a research study published by the NCBI in 2016
demonstrated that 24 sessions of neurofeedback significantly reduced PTSD symptoms in adult sample populations. Similar studies are also being conducted in children. Such
positive research outcomes suggest that neurofeedback is a promising approach in the treatment of PTSD. This is especially important because existing treatments can be quite
difficult to tolerate and have limited effectiveness for many individuals with PTSD. In addition, EEG is routinely used to measure and record brain wave activity for the
diagnosis and treatment of sleep apnea. These extended applications of brain monitoring devices are expected to provide growth opportunities for players operating in this
market.
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Challenge: Shortage of trained professionals
Trained medical personnel are required to effectively operate devices involved in the complex process of brain monitoring. The positioning of electrodes on the scalp
and the insertion of muscular needles require accuracy and can be performed only by highly trained personnel. In addition, the results generated by brain monitoring machines
are complex and can only be interpreted by qualified technicians or skilled professionals. Without these fundamental skills, end users will face difficulties in maximizing the
utility of their brain monitoring equipment. The presence of highly skilled medical personnel and staff is, therefore, vital for the effective use of brain monitoring equipment.
Currently, there is a shortage of skilled medical personnel in both developed and developing countries. It has been estimated that the United States will see a shortage
of up to nearly 122,000 physicians by 2032 as demand for physicians continues to grow faster than supply, Furthermore, according to the American Association of Colleges of
Nursing, there is a projected shortage of registered nurses in the US, and it is expected to intensify by 2030. Moreover, the shortage of trained and experienced neurodiagnostic
technologists globally has compelled hospitals to cross-train other allied health professionals to perform neurodiagnostic examinations. This presents a key challenge for the
growth of the global brain monitoring devices market.
We believe the market remains fragmented as many medical practices rely on dated technology and complicated brain monitoring solutions. We also believe that the
overpricing and technological barriers currently existing in the market make our innovative EEG platform truly disruptive by being both user friendly and cost effective.
Competition
Our Products face a mixture of competitors ranging from large manufacturers with multiple business lines to small manufacturers offering a limited selection of
products and services. Many of the competitors whom we directly compete with include companies who develop or intend to develop medical EEG products with FDA
clearance to support clinical diagnosis of brain disorders. Our indirect competitors offer similar products and services, but target audiences in the clinical research and consumer
solutions markets, as opposed to the medical solution market the Company targets. These indirect competitors are largely focused on the development of EEG products for
research, consumer, and athletic application.
Major shifts in industry market share have occurred in connection with product problems, physician advisories, safety alerts, and publications about MedTech
products, reflecting the importance of product quality, product efficacy, and quality systems in the medical device industry. In addition, in the current environment of managed
care, economically motivated customers, consolidation among health care providers, increased competition, and declining reimbursement rates, the Company anticipates an
increasing need to compete on the basis of price and quality. In order to continue to compete effectively, we must continue to create or acquire advanced technology, incorporate
this technology into our current and future proprietary Products, obtain regulatory approvals in a timely manner, maintain high-quality manufacturing processes, and
successfully market these Products. Some of these initiatives include, but are not limited to, creating integrated cloud solutions that connect specialists with generalists for
simple data transfer and analysis, streamlining clinical diagnoses with new medical devices, and opening up revenue streams from secondary healthcare markets, such as
primary care medical professionals who utilize EEG analyses in their practices.
The medical device companies who we deem as competitors include the following, along with a description of their business based on publicly available information:
●

Advanced Brain Monitoring - A California- based private company specializing in developing neurological medical devices. The company specializes in two specific
areas: neurotechnology and sleep medicine. Advanced Brain Monitoring primarily is a medical device and software company that sells its products to clinical trials and
pharmaceutical companies, ignoring several profitable and addressable markets.

●

Elmiko Medical - A Warsaw-based private company specializing in designing and developing medical electronics and IT solutions. Elmiko primarily sells their products
and services to scientific institutes, medical universities, hospitals, and private clinics across the world.

●

Contec - A China-based private medical device company focusing on research, manufacturing, and distribution of medical instrument since 1996. Contec currently has
over 20 products in its portfolio focusing on the medical-technology industry ranging from stethoscopes to EEGs.
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●

EGI (Electrical Geodesics, Inc) - An Oregon-based medical-device company founded in 1992, EGI specializes in making dense array EEG (dEEG) for research
laboratories.

●

Masimo Corporation - A California-based public (NASDAQ: MASI) medical technology company that develops and manufactures innovative noninvasive patient
monitoring technologies, including medical devices and a wide array of sensors. Masimo has a wide array of products, ranging from pulse oximetry to EEGs. The
company serves mainly the sleep study, clinical trial, and athletic performance markets.

●

NeuroSky, Inc - A health and wellness tracking and analysis company that are advancing health solutions through consumer wearables and mobile devices, including
biosensor technologies.

●

Oculogica, Inc – A private company looking to better learn and treat concussions, having developed an eye tracking technology that works to detect concussions, the
severity of the concussion, and the treatment for the concussion.

●

Picofemto LLC - A healthcare company focusing on assisting clinicians and research professionals with a web platform that analyzes raw primary medical data at the
point of evaluation. They have developed a cloud-based service called Cliniscan, which allows the clinician and researcher to work in the cloud with a wide range of
biomedical modalities.

●

Satoris, Inc - A molecular diagnostics company, engages in the development and commercialization of neurodiagnostic tests for Alzheimer’s disease. Satoris plans to
have their product manage and treat neurodegenerative diseases through diagnostic tests. These tests are developed through data of molecular biology and
bioinformatics.

●

CAS Medical Systems, Inc - A developer of innovative, non-invasive vital signs monitoring technologies and products that deliver patient data.

●

Emotiv Systems, Inc. - A bioinformatics company advancing understanding of the human brain using EEG. Their technology aims to track cognitive performance,
monitor emotions, and control both virtual and physical objects via machine learning of trained mental commands.

●

Atlas Wearables, Inc. - A data analytics company and the developer of a fitness monitor designed to improve indoor and outdoor training. Their goal is to use the
combination of data acquired from the lab along with each unique set of data from the customer, to provide clear and current knowledge based on data results.

●

BaziFIT - A modular sensor system that works to monitor the neuromuscular efficiency, strength, stability, and calories burned during the customer’s workout. Their
physical technology is an attachment that goes on various workout equipment that helps the customer get exercise content and quantifiable feedback on every workout
instantly. Their app uses the data collected by their attachment to assess the customer’s progress and health and suggests various workouts for the customer to do to
optimize the progress of their health.

●

MAD Apparel Inc. - The developer of the product Athos, a performance apparel that monitors biosignals and distills them into meaningful information to improve the
level of exercise the customer is performing. The technology receives data in real time and shows the customer their stats so they can alter or continue the workout.

●

Mechio Inc. - A developer of wearable fitness technology to monitor the health, fitness, and sleep of the customer.

●

Sarvint Technologies, Inc. - An Atlanta-based wearables technology company born from smart-garment technology research at Georgia Tech. The research led to the
development of their Smart Shirt, a garment that uses special fibers to detect and monitor body vital signs. It then sends these signals to a program that can be
downloaded onto smart phones to easily monitor the information collected.

●

Sensifree Inc. – A company developing technology to solve the shortcomings of optical sensors. Their RF based sensor technology monitors heart rate from different
parts of the human body.
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●

Sensoria Inc. - A developer of wearable fitness technology that collects fitness data and connects with a real time virtual coach that gives performance and running form
feedback.

●

CorTechs Labs- A developer of medical device software solutions capable of automatically segmenting and quantifying brain structures, making quantitative analysis of
MRI images of the human brain a routine part of clinical practice.

Other EEG makers that we may compete against include Ceribell, Biosignal Group and Zeto. The major U.S. medical device companies who we deem as competitors
include Baxter, Beckman Coulter, Becton Dickinson, Boston Scientific, GE Healthcare Technologies, Johnson & Johnson, St. Jude, Stryker Corporation, and Medtronic. Many
of the companies against which we may compete in the future have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and development, manufacturing,
preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing approved products than we do. Mergers and acquisitions in the pharmaceutical,
biotechnology and diagnostic industries may result in even more resources being concentrated among a smaller number of our competitors. Smaller or early stage companies
may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established companies. These competitors also compete with us in
recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management personnel and establishing clinical trial sites and subject registration for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring
technologies complementary to, or necessary for, our development.
We intend to compete based on our belief in the superiority of our products and services in functionality, cost-effectiveness, efficiency, ease of use and accuracy.
Because our business plan contemplates servicing the neurotech industry across multiple platforms including hardware, software, service and cloud computing, and
our existing and proposed product and service platforms are in a growing industry, we believe we are in a position to take a leadership position within the sector due to our:
●

Strong Portfolio of Intellectual Property. Our diverse intellectual property portfolio includes a series of patents and FDA approvals, ranging from hardware to firmware
applications.

●

Diverse Commercial Application Opportunities. From smart wearable devices that monitor cognitive and behavioral health in real-time, to enhanced Brain Computer
Interface (“BCI”) capabilities within the connected home and car environments, our EEG technologies span a range of novel applications and commercial uses,
including:
o

Global Brain Monitoring Market

o

U.S. Healthcare Market

o

Athletic Performance

o

Government Initiatives

o

Education Enhancement

o

Clinical Trials

●

Scalable Integration. We believe that we offer the highest level of integration and flexibility while providing an optimal combination of convenience and performance.
This is achieved through the modular design and build of our products, allowing seamless integration of hardware and software components into existing platforms. We
are also engaged with strategic partners to augment the next generation of health wearables and technologies, forging relationships with companies and individuals
seeking to implement EEG solutions across a multitude of segments.

●

Experienced Leadership Team. The MemoryMD™ team has over 30 years of combined experience in sectors spanning across artificial intelligence, data mining,
software development, commercialization, EEG imaging, and biotechnology. With a firm background in medical grade EEG applications, our team has a qualified
perspective on electrode quality and brain wave interpretation.
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●

Centralized Cloud Data Collection. Neuro-net algorithms and other mathematical models based on EEG interpretation mine for unique brain patterns on a global scale.
These patterns are continuously trained and visualized to provide reliable health data and insights that consumers, developers, and companies can leverage across the
entire MemoryMD™ platform.

Market Application
For neurologists and other health providers, we aim to provide a solution for monitoring patient health and safety across a variety of locations including the hospital,
specialized clinics, and home settings. In managing patients with epilepsy, providers can improve in areas concerning patient re-admittance, patient mortality and morbidity.
Providers can also proactivity prevent the onset of negative chronic health conditions by engaging with at-risk populations at a fraction of the cost by implementing our
affordable EEG solutions.
For health providers, our offering of an EEG monitoring solution could ease data collection efforts. By providing an accurate and consistent stream of EEG data, our
products and services are being designed to allow physicians and other health professionals to make use of newly available bio-metric data to improve diagnosis, treatment and
management of various neurological illnesses, effectively increasing the quality and value add of medical services.
Our portability and integration potential augment the existing suite of remote monitoring solutions, allowing physicians to more accurately differentiate between
nuanced neurological conditions happening within and outside the hospital setting. An example includes helping neurologist’s contrast nocturnal epilepsy patterns across other
sleep disorders such as parasomnias where individuals engage in abnormal movements during sleep.
Furthermore, we believe a range of medical based applications can be created in conjunction with our EEG solutions around managing patient behavior, offering
incentives and parameters for individuals. By understanding what is going on with their brain and being alerted when discrepancies occur, we believe that physicians will be
able to better communicate health information, improving the effectiveness and relationship between physicians and patients in improving health outcomes, and individuals with
the support of their physicians will be able to better regulate targeted mental states or emotions reducing the sole reliance on on-site visits to hospitals for mental health
treatment plans.
Sales and Marketing
We have commenced the commercial roll-out of the NeuroEEG™ and NeuroCap™, on a limited basis, initially targeting the United States market following with
Canada market. We expect the following developmental milestones to be completed within the next 24 months, subject to cash availability:
●

Scale production in US, Europe and Russia

●

Release new products to the market:
o

12 channel EEG cap for adults and pediatric use

o

Long Term Monitoring caps

o

Long Term Monitoring 24 channel EEG

●

Data storage for normalized data brain scans

●

AI neuro net development focused on epilepsy to start, with following up on pre-Alzheimer and BCI prediction

●

Minimally invasive graphene electrodes connected to the micro EEG

●

Expend AI prediction toward concussion, pain and autism applications

●

File international applications in Latin America, Europe and beyond.
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We are identifying additional long-term partners to accelerate market penetration, product diversification, and ultimate survivability across targeted verticals. Through
new implementations of our EEG products and services, we expect to retain and capture additional market share through continuous enhancements.
We plan to utilize partner relationships and co-marketing opportunities as the initial driver of our marketing efforts, thereby benefiting from increased speed-to-market,
as well as the ability to leverage a pre-existing audience/customer base and communications channels. We expect to offer to early adopters our products and services at
preferential rates in exchange for expediting development, distribution, and sales of such products and services.
Our marketing and sales strategy is focused on rapid, cost-effective delivery of high-quality products into the U.S. and international healthcare market. The sales
strategy is based on penetrating the neurology and diagnostic imaging subsectors of the MedTech industry market via planned medical device distributor arrangements or
partnering on distribution of NeuroCaps through existing EEG manufacturers, and expanding into nursing homes and primary care practices. Included amongst the customers to
whom we intend to market and sell our Products through distributors and partners (B2B), are individual physicians, medical practices, urgent care facilities, physician
associations, and other medical professionals and medical professional groups, hospitals, health clinics, nursing homes, physical rehabilitation centers, addiction rehabilitation
centers and other medical institutions, athletic organizations, and colleges, universities, and other academic institutions. To date, we have not entered into any distribution or
partnership arangements.
We intend for our products’ initial entry into the market would be at emergency departments, ICU’s and other acute care settings in the United States.
We will also be looking at forming partnerships with national and global telemedicine and teleneurology companies in order to leverage their relationships, to access
our target end-users. This would allow our initial entry into the rapidly growing global telemedicine and teleneurology markets.
As we grow, we intend to expand to global distributors, Group Purchasing Organizations (GPOs) of medical supplies, and Independent Physician Associations (IPAs)
to scale business operations. At this time, we do not provide financing for potential customers, but we are evaluating implementing a leasing program.
We do not at this time have plans to have direct sales or hire a direct sales force.
Reimbursement
Coverage in the United States
Reimbursement from private third-party healthcare payors and, to a lesser extent, Medicare will be an important element of our success. Although the Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid, or CMS, and third-party payors have adopted coverage policies for our targeted indications, there is no guarantee this will continue at the same levels
or at all in the future.
Regarding ICD-10 codes, the International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Edition (ICD-10) is a clinical cataloging system that went into effect for the U.S.
healthcare industry on Oct. 1, 2015, after a series of lengthy delays. Accounting for modern advances in clinical treatment and medical devices, ICD-10 codes offer many more
classification options compared to those found in its predecessor, ICD-9. Within the healthcare industry, providers, coders, IT professionals, insurance carriers, government
agencies and others use ICD codes to properly note diseases on health records, to track epidemiological trends and to assist in medical reimbursement decisions.
We believe that many of the indications we are pursuing with our technologies are currently reimbursed on a widespread basis by Medicare, Medicaid and private
insurance companies.
Medicare, Medicaid, health maintenance organizations and other third-party payors are increasingly attempting to contain healthcare costs by limiting both coverage
and the level of reimbursement of new medical devices, and, as a result, their coverage policies may be restrictive, or they may not cover or provide adequate payment for our
Products. In order to obtain reimbursement arrangements, we may have to agree to a net sales price lower than the net sales price we might charge in other sales channels. Our
revenue may be limited by the continuing efforts of government and third-party payors to contain or reduce the costs of healthcare through various increasingly sophisticated
means, such as requiring prospective reimbursement and second opinions, purchasing in groups, or redesigning benefits. Our future dependence on the commercial success of
our technologies makes us particularly susceptible to any cost containment or reduction efforts. Accordingly, unless government and other third-party payors provide adequate
coverage and reimbursement for our Products and the related insertion and removal procedures, our financial performance may be limited.
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Coverage Outside the United States
If we seek to commercialize our Products in countries outside the United States, coverage may be available from certain governmental authorities, private health
insurance plans, and labor unions. Coverage systems in international markets vary significantly by country and, within some countries, by region. If we seek to commercialize
our technology, if approved, outside the U.S., coverage approvals must be obtained on a country-by-country, region-by-region or, in some instances, a case-by case basis. Based
on our ongoing evaluation, certain countries reimburse more highly than others.
Manufacturing, Supply and Quality Assurance
We currently outsource the supply and manufacture of all components of our NeuroEEG and NeuroCap. We plan to continue with an outsourced manufacturing
arrangement for the foreseeable future. We expect that our third-party manufacturers will be competent to manufacture our Products and have quality systems established that
meet FDA requirements. We believe the manufacturers we currently utilize or that we may utilize in the future have sufficient capacity to meet our launch requirements if our
technology under development is approved in the future and are able to scale up their capacity relatively quickly with minimal capital investment. We believe that, as we
increase our demand in the future, our per unit costs will decrease materially. We have also identified capable second source manufacturers and suppliers in the event of
disruption from any of our primary vendors.
Our suppliers meet ISO 13485:2003 certification, which includes design control requirements. As a medical device developer, the facilities of our sterilization and
other critical suppliers are subject to periodic inspection by the FDA and corresponding state and foreign agencies. We plan to audit our suppliers periodically to ensure
conformity with the specifications, policies and procedures for our devices.
With respect to graphene electrodes, our goal is to start working with specific 3D printers and print prototypes of the next generation electrodes. Upon successful
testing, of which we can give no assurance of success, we plan to submit the graphene electrode for biocompatibility testing in 2020/2021 with a follow up application to the
FDA in 2021 and projected approval in 2022 with commercial implementation to follow.
Research and Development
Our research and development programs are generally pursued by engineers and scientists employed by us on a full-time basis or hired as per diem consultants or
through partnerships with industry leaders in manufacturing and design and researchers and academia. We are also working with subcontractors in developing specific
components of our technologies.
The primary objective of our research and development program is to advance the development of our existing and proposed Products, to enhance the commercial
value of such Products.
We have incurred research and development costs of $103,616 for the year ended December 31, 2019 and $210,206 for the year ended December 31, 2018. We have
commenced evaluating the use of graphene for brain electrodes, with an affiliate of Boris Goldstein, our Chairman of the Board. We believe the main benefits of using graphene
for electrodes are:
●

High conductivity

●

No reaction to any chemicals or human organs

●

Very thin

●

Extremely strong

●

Anti-bacterial
37

●

Inexpensive compared to platinum

●

Anti-static

Potential electronic applications of graphene in EEG include ultra-small transistors, super-dense data storage, touchscreens and a wearable e-tattoo EEG patch. In the
energy field, potential applications include ultra-capacitors to store and transmit electrical power as well as highly efficient solar cells. We believe graphene-based batteries in
EEG will be able to charge faster and last longer, although we have not commenced any work towards that goal at this time.
We also have formed a Medical Advisory Board. The current members are Dr. John Gaitanis, MD, Tufts Medical Center; and Dr. John Hixson, MD, Associate
Professor of Neurology, University of California San Francisco. We intend to grant to such members from time to time equity for the services they provide to us.
Government Regulation
Our NeuroEEG and NeuroCap are each a medical device subject to extensive and ongoing regulation by the FDA, the U.S. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services,
or CMS, the European Commission, and regulatory bodies in other countries. Regulations cover virtually every critical aspect of a medical device company’s business
operations, including research activities, product development, quality and risk management, contracting, reimbursement, medical communications, and sales and marketing. In
the United States, the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, and the implementing regulations of the FDA govern product design and development, pre-clinical and
clinical testing, premarket clearance or approval, product manufacturing, quality systems, import and export, product labeling, product storage, recalls and field safety corrective
actions, advertising and promotion, product sales and distribution, and post-market clinical surveillance. Our business is subject to federal, state, local, and foreign regulations,
such as ISO 13485, ISO 14971, FDA’s Quality System Regulation, or QSR, contained in 21 CFR Part 820, and the European Commission’s Directive 93/42/EEC concerning
medical devices and its amendments.
U.S. Regulation
The FDA characterizes medical devices into one of three classes. Devices that are considered by the FDA to pose lower risk are classified as Class I or II. Class I
devices and are subject to controls for labeling, pre-market notification and adherence to the FDA’s QSR. This pertains to manufacturers’ methods and documentation of the
design, testing, production, control quality assurance, labeling, packaging, sterilization, storage and shipping of products, but are usually exempt from premarket notification
requirements. Class II devices are subject to the same general controls but may be subject to special controls such as performance standards, post-market surveillance, FDA
guidelines, or particularized labeling, and may also require clinical testing prior to clearance or approval. Class III devices are those for which insufficient information exists to
assure safety and effectiveness solely through general or special controls, including devices that support or sustain human life, are of substantial importance in preventing
impairment of human health, or which present a potential, unreasonable risk of illness or injury.
Some Class I and Class II devices are exempted by regulation from the pre-market notification requirement under Section 510(k) of the FDCA, also referred to as a
510(k) clearance, and the requirement of compliance with substantially all of the QSR. However, a pre-market approval, or PMA application, is required for devices deemed by
the FDA to pose the greatest risk, such as life-sustaining, life-supporting or certain implantable devices, or those that are “not substantially equivalent” either to a device
previously cleared through the 510(k) process or to a “preamendment” Class III device in commercial distribution before May 28, 1976 when PMA applications were not
required. The PMA approval process is more comprehensive than the 510(k) clearance process and typically takes several years to complete. While the 510(k) process is
typically shorter than a PMA process, both the 510(k) clearance and PMA processes can be expensive and lengthy.
Our NeuroCap device is characterized as a Class I device and our NeuroEEG device is characterized as a Class II device.
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FDA review of a PMA application generally takes between one and three years, but may take significantly longer. The FDA can delay, limit or deny approval of a
PMA application for many reasons, including:
●

the device may not be safe, effective, reliable or accurate to the FDA’s satisfaction;

●

the data from pre-clinical studies and clinical trials may be insufficient to support approval;

●

the manufacturing process or facilities may not meet applicable requirements; and

●

changes in FDA approval policies or adoption of new regulations may require additional data.

If an FDA evaluation of a PMA application is favorable, the FDA will either issue an approval letter, or approvable letter, which usually contains a number of
conditions that must be met in order to secure final approval of the PMA. When and if those conditions have been fulfilled to the satisfaction of the FDA, the agency will issue a
PMA approval letter authorizing commercial marketing of a device, subject to the conditions of approval and the limitations established in the approval letter. If the FDA’s
evaluation of a PMA application or manufacturing facilities is not favorable, the FDA will deny approval of the PMA or issue a not approvable letter. The FDA also may
determine that additional tests or clinical trials are necessary, in which case the PMA approval may be delayed for several months or years while the trials are conducted, and
data is submitted in an amendment to the PMA. The PMA process can be expensive, uncertain and lengthy and a number of devices for which FDA approval has been sought
by other companies have never been approved by the FDA for marketing.
New PMA applications or PMA supplements may be required for modifications to the manufacturing process, labeling, device specifications, materials or design of a
device that has been approved through the PMA process. PMA supplements often require submission of the same type of information as an initial PMA application, except that
the supplement is limited to information needed to support any changes from the device covered by the approved PMA application and may or may not require as extensive
technical or clinical data or the convening of an advisory panel.
Clinical trials are typically required to support a PMA application and are sometimes required for a 510(k) clearance. These trials generally require submission of an
application for an IDE, to the FDA. The IDE application must be supported by appropriate data, such as animal and laboratory testing results, showing that it is safe to test the
device in humans and that the testing protocol is scientifically sound. The IDE application must be approved in advance by the FDA for a specified number of patients, unless
the product is deemed a non-significant risk device and eligible for abbreviated IDE requirements. Generally, clinical trials for a significant risk device may begin once the IDE
application is approved by the FDA and the study protocol and informed consent are approved by appropriate institutional review boards at the clinical trial sites. The FDA’s
approval of an IDE allows clinical testing to go forward, but it does not bind the FDA to accept the results of the trial as sufficient to prove the product’s safety and efficacy,
even if the trial meets its intended success criteria. All clinical trials must be conducted in accordance with the FDA’s IDE regulations that govern investigational device
labeling, prohibit promotion, and specify an array of recordkeeping, reporting and monitoring responsibilities of study sponsors and study investigators. Clinical trials must
further comply with the FDA’s regulations for institutional review board approval and for informed consent and other human subject protections. Required records and reports
are subject to inspection by the FDA. The results of clinical testing may be unfavorable or, even if the intended safety and efficacy success criteria are achieved, may not be
considered sufficient for the FDA to grant approval or clearance of a product. Clinical trials must be entered into the clinical trials registry at clintrials.gov.
The commencement or completion of any clinical trial may be delayed or halted, or be inadequate to support approval of a PMA application, for numerous reasons,
including, but not limited to, the following:
●

the FDA or other regulatory authorities do not approve a clinical trial protocol or a clinical trial, or place a clinical trial on hold;

●

patients do not enroll in clinical trials at the rate expected;

●

patients, sponsor or study sites do not comply with trial protocols;

●

patient follow-up is not at the rate expected;

●

patients experience adverse side effects;
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●

patients die during a clinical trial, even though their death may not be related to the products that are part of our trial;

●

institutional review boards and third-party clinical investigators may delay or reject the trial protocol;

●

third-party clinical investigators decline to participate in a trial or do not perform a trial on the anticipated schedule or consistent with the clinical trial protocol, good
clinical practices or other FDA requirements;

●

the sponsor or third-party organizations do not perform data collection, monitoring and analysis in a timely or accurate manner or consistent with the clinical trial
protocol or investigational or statistical plans;

●

third-party clinical investigators have significant financial interests related to the sponsor or the study that the FDA deems to make the study results unreliable, or the
company or investigators fail to disclose such interests;

●

regulatory inspections of our clinical trials or manufacturing facilities, which may, among other things, require us to undertake corrective action or suspend or terminate
our clinical trials;

●

changes in governmental regulations or administrative actions;

●

the interim or final results of the clinical trial are inconclusive or unfavorable as to safety or efficacy; and

●

the FDA concludes that our trial design is inadequate to demonstrate safety and efficacy.

International Regulation
International sales of medical devices are subject to local government regulations, which may vary substantially from country to country. The time required to obtain
approval in another country may be longer or shorter than that required for FDA approval, and the requirements may differ. There is a trend towards harmonization of quality
system standards among the European Union, United States, Canada and various other industrialized countries.
The primary regulatory body in Europe is that of the European Union, the European Commission, which includes most of the major countries in Europe. Other
countries, such as Switzerland, have voluntarily adopted laws and regulations that mirror those of the European Union with respect to medical devices. The European Union has
adopted numerous directives and standards regulating the design, manufacture, clinical trials, labeling and adverse event reporting for medical devices. Devices that comply with
the requirements of these relevant directives will be entitled to bear the CE conformity marking, indicating that the device conforms to the essential requirements of the
applicable directives and, accordingly, can be commercially distributed throughout Europe. The method of assessing conformity varies depending on the class of the product,
but normally involves a combination of self-assessment by the manufacturer and a third party assessment by a “Notified Body.” This third-party assessment may consist of an
audit of the manufacturer’s quality system and specific testing of the manufacturer’s product. An assessment by a Notified Body of one country within the European Union is
required in order for a manufacturer to commercially distribute the product throughout the European Union. Additional local requirements may apply on a country-by-country
basis. Outside of the European Union, regulatory approval would need to be sought on a country-by-country basis in order for us to market our Products.
Medical devices in Europe are classified into four primary categories. They are as follows:
●

Non-invasive devices

●

Invasive medical devices

●

Active medical devices

●

Special Rules (including contraceptive, disinfectant, and radiological diagnostic medical devices)
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Devices are further segmented into the classes noted below. In Vitro Diagnostic devices (IVDs) have their own classification scheme and while active implantable
devices do not follow the same classification system as provided by the Medical Device Directive (MDD), they are subject to similar requirements as Class III devices:
●

Class I – Provided non-sterile or do not have a measuring function (low risk)

●

Class I – Provided sterile and/or have a measuring function (low/medium risk)

●

Class IIa (medium risk)

●

Class IIb (medium/high risk)

●

Class III (high risk)

We have established a wholly-owned subsidiary in Russia and are seeking to establish a wholly-owned subsidiary in Europe (Poland) for product distribution and
certification.
Other Regulatory Requirements
Even after a device receives clearance or approval and is placed in commercial distribution, numerous regulatory requirements apply. These include:
●

establishment registration and device listing;

●

QSR, which requires manufacturers, including third party manufacturers, to follow stringent design, testing, risk management, production, control, supplier/contractor
selection, complaint handling, documentation and other quality assurance procedures during all aspects of the manufacturing process;

●

labeling regulations that prohibit the promotion of products for uncleared, unapproved or “off-label” uses, and impose other restrictions on labeling, advertising and
promotion;

●

MDR regulations, which require that manufacturers report to the FDA if their device may have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury or malfunctioned in a
way that would likely cause or contribute to a death or serious injury if the malfunction were to recur;

●

voluntary and mandatory device recalls to address problems when a device is defective and could be a risk to health; and

●

corrections and removals reporting regulations, which require that manufacturers report to the FDA field corrections and product recalls or removals if undertaken to
reduce a risk to health posed by the device or to remedy a violation of the FDCA that may present a risk to health.

Also, the FDA may require us to conduct post-market surveillance studies or establish and maintain a system for tracking our Products through the chain of distribution
to the patient level. The FDA enforces regulatory requirements by conducting periodic, unannounced inspections and market surveillance. Inspections may include the
manufacturing facilities of our subcontractors.
Failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements can result in enforcement actions by the FDA and other regulatory agencies. These may include any of the
following sanctions or consequences:
●

warning letters or untitled letters that require corrective action;

●

fines and civil penalties;

●

unanticipated expenditures;

●

delays in approving or refusal to approve future products;

●

FDA refusal to issue certificates to foreign governments needed to export products for sale in other countries;
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●

suspension or withdrawal of FDA clearance or approval;

●

product recall or seizure;

●

interruption of production;

●

operating restrictions;

●

injunctions; and

●

criminal prosecution.

Our contract manufacturers, specification developers and some suppliers of components or device accessories, also are required to manufacture our Products in
compliance with current good manufacturing practice requirements set forth in the QSR. The QSR requires a quality system for the design, manufacture, packaging, labeling,
storage, installation and servicing of marketed devices, and it includes extensive requirements with respect to quality management and organization, device design, buildings,
equipment, purchase and handling of components or services, production and process controls, packaging and labeling controls, device evaluation, distribution, installation,
complaint handling, servicing, and record keeping. The FDA evaluates compliance with the QSR through periodic unannounced inspections that may include the manufacturing
facilities of our subcontractors. If the FDA believes that any of our contract manufacturers or regulated suppliers are not in compliance with these requirements, it can shut
down such manufacturing operations, require recall of our Products, refuse to approve new marketing applications, institute legal proceedings to detain or seize products, enjoin
future violations or assess civil and criminal penalties against us or our officers or other employees.
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and Similar Foreign and State Laws and Regulations Affecting the Transmission, Security and Privacy of
Health Information
We may also be subject to data privacy and security regulation by both the federal government and the states in which we conduct our business. HIPAA, as amended
by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, or HITECH, and their respective implementing regulations, imposes specified requirements
relating to the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information. Among other things, HITECH makes HIPAA’s security standards directly
applicable to business associates, defined as service providers of covered entities that create, receive, maintain or transmit protected health information in connection with
providing a service for or on behalf of a covered entity. HITECH also created four new tiers of civil monetary penalties and gave state attorneys general new authority to file
civil actions for damages or injunctions in federal courts to enforce the federal HIPAA laws and seek attorneys’ fees and costs associated with pursuing federal civil actions. In
addition, many state laws govern the privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from HIPAA and each other in significant ways
and may not have the same effect.
Foreign data privacy regulations, such as the EU Data Protection Directive (Directive 95/46/EC), the country-specific regulations that implement Directive 95/46/EC,
and the EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) also govern the processing of personally identifiable data, and may be stricter than U.S. laws.
Fraud and Abuse Laws
In addition to FDA restrictions, there are numerous U.S. federal and state laws pertaining to healthcare fraud and abuse, including anti-kickback laws and physician
self-referral laws. Our relationships with healthcare providers and other third parties are subject to scrutiny under these laws. Violations of these laws are punishable by criminal
and civil sanctions, including, in some instances, imprisonment and exclusion from participation in federal and state healthcare programs, including the Medicare, Medicaid and
Veterans Administration health programs.
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Federal Anti-Kickback and Self-Referral Laws
The federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, receiving, offering or providing remuneration (including any kickback,
bribe or rebate), directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, to induce either the referral of an individual, or the furnishing, recommending, or arranging of a good or service, for
which payment may be made under a federal healthcare program such as Medicare and Medicaid or other federal healthcare programs. The term “remuneration” has been
broadly interpreted to include anything of value, including such items as gifts, discounts, the furnishing of supplies or equipment, credit arrangements, waiver of payments and
providing anything at less than its fair market value. Although there are a number of statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors protecting some common activities from
prosecution, the exceptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowly. Practices that involve remuneration that may be alleged to be intended to induce prescribing, purchases or
recommendations may be subject to scrutiny if they do not qualify for an exception or safe harbor. Failure to meet all of the requirements of a particular applicable statutory
exception or regulatory safe harbor does not make the conduct per se illegal under the Anti-Kickback Statute. Instead, the legality of the arrangement will be evaluated on a
case-by-case basis based on a review of all its relevant facts and circumstances. Several courts have interpreted the statute’s intent requirement to mean that if any one purpose
of an arrangement involving remuneration is to induce referrals of (or purchases, or recommendations related to) federal healthcare covered business, the Anti-Kickback Statute
has been implicated and potentially violated.
The penalties for violating the federal Anti-Kickback Statute include imprisonment for up to five years, fines of up to $25,000 per violation and possible exclusion
from federal healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. Many states have adopted prohibitions similar to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, some of which do not
have the same exceptions and apply to the referral of patients for healthcare services reimbursed by any source, not only by the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Further, the
Anti-Kickback Statute was amended by the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, or PPACA. Specifically, as noted above, under the Anti-Kickback Statute, the
government must prove the defendant acted “knowingly” to prove a violation occurred. The PPACA added a provision to clarify that with respect to violations of the AntiKickback Statute, “a person need not have actual knowledge” of the statute or specific intent to commit a violation of the statute. This change effectively overturns case law
interpretations that set a higher standard under which prosecutors had to prove the specific intent to violate the law. In addition, the PPACA codified case law that a claim
including items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the federal civil False Claims
Act.
We plan to provide the initial training to providers and patients necessary for appropriate use of our technology either through our own educators or by contracting
with outside educators that have completed an appropriate training course. Outside educators are reimbursed for their services at fair market value.
Noncompliance with the federal anti-kickback legislation could result in our exclusion from Medicare, Medicaid or other governmental programs, restrictions on our
ability to operate in certain jurisdictions, and civil and criminal penalties.
Federal law also includes a provision commonly known as the “Stark Law,” which prohibits a physician from referring Medicare or Medicaid patients to an entity
providing “designated health services,” including a company that furnishes durable medical equipment, in which the physician has an ownership or investment interest or with
which the physician has entered into a compensation arrangement. Violation of the Stark Law could result in denial of payment, disgorgement of reimbursements received under
a noncompliant arrangement, civil penalties, and exclusion from Medicare, Medicaid or other governmental programs. We believe that we have structured our provider
arrangements to comply with current Stark Law requirements.
Nevertheless, a determination of liability under such laws could result in fines and penalties and restrictions on our ability to operate in these jurisdictions.
Additionally, as some of these laws are still evolving, we lack definitive guidance as to the application of certain key aspects of these laws as they relate to our
arrangements with providers with respect to patient training. We cannot predict the final form that these regulations will take or the effect that the final regulations will have on
us. As a result, our provider and training arrangements may ultimately be found to be not in compliance with applicable federal law.
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Federal False Claims Act
The Federal False Claims Act provides, in part, that the federal government may bring a lawsuit against any person whom it believes has knowingly presented, or
caused to be presented, a false or fraudulent request for payment from the federal government, or who has made a false statement or used a false record to get a claim approved.
In addition, amendments in 1986 to the Federal False Claims Act have made it easier for private parties to bring “qui tam” whistleblower lawsuits against companies under the
Federal False Claims Act. Penalties include fines ranging from $5,500 to $11,000 for each false claim, plus three times the amount of damages that the federal government
sustained because of the act of that person. Qui tam actions have increased significantly in recent years, causing greater numbers of healthcare companies to have to defend a
false claim action, pay fines or be excluded from Medicare, Medicaid or other federal or state healthcare programs as a result of an investigation arising out of such action.
There are other federal anti-fraud laws that that prohibit, among other actions, knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any
healthcare benefit program, including private third-party payors, knowingly and willfully embezzling or stealing from a healthcare benefit program, willfully obstructing a
criminal investigation of a healthcare offense, and knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false, fictitious or
fraudulent statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services.
Additionally, HIPAA established two federal crimes in the healthcare fraud and false statements relating to healthcare matters. The healthcare fraud statute prohibits
knowingly and willfully executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program, including private payors. A violation of this statute is a felony and may result in fines,
imprisonment or exclusion from government sponsored programs. The false statements statute prohibits knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material
fact or making any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services. A violation of this
statute is a felony and may result in fines or imprisonment.
Civil Monetary Penalties Law
In addition to the Anti-Kickback Statute and the civil and criminal False Claims Acts, the federal government has the authority to seek civil monetary penalties, or
CMPs, assessments, and exclusion against an individual or entity based on a wide variety of prohibited conduct. For example, the Civil Monetary Penalties Law authorizes the
imposition of substantial CMPs against an entity that engages in activities including, but not limited to: (1) knowingly presenting or causing to be presented, a claim for services
not provided as claimed or which is otherwise false or fraudulent in any way; (2) knowingly giving or causing to be given false or misleading information reasonably expected
to influence the decision to discharge a patient; (3) offering or giving remuneration to any beneficiary of a federal health care program likely to influence the receipt of
reimbursable items or services; (4) arranging for reimbursable services with an entity which is excluded from participation from a federal health care program; (5) knowingly or
willfully soliciting or receiving remuneration for a referral of a federal health care program beneficiary; or (6) using a payment intended for a federal health care program
beneficiary for another use. Noncompliance can result in civil money penalties of up to $10,000 for each wrongful act, assessment of three times the amount claimed for each
item or service and exclusion from the federal healthcare programs.
State Fraud and Abuse Provisions
Many states have also adopted some form of anti-kickback and anti-referral laws and a false claims act. We believe that we are in conformance to such laws.
Nevertheless, a determination of liability under such laws could result in fines and penalties and restrictions on our ability to operate in these jurisdictions.
Physician Payment Sunshine Act
Transparency laws regarding payments or other items of value provided to healthcare providers and teaching hospitals may also impact our business practices. The
federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act requires most medical device manufacturers to report annually to the Secretary of Human Health Services financial arrangements,
payments, or other transfers of value made by that entity to physicians and teaching hospitals. The payment information is made publicly available in a searchable format on a
CMS website. Over the next several years, we will need to dedicate significant resources to establish and maintain systems and processes in order to comply with these
regulations. Failure to comply with the reporting requirements can result in significant civil monetary penalties. Similar laws have been enacted or are under consideration in
foreign jurisdictions.
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U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act
The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, prohibits U.S. corporations and their representatives from offering, promising, authorizing or making corrupt
payments, gifts or transfers to any foreign government official, government staff member, political party or political candidate in an attempt to obtain or retain business abroad.
The FCPA also obligates companies whose securities are listed in the United States to comply with accounting provisions requiring the company to maintain books and records
that accurately and fairly reflect all transactions of the corporation, including international subsidiaries, and to devise and maintain an adequate system of internal accounting
controls for international operations. Activities that violate the FCPA, even if they occur wholly outside the United States, can result in criminal and civil fines, imprisonment,
disgorgement, oversight, and debarment from government contracts.
Employees
As of October 31, 2020, we had seven employees, none of whom are represented by a labor union or covered by a collective bargaining agreement. We consider our
relationship with our employees to be satisfactory.
Legal Proceedings
As of the date of this circular, we are not party to, and our property is the subject of, any material legal proceedings.
OUR PROPERTY
Our principal executive office is located in leased premises of approximately 3,481 square feet at a rental cost of $3,984 per month at 125 Wilbur Place, Suite 170,
Bohemia, New York, 11716. We believe that these facilities are adequate for our needs, including providing the space and infrastructure to accommodate our development work
based on our current operating plan. We do not own any real estate.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
You should read the following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations of the Company together with our financial statements and the
related notes included elsewhere in this circular. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this circular, including information
with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should review the “Risk Factors” section
of this circular for a discussion of important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking
statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.
Forward Looking Statements
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and related notes included in this circular. Certain information contained in this
MD&A includes “forward-looking statements.” Statements which are not historical reflect our current expectations and projections about our future results, performance,
liquidity, financial condition and results of operations, prospects and opportunities and are based upon information currently available to us and our management and their
interpretation of what is believed to be significant factors affecting our existing and proposed business, including many assumptions regarding future events. Actual results,
performance, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations, prospects and opportunities could differ materially and perhaps substantially from those expressed in, or
implied by, these forward-looking statements as a result of various risks, uncertainties and other factors, including those risks described in detail in the section entitled “Risk
Factors” of this circular.
Forward-looking statements, which involve assumptions and describe our future plans, strategies, and expectations, are generally identifiable by use of the words
“may,” “should,” “would,” “will,” “could,” “scheduled,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “intend,” “seek,” or “project” or the negative of these words or other
variations on these words or comparable terminology.
In light of these risks and uncertainties, and especially given the nature of our existing and proposed business, there can be no assurance that the forward-looking
statements contained in this section and elsewhere in this circular will in fact occur. Potential investors should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements.
Except as expressly required by the federal securities laws, there is no undertaking to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events, changed circumstances or any other reason.
Overview
We are a neurodiagnostic and predictive technology platform company seeking to provide a centralized platform for data acquisition and analysis of EEG data that
combines cutting-edge medical device technologies with cloud-based telehealth services. Both our NeuroCap, a pre-gelled disposable EEG headset, and NeuroEEG, a fullmontage standard encephalograph, received FDA clearance to market in 2018.
On September 21, 2018, we entered into a merger agreement (the “Merger Agreement”) with MemoryMD, Inc. and AFGG Acquisition Corp. to acquire MemoryMD,
Inc. (the “Acquisition”). The transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement were consummated on September 21, 2018 and, pursuant to the terms of the Merger
Agreement, all outstanding shares of MemoryMD were exchanged for shares of our common stock. Accordingly, we acquired 100% of Memory MD, Inc. in exchange for the
issuance of shares of our common stock and MemoryMD, Inc. became our wholly-owned subsidiary. We issued an additional 4,083,252 shares of our common stock upon the
automatic conversion at the closing of an aggregate of $1,507,000 principal amount plus accrued interest of outstanding convertible promissory notes issued by MemoryMD
Inc., and we further issued an additional 1,604,378 shares of our common stock upon the automatic conversion immediately subsequent to the closing of an aggregate of
$640,000 principal amount plus accrued interest of outstanding convertible promissory notes issued by MemoryMD Inc.
As of immediately prior to the closing of the Acquisition, we entered into an Assignment and Assumption Agreement with Chromium 24 LLC, pursuant to which
Chromium 24 LLC assumed all of our remaining assets and liabilities through the closing of the Acquisition. Accordingly, as of the closing of the Acquisition, we had no assets
or liabilities.
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Following the Acquisition, the Company is now a neurodiagnostic and predictive technology platform company seeking to ultimately provide a centralized platform
for data acquisition and analysis of EEG data that combines our medical device technologies with cloud-based telehealth services. The Company is not currently offering any
data analysis services. The Company is primarily focused on establishing diagnostic protocols to identify pathological risk factors involving the brain, and driving novel
insights into cognitive health that support early treatment of neurological disorders.
In 2019, we commenced acting as a distributor of third-party medical devices in Russia (including those purchased from a company affiliated with one of our officers
and directors), which resulted in all of our revenue for 2019. Sales in Russia is also the majority of all revenue in 2020 (except for $7,498 that was from sales from the U.S.
operating subsidiary). While we intend to continue the sale of third party medical devices, we do not intend for it to be our primary source of revenue in the long-term and expect
to curtail or cease this line of operations as, if and when we commence generating material, recurring revenues from our products, of which we can give no assurance. We also
can give no assurance that any revenue we generate from so acting as a distributor of third-party medical devices will continue, will continue to be material or will be sufficient
to enable us to continue our operations. We have no supply or distribution agreements in place with respect to such business. In the event that we see an opportunity to sell such
products, we procure them and then re-sell them.
Our sole business since the Acquisition is the business of MemoryMD. Our management’s discussion and analysis below is based on the financial results of
MemoryMD.
We have very limited resources. To date, our primary activities have been limited to, and our limited resources have been dedicated to, performing business and
financial planning, raising capital, recruiting personnel, negotiating with business partners and the licensors of our intellectual property and conducting development activities,
although we have acted as a distributor of third-party medical devices in Russia (including those purchased from a company affiliated with one of our officers and directors)
which has generated revenue for us. Our first products, the NeuroCap and NeuroEEG, are ready for commercialization and sale and we have commenced some non-recurring,
initial sales. Our other products are still being tested or are still under development.
We have incurred losses since inception of MemoryMD in 2015 and had an accumulated deficit of $6,439,602 as of June 30, 2020, primarily as a result of expenses
incurred in connection with our research and development programs and from general and administrative expenses associated with our operations. We expect to continue to
incur significant expenses and increasing operating and net losses for the foreseeable future.
Historically, our primary source of cash has been proceeds from the sale of convertible promissory notes and other borrowings. To fund our operations, for the six
months ended June 30, 2020, we issued one promissory note for gross proceeds of $20,000. For the year ended December 31, 2019, we issued convertible promissory notes for
aggregate gross proceeds of $655,000. In addition, during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, we borrowed an aggregate of $273,084 from related parties. Additionally,
in April 2020, existing stockholders of the Company agreed to advance to the Company an aggregate amount of $250,000 pursuant to the terms of Convertible Grid Promissory
Notes (the “Grid Notes”). As of June 30, 2020, a total aggregate amount of $200,000 has been advanced pursuant to the terms of the Grid Notes.
We need to obtain substantial additional funding in connection with our continuing operations through public or private equity or debt financings or other sources,
which may include collaborations with third parties. However, we may be unable to raise additional funds when needed on favorable terms or at all. Our failure to raise such
capital as and when needed would have a negative impact on our financial condition and our ability to develop and commercialize our products and future products and our
ability to pursue our business strategy. See “–Liquidity and Capital Requirements” below.
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Financial Overview
Revenue
For the six months ended June 30, 2020, we have generated approximately $220,000 of revenue through our acting as a distributor of third-party medical devices in
Russia (including those purchased from a company affiliated with one of our officers and directors), while we continue to commercialize our products. While we intend to
continue generating revenues through the sale of third-party medical devices, we do not intend for it to be our primary source of revenue in the long-term. We do not expect to
generate recurring, material revenue from our products unless or until we successfully commercialize our products. If we fail to successfully commercialize our developed
products or fail to complete the development of any other product candidate we may pursue in the future, in a timely manner, or fail to obtain regulatory approval, we may not
be able to solely rely on generating substantial and material revenue from the distribution of third-party medical devices.
General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs for personnel in functions not directly associated with research and development
activities. Other significant costs include legal fees relating to corporate matters, intellectual property costs, professional fees for consultants assisting with regulatory, clinical,
product development and financial matters, and product costs. We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses will significantly increase in the future to support our
continued research and development activities, commercialization of our products, if approved, and the increased costs of operating as a public company. These increases will
include increased costs related to the hiring of additional personnel and fees for legal and professional services, as well as other public company related costs.
Research and Development
Research and development expenses consist of expenses incurred in performing research and development activities in developing our products. Research and
development expenses include compensation and benefits for research and development employees, overhead expenses, cost of laboratory supplies, clinical trial and related
clinical manufacturing expenses, costs related to regulatory operations, fees paid to consultants, and other outside expenses. Research and development costs are expensed as
incurred and costs incurred by third parties are expensed as the contracted work is performed.
We expect our research and development expenses to remain substantially the same for the next six to nine months as we continue to develop and commercialize our
products. As we develop our cloud-based computing system, we expect our research and development expenses to significantly increase.
Interest Expense
Interest expense primarily consists of amortized note issuance costs and interest costs related to the convertible notes we issued in 2019. The convertible notes bear
interest at fixed rate ranging from 8%-10% per annum.
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Results of Operations
Six Months Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
The following table sets forth the results of operations of the Company for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.

Revenue
Cost of goods sold
Research and development
Professional fees
Sales and marketing expenses
General and administrative
Interest expense

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Three Months Ended
June 30,
2020
2019
86,659
$
75,376
62,832
$
47,042
46,955
$
27,776
93,465
$
40,102
47,585
$
12,006
178,512
$
120,286
1,182,619
$
10,971

Period to
Period Change
$
11,283
$
15,790
$
19,179
$
53,363
$
35,579
$
58,226
$
1,171,648

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2020
2019
220,504 $
77,626
167,814 $
47,042
143,345 $
50,066
217,073 $
151,175
88,169 $
59,798
387,147 $
321,527
1,636,235 $
19,024

Period to
Period Change
$
142,878
$
120,772
$
93.279
$
65,898
$
28,371
$
65.619
$
1,617,211

Three Months Ended June 30, 2020 vs. June 30, 2019
Revenues
Revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2020 was $86,659, compared to $75,376 for the three months ended June 30, 2019. In the three months ended June 30
2020 and 2019, we generated our revenue through acting as a distributor of third-party medical devices in Russia (including those purchased from a company affiliated with one
of our officers and directors).
General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses were $178,512 for the three months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $120,286 for the three months ended June 30, 2019. The
increase in general and administrative expenses were primarily due to an increase in consulting fees related to the Company listing on the OTC and medical consultants related
to the preparation of submission of the revised Neurocaps to the FDA. In addition, wages increased in the current quarter due to the accrual of salaries pursuant to employment
agreements in the current year.
Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses were $46,955 for the three months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $27,776 for the three months ended June 30, 2019. The
increase was primarily due to an increase in development activities surrounding the development of a new, modified version of the NeuroCap.
Professional fees
Professional fees were $93,465 for the three months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $40,102 for the three months ended June 30, 2019. The increase was primarily
due to an increase in legal fees and accounting fees in the current year.
Interest expense
Interest expense for the three months ended June 30, 2020 was $1,182,619, consisting of interest expense of $23,942 and amortization of debt issuance costs of
approximately $1,158,677 related to the Company’s convertible promissory notes totaling $855,000.
Six Months Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
Revenues
Revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was $220,504 compared to $77,626 for the six months ended June 30, 2019. In the six months ended June 30, 2020,
we generated our revenue through acting as a distributor of third-party medical devices in Russia (including those purchased from a company affiliated with one of our offices
and directors). In the six months ended June 30, 2019, our revenue was related to data analysis of the EEG software.
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General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses were $387,147 for the six months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $321,527 for the six months ended June 30, 2019. The
increase in general and administrative expenses were primarily due to an increase in consulting fees related to the Company listing on the OTC and medical consultants related
to the preparation of submission of the revised Neurocaps to the FDA. In addition, wages increased in the current quarter due to the accrual of salaries pursuant to employment
agreements in the current year.
Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses were $143,345 for the six months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $50,066 for the six months ended June 30, 2019. The
increase was primarily due to an increase in development activities surrounding the development of a new, modified version of the NeuroCap.
Professional fees
Professional fees were $217,073 for the six months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $151,175 for the six months ended June 30, 2019. The increase was primarily
due to an increase in accounting and legal fees in the current year.
Interest expense
Interest expense, for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was $1,636,235, of which, approximately $1,590,400 is related to the amortization of debt discount and noncash interest expense related to the Company’s convertible promissory notes. An additional $45,835 is related to interest expense related to the Company’s convertible notes
and promissory notes. Interest expense for the six months ended June 30, 2019 was $19,024, consisting of interest expense of $9,964 and amortization of debt issuance costs of
$7,704 related to the Company’s convertible promissory notes totaling $230,000, as well as interest expense related to a lease of $1,356.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
While we have generated revenue in 2019 and 2020, we anticipate that we will continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, substantially all of such
revenue was generated through acting as a distributor of third-party medical devices in Russia, and we did not have any material sales of our products. We anticipate that our
expenses will increase substantially as we develop our products and pursue pre-clinical testing and clinical trials, seek any further regulatory approvals, contract to manufacture
any products, establish our own sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure to commercialize our products, hire additional staff, add operational, financial and management
systems and operate as a public company.
Historically, our primary source of cash has been proceeds from the sale of convertible promissory notes and related party loans. On December 31, 2019, we issued
and sold to a third party a convertible note in the original principal amount of $275,000, and a warrant to purchase 100,000 shares of our common stock, pursuant to which we
received $250,000 after an original issue discount of $25,000. We have also from time to time issued shares of our common stock to individuals and entities as payment for
services rendered to us in lieu of cash.
All of our then-outstanding convertible promissory notes, in the aggregate principal amount plus interest through September 21, 2018 of $2,275,050, converted into
aggregate of 5,687,630 shares of our common stock upon or immediately after the closing of the Acquisition.
In connection with the private placement of the convertible promissory notes, we paid the placement agent a cash fee of $117,880, in addition to equity compensation
in the form of common stock purchase warrants.
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We have no current source of revenue to sustain our present activities other than as acting as a distributor of medical devices in Russia (including those purchased from
a company affiliated with one of our offices and directors), which is not our primary business goal, and we do not expect to generate material revenue, from our products until,
and unless, the FDA or other regulatory authorities approve our products under development and we successfully commercialize our products. Until such time, if ever, as we
can generate substantial product revenue, we expect to finance our cash needs through our distributorship revenue, a combination of equity (preferred stock or common stock)
and debt financings as well as collaborations, strategic alliances and licensing arrangements. We do not have any committed external source of funds. To the extent that we raise
additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the ownership interest of our stockholders will be diluted, and the terms of these securities may
include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect your rights as a common stockholder. Debt financing, if available, may involve agreements that include covenants
limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. If we raise additional funds
through collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing arrangements with third-party partners, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue
streams or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings or through collaborations,
strategic alliances or licensing arrangements when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our Product development, future commercialization efforts,
or grant rights to develop and market our cortical strip, grid electrode and depth electrode technology that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.
Our independent registered public accounting firm included an explanatory paragraph in its report on our financial statements as of and for the years ended December
31, 2019 and 2018, noting the existence of substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. This uncertainty arose from management’s review of our results of
operations and financial condition and its conclusion that, based on our operating plans, we did not have sufficient existing working capital to sustain operations for a period of
twelve months from the date of the issuance of these financial statements.
We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents, without raising additional funds or generating revenues, will be sufficient to fund our operating expenses only to
approximately October 2020.
In January 2019, we commenced a convertible note offering for up to $500,000, of which we have raised $380,000 through July 23, 2019. In December 2019, we also
raised an aggregate gross amount of $275,000, less a $25,000 original issue discount, from an investor pursuant to a securities purchase agreement. In April 2020, existing
stockholders of the Company agreed to advance to the Company an aggregate amount of $250,000 pursuant to the terms of Convertible Grid Promissory Notes. As of July 9,
2020, a total aggregate amount of $250,000 has been advanced pursuant to the terms of the grid notes. We may obtain additional financing in the future through the issuance of
our common stock, through other equity or debt financings or through collaborations or partnerships with other companies. We may not be able to raise additional capital on
terms acceptable to us, or at all, and any failure to raise capital as and when needed could compromise our ability to execute on our business plan.
The development of our products is subject to numerous uncertainties, and we have based these estimates on assumptions that may prove to be substantially different
than we currently anticipate and could use our cash resources sooner than we expect. Additionally, the process of developing medical devices is costly, and the timing of
progress in pre-clinical tests and clinical trials is uncertain. Our ability to successfully transition to profitability will be dependent upon achieving a level of product sales
adequate to support our cost structure. We cannot assure you that we will ever be profitable or generate positive cash flow from operating activities.
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Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash used in operating activities was $414,135 for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to $581,044 for the six months ended June 30, 2019. This
fluctuation is primarily due to an increase in net loss of approximately $2,151,000 offset by an increase in accounts payable and changes in accrued expenses third party and
related party of approximately $340,000 and an increase in the amortization of debt discount and non-cash interest expense of approximately $1,583,000, and an increase in loss
from the change in fair value of derivative liabilities of approximately $334,000. Additionally there was an approximately $33,000 increase in common stock issued for services.
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in investing activities was $0 for the six months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $1,005 for the six months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease is due to
no new purchases of fixed assets in the six months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to June 30, 2019.
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities was $220,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2020, which primarily consisted of the sale of the Company’s convertible
promissory notes for aggregate gross proceeds of $200,000 as well as proceeds from the issuance of a third-party promissory note of $20,000.
Net cash provided by financing activities was $445,153 for the six months ended June 30, 2019, which primarily consisted of the sale of the Company’s convertible
promissory notes for aggregate gross proceeds of $230,000 as well as proceeds from a related party loan of $215,000.
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
The following table sets forth the results of operations of the Company for the years Ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.
Years Ended
December 31,
Revenues
General and administrative
Research and development
Professional fees
Interest expense
Other income

$
$
$
$
$
$

2019
489,202
532,312
103,616
255,332
32,922
2,108

$
$
$
$
$
$

2018
58,113
675,882
210,206
271,718
159,165
18,186

Period to
Period Change
$
431,089
$
(143,570)
$
(106,590)
$
(16,386)
$
(126,243)
$
(16,078)

Revenues
Revenue for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 was $489,202 compared to $58,113 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. In the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2019, we generated all of our revenue through acting as a distributor of third-party medical devices in Russia (including those purchased from a company
affiliated with one of our offices and directors), and we did not have any sales of our Products. In the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, our revenue was resulting from
finalizing development of our NeuroCap product and commencement of sales in 2018.
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General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses were $532,312 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, compared to $675,882 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018.
In the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, general and administrative expenses were primarily related to approximately $274,000 in payroll related expenses, approximately
$48,000 in travel costs, approximately $45,000 in consulting fees and approximately $66,000 in insurance expense. In the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, general and
administrative costs were primarily related to approximately $430,000 in consulting and compensation expense, approximately $54,000 in travel costs and approximately
$40,000 in software development costs and approximately $30,000 in insurance expense. The decrease in spending in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 was primarily
attributable to a decrease in consulting costs.
Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses were $103,616 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, compared to $210,206 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018.
The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in development activities and a focus on growth of the operations of the Company.
Interest expense
Interest expense, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 was $32,922, the majority of which related to the Company’s convertible promissory notes. Interest
expense, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 was $159,165, consisting of interest expense and amortization of debt issuance costs of approximately $156,000 related to
the Company’s convertible promissory notes and interest expense related to the Ichor lease of approximately $3,600. The decrease was due to few convertible notes in the year
ended December 31, 2019 and no debt issuance costs related to the convertible notes that were issued during fiscal year 2019.
Other income
Other income for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 was $2,108 compared to $18,186 in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. The company recorded
$2,108 in other income related to the write of off a payable in the year ended December 31, 2019. In the year ended December 31, 2018, other income was related to a gain on
sale of accessories provided for research and development testing of approximately $7,500 and income related to the sublease of warehouse space to a related party of
approximately $10,600.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash used in operating activities was $854,726 for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to $1,112,690 for the year ended December 31, 2018. This
fluctuation is primarily due to an decrease in net loss of $422,237 in fiscal 2019 along with an increase in accounts payable and accounts payable related party of approximately
$137,000 in the year ended December 31, 2019.
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in investing activities was $1,005 for the year ended December 31, 2019, which consisted of the purchase of property and equipment.
Net cash used in investing activities was $1,143 for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities was $953,238 for the year ended December 31, 2019, which primarily consisted of the sale of the Company’s convertible
promissory notes for aggregate gross proceeds of $630,000 and proceeds from related party loans in the amount of $273,084.
Net cash provided by financing activities was $979,868 for the year ended December 31, 2018, which primarily consisted of the sale of the Company’s convertible
promissory notes for aggregate gross proceeds of $964,120.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS
The following table sets forth the names and ages of the members of our board of directors and our executive officers and the positions held by each.
Name
Boris (Baruch) Goldstein
Nickolay Kukekov
Mark Corrao

Age
56
46
62

Position
Chairman of the Board, Secretary and Executive Vice President
Director
Chief Financial Officer

Boris (Baruch) Goldstein, Chairman of the Board, Secretary and Executive Vice President. Dr. Goldstein is the founder and has been Chairman of the Board of
MemoryMD since its inception, and has been the executive Chairman of the Board of the Company since the Closing of the Acquisition and Executive Vice President since
January 2019. Dr. Goldstein is a serial entrepreneur, having founded or co-founded over a dozen private companies over the past 10 years alone. Since February 2014, he is the
founder and Chairman of Potbotics Inc., a private data aggregation and technology company focused on the global medical cannabis market. Since April 2015, he is the
founder, Dr. Goldstein is also since July 2016 the founder and the Chairman of the Board of Nano Graphene Inc., a private, commercial scale graphene and graphene based
materials producer and supply company. Dr. Goldstein is the founder in November 2016 and the president of High Technology Capital Fund and High Technology Capital
Management LLC, and is a partner in High Accelerator, which helps build and support next generation technologies.
Dr. Goldstein received his B.A., MBA and Ph.D. in Applied Mathematics from Latvian Technical University.
The Company believes that Dr. Goldstein is qualified to serve as Chairman of the Board due to his extensive experience as a founder and operator of numerous start-up
and other companies, and due his role as a founder of MemoryMD.
Nickolay V. Kukekov, Director . Dr. Kukekov has been a member of MemoryMD’s Board of Directors since September 2017, and a member of the Board of the
Company since the Closing of the Acquisition. Dr. Kukekov currently serves as the managing director of HRA Capital (formerly Highline Research Advisors), a division of
Corinthian Partners L.L.C. Prior to forming Highline Research Advisors in 2012, Dr. Kukekov was the Managing Director of Healthcare Investment Banking at Summer Street
Research from October 2010 to August 2012. In September 2009, Dr. Kukekov was a co-founder of the Healthcare Investment Banking group at Gilford Securities. From
December 2007 to July 2009, Dr. Kukekov served as the managing director of Paramount BioCapital, where he ran the advisory, M&A and capital raising services for in-house
private and public portfolio companies. Dr. Kukekov holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Molecular, Cellular and Developmental Biology from the University of Colorado at
Boulder and a Ph.D. in Neuroscience from Columbia University, College of Physicians and Surgeons in New York.
The Company believes that Dr. Kukekov is qualified to serve as a member of the Board of Directors due to his extensive experience in healthcare and medical device
investment banking.
Mark Corrao, Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Corrao has been the part-time chief financial officer of MemoryMD since August 2018 and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company since November 2018. He is a Managing Director for the CFO Squad, an accounting firm that specializes in pre-audit accounting for public and private companies,
which provides those services to the Company. Additionally, Mr. Corrao is currently the Chief Financial Officer for Generex Biotechnology Corporation and Kannalife
Sciences, Inc. Mr. Corrao was formerly a founder and Chief Financial Officer of Strikeforce Technologies, Inc., a publicly traded software development and services company
specializing in the development of a suite of integrated computer network security products. In addition to the ten years of his service at Strikeforce, Mr. Corrao has spent
numerous years in the public accounting arena specializing in certified auditing, SEC accounting, corporate taxation and financial planning. Mr. Corrao’s background also
includes numerous years on Wall Street with Merrill Lynch, Spear Leeds & Kellogg and Greenfield Arbitrage Partners. While on Wall Street Mr. Corrao was involved in
several IPO’s and has been a guiding influence in several start-up companies. Prior to joining StrikeForce, he was a Director at Applied Digital Solutions from December 2000
through December 2001. Mr. Corrao was a Vice President and Chief Financial Officer at Advanced Communications Sciences from March 1997 through December 2000. Mr.
Corrao has a B.S. in Accounting from CUNY.
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Family Relationship
There are no family relationships between any of our officers and directors.
Structure and Operation of the Board
We do not have standing audit, compensation or nominating committees of our Board. However, the full Board performs all of the functions of a standing audit
committee, compensation committee and nominating committee. The Board currently consists of two directors: Dr. Goldstein (Chairman) and Mr. Kukekov. The following is a
brief description of these functions of the Board:
Nomination of Directors
The Board does not currently have a standing nominating committee, and thus we do not have a nominating committee charter. Due to our small size and limited
operations to date, the Board determined that it was appropriate for the entire Board to act as the nominating committee. The full Board currently has the responsibility of
selecting individuals to be nominated for election to the Board. Board candidates are typically identified by existing directors or members of management. The Board will
consider director candidates recommended by stockholders. Any such candidates will be evaluated on the same basis as other candidates being evaluated by the Board.
Information with respect to such candidates should be sent to Brain Scientific Inc., c/o CEO, 205 East 42 nd Street, 14th Floor, New York, New York 10017. The Board
considers the needs for the Board as a whole when identifying and evaluating nominees and, among other things, considers diversity in background, age, experience,
qualifications, attributes and skills in identifying nominees, although it does not have a formal policy regarding the consideration of diversity.
Audit Committee Related Function
We do not have a standing audit committee, and thus we do not have an audit committee charter. Due to our small size and limited operations to date, the Board
determined that it was appropriate for the entire Board to act as the audit committee. The Board intends to review with management and the Company’s independent public
accountants the Company’s financial statements, the accounting principles applied in their preparation, the scope of the audit, any comments made by the independent
accountants upon the financial condition of the Company and its accounting controls and procedures and such other matters as the Board deems appropriate. Because the
Company’s common stock is quoted on the OTCQB market tier, the Company is not subject to the listing requirements of any securities exchange regarding audit committee
related matters.
Audit Committee Financial Expert
We do not have an audit committee financial expert, because we do not have an audit committee.
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Risk Oversight
The Board’s risk oversight is administered primarily through the following:
●

review and approval of an annual business plan;

●

review of a summary of risks and opportunities at meetings of the Board;

●

review of business developments, business plan implementation and financial results;

●

oversight of internal controls over financial reporting; and

●

review of employee compensation and its relationship to our business plans.

Due to the small size and early stage of the Company, we have not adopted a formal policy on whether the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer positions should be
separate or combined.
Compensation Committee Related Function
The Board does not currently have a standing compensation committee, and thus we do not have a compensation committee charter. Due to our small size and limited
operations to date, the Board determined that it was appropriate for the entire Board to act as the compensation committee. The full Board currently has the responsibility for
reviewing and establishing compensation for executive officers and making policy decisions concerning salaries and incentive compensation for executive officers of the
Company.
The Company’s executive compensation program is administered by the Board, which determines the compensation of the Chief Executive Officer and other executive
officers of the Company. In reviewing the compensation of the individual executive officers (other than the Chief Executive Officer), the Board considers the recommendations
of the Chief Executive Officer, published compensation surveys and current market conditions.
Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings
To our knowledge, our directors and executive officers have not been involved in any of the following events during the past ten years:
1.

any bankruptcy petition filed by or against such person or any business of which such person was a general partner or executive officer either at the time of the
bankruptcy or within two years prior to that time;

2.

any conviction in a criminal proceeding or being subject to a pending criminal proceeding (excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses);

3.

being subject to any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of competent jurisdiction, permanently or temporarily
enjoining him from or otherwise limiting his involvement in any type of business, securities or banking activities or to be associated with any person practicing in
banking or securities activities;

4.

being found by a court of competent jurisdiction in a civil action, the SEC or the Commodity Futures Trading Commission to have violated a Federal or state
securities or commodities law, and the judgment has not been reversed, suspended, or vacated;

5.

being subject of, or a party to, any Federal or state judicial or administrative order, judgment decree, or finding, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated,
relating to an alleged violation of any Federal or state securities or commodities law or regulation, any law or regulation respecting financial institutions or insurance
companies, or any law or regulation prohibiting mail or wire fraud or fraud in connection with any business entity; or

6.

being subject of or party to any sanction or order, not subsequently reversed, suspended, or vacated, of any self-regulatory organization, any registered entity or any
equivalent exchange, association, entity or organization that has disciplinary authority over its members or persons associated with a member.
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COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
Executive Officer Compensation
Summary Compensation Table
The following table sets forth information regarding each element of compensation that was paid or awarded to the named executive officers of the Company for the
periods indicated.

Year
2019

Salary
($)
32,000

-

Stock Awards
($)
-

2018

93,000

-

-

Jesse W. Crowne (1)
Former Chief Executive
Officer

2019

53,333

-

-

2018

-

-

-

Vadim Sakharov (2)
President and Chief
Technology Officer

2019

-

-

-

2018

83,000

-

-

Mark Corrao (3)
Chief Financial Officer

2019
2018

18,000
7,500

-

Amer Samad (4)

2019
2018

-

-

Name and Principal Position
Boris (Baruch) Goldstein
Chairman and Executive Vice
President

Bonus
($)

Option
Awards
($)
13,689(5)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation
($)

All Other
Compensation
($)
-

-

Total
($)
45,689

-

-

93,000

-

-

55,699

-

-

-

-

-

3,432

-

-

-

83,000

-

-

-

-

18,000
7,500

-

-

-

-

-

2,366(6)
3,422(7)

(1) Mr. Crowne was appointed as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer on January 25, 2019 and resigned as Chief Executive Officer on May 31, 2019.
(2) Mr. Sakhavov also previously served as Chief Executive Officer. He resigned as Chief Executive Officer on January 25, 2019. He was paid pursuant to a consulting
agreement with the Company which was replaced with an employment agreement. On September 22, 2020, Vadim Sakharov resigned as the president, Chief Technology
Officer and a member of the Board of the Company.
(3) Mr. Corrao commenced his position as an at-will, part-time CFO of the Company in August 2018. He is paid a monthly fee for his services of $1,500.
(4) Mr. Samad was the President, CEO, CFO and Secretary of All Soft Gels from November 27, 2017 until his resignation on September 21, 2018.
(5) Represents grant date fair value computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The following assumptions were used in the valuation: (i) expected life 10 years, (ii)
volatility of 77%, (iii) risk free rate of 2.71% (iv) dividend rate of zero, (v) stock price of $0.042, and (vi) exercise price of $0.75.
(6) Represents grant date fair value computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The following assumptions were used in the valuation: (i) expected life 10 years, (ii)
volatility of 77%, (iii) risk free rate of 2.71% (iv) dividend rate of zero, (v) stock price of $0.042, and (vi) exercise price of $0.75.
(7) Represents grant date fair value computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The following assumptions were used in the valuation: (i) expected life 10 years, (ii)
volatility of 77%, (iii) risk free rate of 2.71% (iv) dividend rate of zero, (v) stock price of $0.042, and (vi) exercise price of $0.75.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End
The following table presents the outstanding equity awards held by each of the named executive officers as of the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.
Option Awards

Name
Boris
Goldstein
Vadim
Sakharov

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
Exercisable

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
Unexercisable

Stock Awards

Option
Exercise Price

Option
Expiration
Date

Market
value of
Shares of
Units of
Stock That
Have Not
Vested

Number of
Shares or
Units of
Stock That
Have Not
Vested

Equity Incentive
Plan Awards:
Number of
Unearned Shares,
Units or Other
Rights That Have
Not Vested

Equity Incentive
Plan Awards:
Market or Payout
Value of
Unearned Shares,
Units or Other
Rights That Have
Not Vested

500,000

300,000

$

0.75

01/14/29

–

–

–

–

125,000

75,000

$

0.75

01/14/29

–

–

–

–

Long-Term Incentive Plans and Awards
In August, 2018, our board of directors adopted and stockholders approved the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan. There were 1,000,000 outstanding equity awards granted
under the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan as of the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.
Director Compensation
There were no amounts paid or stock awards made to our non-employee directors during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.
Messrs. Goldstein, Crowne and Sakharov received compensation for their services to the Company as set forth under the summary execution compensation table
above. In 2019, our directors were entitled to reimbursement for expenses incurred by them in connection with attending board meetings. Our directors also were eligible for
stock option grants and other equity grants.
Employment Agreements
Jesse W. Crowne
The Company and Mr. Crowne entered into an employment agreement, effective as of January 25, 2019. Under the employment agreement, Mr. Crowne was to
receive an initial annual base salary of $160,000, which would be increased to $175,000 per annum in the event the Company is successful in raising at least $1,000,000 (the
“Capital Raise”) from the date of the employment agreement. In addition, Mr. Crowne could receive an annual cash bonus of up to $40,000 based on Mr. Crowne’s performance
as determined by the Company’s Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, and would receive a $30,000 sign-on bonus payable in two tranches. Mr. Crowne was
also entitled to participate in the Company’s long-term incentive compensation plans generally made available to senior executives of the Company, pursuant to which the
Company issued to Mr. Crowne options to purchase 800,000 (or 1,000,000 in the event of a Capital Raise) shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.75
per share, of which 200,000 (or 250,000 in the event of a Capital Raise) shares shall vest on the one year anniversary of the date of grant, and 600,000 (or 750,000 in the event
of a Capital Raise) shall vest ratably on a quarterly basis over the following two years.
In the event Mr. Crowne’s employment were terminated as a result of death during or disability, Mr. Crowne or his beneficiaries or legal representatives would be
provided any earned base salary and all benefits payable under any employee benefit plan applicable at the time or termination (the “Unconditional Entitlements”).
In the event of the Mr. Crowne’s termination for cause or termination by Mr. Crowne other than for a good reason, Mr. Crowne would be provided the Unconditional
Entitlements.
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In the event of a termination by Mr. Crowne for good reason or by the Company without cause, Mr. Crowne would be provided the Unconditional Entitlements and the
Company would provide Mr. Crowne his base salary then in effect for a period of 12 months after the date of termination (provided that the Company is successful in raising at
least $2,000,000 from the date of the employment agreement), 100% of the cost of premiums for COBRA for a period of 12 months from the date of termination, acceleration of
the vesting his stock options, and continued vesting of any restricted stock or other equity awards subject to vesting.
The employment agreement contained customary non-competition and non-solicitation provisions in favor of the Company. Mr. Crowne also agreed to customary
terms regarding confidentiality and ownership of intellectual property.
As noted above, Mr. Crowne resigned as Chief Executive Officer on May 31, 2019. He resigned as a director of the Company on November 14, 2019. His options
were forfeited.
Boris Goldstein
On March 25, 2020, the Company and Mr. Goldstein entered into an employment agreement, effective as of January 30, 2020 (the “Goldstein Employment
Agreement”). Under the Goldstein Employment Agreement, Mr. Goldstein will receive an initial annual base salary of $180,000, which shall be reviewed annually and may be
increased, but not decreased, by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, or if there be no such Compensation Committee, the Board of Directors (in either case,
the “Committee”). In addition, Mr. Goldstein shall be eligible to receive an annual cash bonus equal to a target of 50% of his annual base salary, based on the Company’s
achievement of certain performance metrics and goals as may be determined by the Committee in consultation with Mr. Goldstein prior to or promptly following the beginning
of each fiscal year. Mr. Goldstein shall also be entitled to participate in any stock option, performance share, performance unit or other equity based long-term incentive
compensation plan, program or arrangement generally made available to senior executive officers of the Company, pursuant to which the Company issued to Mr. Goldstein
options to purchase 800,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.75 per share, which shall vest ratably on a quarterly basis over the following two
years.
In the event Mr. Goldstein’s employment is terminated as a result of death or disability, Mr. Goldstein or his estate shall be provided any earned base salary, any
earned but unpaid annual bonus for the year prior to termination (the “Prior Year Bonus”), a pro-rated annual bonus for the year of termination (the “Pro-Rated Bonus), if any,
reimbursement of any unpaid business expenses and accrued vacation, and, in the event of termination for disability, all benefits payable under any employee benefit plan
applicable at the time of termination.
In the event Mr. Goldstein’s employment is terminated for cause or by Mr. Goldstein without good reason, Mr. Goldstein shall forfeit the right to receive any and all
further payments under the Goldstein Employment Agreement, other than the right to receive any unpaid earned annual base salary, the Prior Year Bonus, reimbursement of
business expenses and accrued vacation, if any, and benefits payable under any employee benefit plan applicable at the time of termination, in each case as accrued through the
date of termination.
In the event Mr. Goldstein’s employment is terminated by Mr. Goldstein for good reason or by the Company without cause, Mr. Goldstein shall be paid (i) his accrued
but unpaid annual base salary as of the termination date, (ii) his annual base salary then in effect for a period of 24 months after the date of termination (or 60 months if the
termination without cause or for good reason occurs within 24 months of a change of control (as defined in the Goldstein Employment Agreement)), (iii) the target annual bonus
for the year of termination, if any, (iv) any unpaid Prior Year Bonus, (v) reimbursement of unpaid business expenses and the dollar value of any unused and accrued vacation
days, and (vi) 100% of the cost of premiums for COBRA for a period of 12 months from the date of termination. In addition, 100% of any unvested portion of Mr. Goldstein’s
outstanding option grants shall immediately vest and become exercisable and remain exercisable for the periods specified in such option.
The Goldstein Employment Agreement contains customary non-competition and non-solicitation provisions in favor of the Company. Mr. Goldstein also agreed to
customary terms regarding confidentiality and ownership of intellectual property.
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Vadim Sakharov
On March 25, 2020, the Company and Mr. Sakharov entered into an employment agreement, effective as of January 30, 2020 (the “Sakharov Employment
Agreement”). Under the Sakharov Employment Agreement, Mr. Sakharov will receive an initial annual base salary of $60,000, which shall be reviewed annually and may be
increased, but not decreased, by the Committee. In addition, Mr. Sakharov shall be eligible to receive an annual cash bonus equal to a target of 50% of his annual base salary,
based on the Company’s achievement of certain performance metrics and goals as may be determined by the Committee in consultation with Mr. Sakharov prior to or promptly
following the beginning of each fiscal year. Mr. Sakharov shall also be entitled to participate in any stock option, performance share, performance unit or other equity based
long-term incentive compensation plan, program or arrangement generally made available to senior executive officers of the Company, pursuant to which the Company issued
to Mr. Sakharov options to purchase 200,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.75 per share, which shall vest ratably on a quarterly basis over
the following two years. On September 22, 2020, Mr. Sakharov resigned as President, Chief Technology Officer and Director.
Limits on Liability and Indemnification
We provide directors and officers insurance for our current directors and officers.
Our certificate of incorporation eliminates the personal liability of our directors to the fullest extent permitted by law. The certificate of incorporation further provides
that the Company will indemnify its officers and directors to the fullest extent permitted by law. We believe that this indemnification covers at least negligence on the part of
the indemnified parties. Insofar as indemnification for liabilities under the Securities Act may be permitted to our directors, officers, and controlling persons under the foregoing
provisions or otherwise, we have been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the
Securities Act of 1933 and is therefore unenforceable.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF MANAGEMENT AND CERTAIN SECURITYHOLDERS
The following table shows the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of October 7, 2020 held by (i) each person known to us to be the beneficial owner of more
than five percent (5%) of our common stock; (ii) each director; (iii) each executive officer; and (iv) all directors and executive officers as a group.
Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC, and generally includes voting power and/or investment power with respect to the securities
held. Shares of common stock subject to options and warrants currently exercisable or which may become exercisable within 60 days of October 7, 2020 are deemed
outstanding and beneficially owned by the person holding such options or warrants for purposes of computing the number of shares and percentage beneficially owned by such
person, but are not deemed outstanding for purposes of computing the percentage beneficially owned by any other person. Except as indicated in the footnotes to this table, the
persons or entities named have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of our common stock shown as beneficially owned by them.
The following table provides for percentage ownership assuming 19,478,258 shares are issued and outstanding as of October 7, 2020. Unless otherwise indicated, the
address of each beneficial holder of our common stock is our corporate address.
Shares of
Common Stock
Beneficially
Owned

Name of Beneficial Owner
Greater Than 5% Stockholders
High Technology Capital Fund LP(1)
Lifestyle Healthcare LLC (2)
Andrew Brown(3)
Thomas J Caleca(4)
Named Executive Officers and Directors
Boris (Baruch) Goldstein(1)(5)
Nickolay Kukekov (6)
Mark Corrao
All Directors and Officers as a Group (3 persons)

% of Shares of
Common Stock
Beneficially
Owned

6,749,000
1,384,980
2,459,063
2,302,878

34.6%
7.1%
12.2%
11.4%

8,556,242
1,484,980
10,151,222

41.5%
7.6%
48.5%

(1) Dr. Goldstein is the manager of High Technology Capital Management LLC (“LLC”), the general partner of High Technology Capital Fund LP (“LP”). As the manager of
the LLC, Dr. Goldstein has voting and dispositive control over the shares owned by the LP. Dr. Goldstein disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares except to the extent
of his pecuniary interest therein.
(2) The address of Lifestyle Healthcare is 4524 Westway Avenue, Dallas, TX 75205. Nickolay Kukekov has voting and dispositive power over the shares. Dr. Kukekov
disclaims beneficial ownership of these shares except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein.
(3) The address of Mr. Brown is 300 Prospect Avenue, Hackensack, NJ 07601. Includes 750,000 warrants that have vested or will vest within 60 days of October 7, 2020.
(4) Includes 750,000 warrants that have vested or will vest within 60 days of October 7, 2020.
(5) Of such shares, 6,749,000 are held of record by High Technology Capital Fund LP and 337,450 are held of record by Irina Migalina, Dr. Goldstein’s wife. Includes an
aggregate of 1,141,667 options that have vested or will vest within 60 days of October 7, 2020. Dr. Goldstein disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares except to the
extent of his pecuniary interest therein.
(6) Includes 1,384,980 held by Lifestyle Healthcare LLC and 100,000 shares of our common stock underlying warrants issued to Dr. Kukekov. Dr. Kukekov disclaims beneficial
ownership of the shares held by Lifestyle except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein.
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INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
During the year ended December 31, 2017, an entity controlled by Vadim Sakharov, the Company’s then CEO and current President and CTO, provided a noninterest-bearing, no-term loan to the Company. The Company repaid that loan in full during the year ended December 31, 2018. During the year ended December 31, 2018, an
entity controlled by Mr. Sakharov provided a $50,000 non-interest-bearing, no-term loan to the Company. An additional $5,530 of non-interest bearing no-term proceeds were
loaned to the Company during the year ended December 31, 2019. As of June 30, 2020, and December 31, 2019, the balance was $55,530 and $55,530, respectively.
On May 9, 2017, MemoryMD entered into a sublease agreement with Nano Graphene Inc., a company controlled by Dr. Goldstein and his affiliates. In the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018 Nano Graphene paid rent, of $0 and $10,626, respectively, for warehouse space in the facility.
During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had expenses related to research and development costs of $50,713 and $59,788, respectively, to
an entity controlled by Mr. Sakharov. During the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company had expenses related to research and development costs of $12,800
and $27,390, respectively, to an entity controlled by Mr. Sakharov. On September 22, 2020, Mr. Sakharov resigned as President, Chief Technology Officer and Director.
During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had expenses related to marketing and sales costs of $0 and $15,000, respectively, to entities
controlled by the Company’s Chairman.
During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had expenses related to consulting fees of $0 and $83,377, respectively, to Mr. Sakharov.
Nickolay Kukekov, a director of the Company, was a Partner of HRA Capital. HRA Capital, through Corinthian Partners, LLC, acted as placement agent for
MemoryMD’s convertible note offerings pursuant to which Corinthian received aggregate fees of $117,880 and warrants to purchase an estimated 291,740 shares of Company
common stock.
In May 2018, we entered into a Patent Assignment and License Back Agreement with Boris Goldstein, our Chairman, Secretary and Executive Vice President, Dmitriy
Prilutskiy, Stanislav Zabodaev and Medical Computer Systems Ltd. Pursuant to the agreement, among other things, Messrs. Goldstein, Prilutskiy and Zabodaev assigned all of
their rights to a patent entitled “Apparatus And Method For Conducting Electroencephalography” (Application No.: 15/898,611), to our Company, and in return, we granted to
Medical Computer Systems Ltd., an unaffiliated entity who also provides manufacturing services to us, a limited, royalty-free, fully paid-up, worldwide, nonexclusive license
(without the right to sublicense or assign), to the patent, to practice, make and use the inventions, ideas and information embodied therein, and to make, use, offer to sell, sell,
lease or import products, services, processes, methods and materials embodying or deriving from the inventions, ideas and information from the patent and any activities
derived directly therefrom; provided, however, that if and upon FDA approval of a Product, Medical Computer Systems’ aforementioned rights shall be limited to
manufacturing and sales solely to our Company or on our behalf provided that we purchase from Medical Computer Systems (and Medical Computer Systems makes available
for sale) a minimum of 20,000 units of Products per calendar year on reasonable terms and conditions to be determined by the parties in good faith; provided further, however,
that Medical Computer Systems can without any limitation sell products embodying or deriving from the inventions, ideas and information from the patent in (i) the territories
that made up the former USSR (excluding the Baltic countries) and (ii) Japan. In furtherance of the foregoing first provision, in the event we fail to purchase the annual
minimum order for a particular calendar year, Medical Computer Systems’ limitation to manufacture and sell Products only to our Company pursuant to this proviso shall be
suspended for the next calendar year.
On September 1, 2018, the Company entered into a sublease agreement with a company controlled by the Company’s Chairman, whereby the Company makes
payments to the related party for shared office space. This lease was terminated on March 31, 2019. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company made
approximately $4,900 and $6,202, respectively, in rent payments to the related party. For the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company has made approximately
$0 and $4,900, respectively, in rent payments to the related party.
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During the year ended December 31, 2019, an affiliate of Boris Goldstein, the Company’s Chairman of the Board, provided an aggregate total of $50,000, in a noninterest-bearing, no-term loan to the Company. As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the balance was $50,000 and $50,000, respectively.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, an affiliate of Nickolay Kukekov, a director of the Company, provided an aggregate total of $217,000 in non-interestbearing, no-term loans to the Company. As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the balance was $217,000 and $217,000, respectively.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, we purchased an aggregate of $386,421 of medical devices for resale and distribution from Neurotech, a company that Mr.
Sakharov is a shareholder and executive manager. During the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company purchased an aggregate of $167,659 and $47,042 of
medical devices for resale and distribution from Neurotech.
The Acquisition
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement for the Acquisition whereby Memory MD, Inc. became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, each holder of MemoryMD
Shares outstanding immediately prior to the Closing received shares of our common stock in exchange therefore based on the Exchange Ratio, with all fractional shares rounded
up to the nearest whole share. Accordingly, we issued 675,575 and 337,450 shares of our common stock to Messrs. Goldstein (and his wife) and Sakharov, respectively and
6,749,000 shares of our common stock to High Technology Capital Fund LP, an affiliate of Dr. Goldstein. Furthermore, as of the Closing, Mr. Amer Samad, the sole director
and executive officer of All Soft Gels, committed to tender for cancellation 6,495,000 shares of our common stock as part of the conditions to Closing, of which 6,375,000
shares have been subsequently cancelled and of which 120,000 shares are expected to be tendered to us for cancellation as soon as practicable. The Merger Agreement also
provided that Drs. Goldstein and Kukekov be appointed as a director of the Company upon the Closing of the Acquisition.
Related Person Transaction Policy
The Board reviews, approves and oversees any transaction between us and any related person and any other potential conflict of interest situations on an ongoing basis,
in accordance with our policies and procedures, and develops policies and procedures for the approval of related party transactions. Prior to consideration of a transaction with a
related person, the material facts as to the related person’s relationship or interest in the transaction are disclosed to the disinterested directors. The transaction is not approved
unless a majority of the members of the Board who are not interested in the transaction approve the transaction. The Board takes into account, among other factors that it deems
appropriate, whether the related person transaction is on terms no less favorable to us than terms generally available in a transaction with an unrelated third-party under the same
or similar circumstances and the extent of the related person’s interest in the related person transaction. Our current policy with respect to approval of related person transactions
is not set forth in writing.
Director Independence
None of our directors is independent as that term is defined under the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules.
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SECURITIES BEING OFFERED
We are offering up to 1,111,111 Units, each consisting of five (5) shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share, and a warrant to purchase one (1) share of
common stock, in this Offering.
Our authorized capital stock consists of 200,000,000 shares of common stock, with a par value of $0.001 per share, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, with a
par value of $0.001 per share.
Common Stock
Each holder of common stock is entitled to one vote for each share of common stock held of record by such holder with respect to all matters to be voted on or
consented to by our stockholders, except as may otherwise be required by applicable Nevada law. A vote by the holders of a majority of the Company’s outstanding shares is
required to effectuate certain fundamental corporate changes such as liquidation, merger or an amendment to the Company’s certificate of incorporation. Holders of the
Company’s common stock are entitled to share in all dividends that the board of directors, in its discretion, declares from legally available funds. In the event of a liquidation,
dissolution or winding up, each outstanding share entitles its holder to participate pro rata in all assets that remain after payment of liabilities and after providing for each class
of stock, if any, having preference over the common stock. The Company’s common stock has no pre-emptive rights, no conversion rights and there are no redemption
provisions applicable to the Company’s common stock.
Blank-Check Preferred Stock
The Company’s articles of incorporation authorize the issuance of up to 10,000,000 shares of “blank check” preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share, in one or more
series, subject to any limitations prescribed by law, without further vote or action by the stockholders. Each such series of preferred stock shall have such number of shares,
designations, preferences, voting powers, qualifications, and special or relative rights or privileges as shall be determined by our board of directors, which may include, among
others, dividend rights, voting rights, liquidation preferences, conversion rights and preemptive rights.
We did not have any share of preferred stock issued and outstanding as of the date of this circular.
Warrants
The warrants being offered as part of the Units are exercisable at a price of $2.25 per share, exercisable from the closing of the offering for a term of three (3) years,
detachable from the Units upon closing of the offering. However, subject to limited exceptions as set forth in the warrant agreement, holders of the warrants may not transfer
their warrants and neither do we intend to develop a trading market for the warrants. A form of the warrant agreement is attached herein as Exhibit 4.2.
LEGAL MATTERS
Certain legal matters regarding the securities being offered by this offering circular have been passed upon for us by Sichenzia Ross Ference LLP, New York, New
York.
EXPERTS
Our audited financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 have been audited by Sadler, Gibb & Associates, LLC, an
independent registered public accounting firm. Such financial statements are included herein in reliance upon such report given on the authority of such firm as experts in
accounting and auditing.
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION
This offering circular is part of an offering statement on Form 1-A that we filed with the SEC under Regulation A promulgated under the Securities Act and does not
contain all the information set forth in the offering statement. Certain information in the offering statement has been omitted from this offering circular in accordance with the
rules and regulations of the SEC. We have also filed exhibits and schedules with the offering statement that are excluded from this offering circular. The offering statement is
available at the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.
Because we are subject to the information and reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, we file annual, quarterly and current reports, and other information with the
SEC. Our SEC filings are available to the public over the Internet at the SEC’s website.
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Brain Scientific Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
June 30,
2020
(Unaudited)

December 31,
2019

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets - related party
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

$

Property and equipment, net

67,995
6,528
371
9,628
700
85,222

$

992

TOTAL ASSETS

261,436
5,555
21,637
700
289,328
1,674

$

86,214

$

291,002

$

670,946
12,260
70,000
630,209
1,993,239
4,595
324,637
3,705,886

$

298,578
9,263
50,000
499,232
6,377
323,084
1,186,534

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expenses - related party
Notes payable
Convertible notes payable, net
Derivative liabilities
Finance lease - short term
Loans payable - related party
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES:
TOTAL LIABILITIES
Commitments and contingencies

3,705,886

1,186,534

-

-

-

-

STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized, 0 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2020 and December
31, 2019, respectively
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized, 19,397,596 and 19,380,460 shares issued and outstanding as of
June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively
Additional paid in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

19,398
2,801,025
(6,439,602)
(493)
(3,619,672)
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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86,214

19,381
2,756,798
(3,672,077)
366
(895,532 )
$

291,002

Brain Scientific Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2020
2019
REVENUE

$

86,659

$

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2020
2019

75,376

$

220,504

$

77,626

COST OF GOODS SOLD

62,832

47,042

167,814

47,042

GROSS PROFIT

23,827

28,334

52,690

30,584

46,955
93,465
47,585
10,992
178,512
377,509

27,776
40,102
12,006
23,690
120,286
223,860

143,345
217,073
88,169
22,630
387,147
858,364

50,066
151,175
59,798
45,750
321,527
628,316

(353,680 )

(195,526 )

(805,674 )

(597,732 )

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):
Interest expense
Other income
Change in fair market value of derivative liabilities
Foreign currency transaction loss
TOTAL OTHER EXPENSE

(1,182,619)
6,970
(286,598)
64
(1,462,183)

(10,971)
(10,971)

(1,636,235)
8,260
(333,817)
(59)
(1,961,851)

(19,024)
(19,024)

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES

(1,815,865)

(206,497)

(2,767,525)

(616,756)

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE
Research and development
Professional fees
Sales and marketing expenses
Occupancy expenses
General and administrative expenses
TOTAL SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

-

NET LOSS

-

(1,815,671)

-

(206,497)

-

(2,767,525)

(616,756)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
Foreign currency translation adjustment
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

$

194
(2,167,344)

$

316
(206,181 )

$

(859)
(2,768,384)

$

316
(616,440 )

NET LOSS PER COMMON SHARE
Basic and diluted

$

(0.09)

$

(0.01)

$

(0.14)

$

(0.03)

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING
Basic and diluted

19,383,794

19,218,958

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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19,382,127

19,212,328

Brain Scientific Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
Balance at December 31, 2019
Fair value of stock options vested
Issuance of common stock for services
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net loss
Balances at March 31, 2020
Fair value of stock options vested
Issuance of common stock for services
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net loss
Balances at June 30, 2020

19,380,460
3,334
19,383,794
13,802
19,397,596

$

$

19,381
3
19,384
14
19,398

$

$

Balance at December 31, 2018
Fair value of stock options vested
Issuance of common stock for services
Net loss
Balances at March 31, 2019
Fair value of stock options vested
Issuance of common stock for services
Capital contribution - related party
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net loss
Balances at June 30, 2019

19,205,624
13,334
19,218,958
13,334
19,232,292

$

$

Accumulated
Deficit

2,756,798
5,914
9,999
2,772,711
8,038
20,276
2,801,025

$

$

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
19,206
13
19,219
13
19,232

$

$

2,595,034
4,334
547
2,599,915
4,874
547
153
2,605,489

(3,672,077)
(951,660 )
(4,623,737)
(1,815,865)
(6,439,602)

$

$

(2,668,212)
(410,259 )
(3,078,471)
(206,497 )
(3,284,968)

Total

$

366
(1,053)

$

$

(687)
194
(493)

$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

Accumulated
Deficit

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

(895,532)
5,914
10,002
(1,053)
(951,660 )
(1,832,329)
8,038
20,290
194
(1,815,865)
(3,619,672)

Total

$

-

$

$

316
316

$

(53,972)
4,334
560
(410,259 )
(459,337)
4,874
560
153
316
(206,497 )
(659,931 )

Brain Scientific Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2020
2019
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss
Change in net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense
Amortization of debt discount and non-cash interest expense
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities
Fair value of stock options vested
Common stock issued for services
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Other liabilities
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accounts payable - related party
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES

$

(2,767,525)

$

682
1,590,398
333,817
13,952
30,292

$

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of property and equipment
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from convertible notes payable
Proceeds from note payable
Capital contribution - related party
NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES

(973)
(371)
(1,782)
12,009
372,369
2,997
(414,135 )

640
7,704
9,208
1,120

$

(6,332)
(609)
(2,906)
(5,030)
63,817
(31,900)
(581,044 )

(1,005 )
(1,005 )

$
$

-

$
$

$

200,000
20,000
-

$

230,000
215,000
153

$

220,000

$

445,153

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

694

NET CHANGE IN CASH
CASH AT BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD
CASH AT END OF THE PERIOD

(616,756)

$

(193,441)
261,436
67,995

316

$

(136,580)
163,563
26,983

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid for interest

$

6,280

$

-

Cash paid for taxes

$

-

$

-

Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities
Financing fees payable to a related party related to the issuance of convertible debentures

$

-

$

18,400

Debt discount and derivative liability associated with convertible notes payable

$

376,274

$

-

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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BRAIN SCIENTIFIC INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2020
(unaudited)
NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS
Brain Scientific Inc. (the “Company”), was incorporated under the laws of the state of Nevada on November 18, 2013 under the name All Soft Gels Inc. The Company on
September 21, 2018 acquired MemoryMD, Inc. (“MemoryMD”), a privately held Delaware corporation formed in February 2015. Upon completion of the acquisition,
MemoryMD is treated as the surviving entity and accounting acquirer although the Company was the legal acquirer. Accordingly, the Company’s historical financial statements
are those of MemoryMD, the surviving entity and accounting acquirer. MemoryMD is a cloud computing, data analytics and medical device technology company in the
NeuroTech and brain monitoring industries seeking to commercialize its EEG devices and caps. The Company is headquartered in New York.
Reverse Merger and Corporate Restructure
On September 21, 2018, the Company entered into a merger agreement (the “Merger Agreement”) with MemoryMD and AFGG Acquisition Corp. to acquire MemoryMD (the
“Acquisition”). The transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement were consummated on September 21, 2018 and, pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, all
outstanding shares of MemoryMD were exchanged for shares of the Company’s common stock. Accordingly, the Company acquired 100% of MemoryMD in exchange for the
issuance of shares of the Company’s common stock and MemoryMD became the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary. The Company issued an additional 4,083,252 shares of
its common stock upon the automatic conversion at the closing of an aggregate of $1,507,000 principal amount plus accrued interest of outstanding convertible promissory
notes issued by MemoryMD, and it further issued an additional 1,604,378 shares of its common stock upon the automatic conversion immediately subsequent to the closing of
an aggregate of $640,000 principal amount plus accrued interest of outstanding convertible promissory notes issued by MemoryMD. Furthermore, as of the closing, Mr. Amer
Samad, the sole director and executive officer until the consummation of the Acquisition, committed to tender for cancellation 6,495,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock as part of the conditions to closing, of which 6,375,000 have been cancelled at December 31, 2018 and 120,000 are expected to be cancelled as soon as practicable. Total
shares issued as a result of the Acquisition was 13,421,752.
The Acquisition has been accounted for as a reverse recapitalization of Brain Scientific by MemoryMD, but in substance as a capital transaction, rather than a business
combination since Brain Scientific had nominal or no operations and assets prior to and as of the closing of the Acquisition. The transaction is deemed a reverse recapitalization
and the accounting is similar to that resulting from a reverse acquisition, except that no goodwill or other intangible assets should be recorded. For accounting purposes,
MemoryMD is treated as the surviving entity and accounting acquirer although Brain Scientific was the legal acquirer. Accordingly, the Company’s historical financial
statements are those of MemoryMD.
All references to common stock, share and per share amounts have been retroactively restated to reflect the reverse recapitalization as if the transaction had taken place as of the
beginning of the earliest period presented.
Assignment and Assumption Agreement
As of immediately prior to the closing of the Acquisition, the Company entered into an Assignment and Assumption Agreement with Chromium 24 LLC, pursuant to which
Chromium 24 LLC assumed all of the Company’s remaining assets and liabilities through the closing of the Acquisition. Accordingly, as of the closing of the Acquisition, Brain
Scientific had no assets or liabilities other than the shares of MemoryMD acquired in the Acquisition.
Name Change and Increase in Authorized Shares
On September 18, 2018, the Company filed an amendment to its certificate of incorporation with the Nevada Secretary of State to change its name to Brain Scientific Inc. On
September 18, 2018, FINRA approved of the name change as well as a ticker symbol change, which was effective as of September 19, 2018. In addition, the Company
increased its authorized shares of common stock from 50,000,000 to 200,000,000 and created and authorized 10,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock.
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BRAIN SCIENTIFIC INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2020
(unaudited)
Unaudited Interim Financial Information
The Company has prepared the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “SEC”) for interim financial reporting. These consolidated financial statements are unaudited and, in the Company’s opinion, include all adjustments, consisting of normal
recurring adjustments and accruals necessary for a fair presentation of its balance sheets, operating results, and cash flows for the periods presented. Operating results for the
periods presented are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for 2020. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in consolidated
financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) have been omitted in accordance with the rules and
regulations of the SEC. These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and accompanying notes.
NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP.
Principles of Consolidation
The Company evaluates the need to consolidate affiliates based on standards set forth in ASC 810 Consolidation (“ASC 810”).
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, MemoryMD and MemoryMD - Russia. The operations of the newly formed
100% wholly owned subsidiary, MemoryMD – Russia, are included beginning April 1, 2019. All significant consolidated transactions and balances have been eliminated in
consolidation.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates include the useful life of property and equipment and assumptions used in the valuation of options
and warrants.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid temporary cash investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. At June 30, 2020 and December
31, 2019, the Company had no cash equivalents.
The Company’s cash is held with financial institutions, and the account balances may, at times, exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance limit.
Accounts are insured by the FDIC up to $250,000 per financial institution. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts with these financial institutions. As of
June 30, 2020, and December 31, 2019, the Company had $0 and $11,436, respectively, in excess over the FDIC insurance limit.
Inventory
Inventory consists of finished goods that are valued at lower of cost or market using the weighted average method. As of June 30, 2020, and December 31, 2019, the Company
had inventory totaling $371 and $0, respectively.
Property, Equipment and Depreciation
Property and equipment are recorded at cost, less depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.
Expenditures for repair and maintenance are charged to operations as incurred. Property and equipment consisted of computer equipment, with an estimated useful life of three
years. Depreciation expense was $682 and $640 for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Depreciation expense was $341 for the three months ended June
30, 2020 and 2019.
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BRAIN SCIENTIFIC INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2020
(unaudited)
Convertible Notes Payable
The Company has issued convertible notes, which contain variable conversion features, whereby the outstanding principal and accrued interest automatically convert into
common shares at a fixed price which may be at a discount to the common stock at the time of conversion. For certain notes, the conversion features are contingent upon future
events, whereby, the holder agreed not to convert until the contingent future event has occurred.
Derivative Instruments
The Company evaluates its convertible notes and warrants to determine if those contracts or embedded components of those contracts qualify as derivatives to be separately
accounted for in accordance with ASC 815. The result of this accounting treatment is that the fair value of the embedded derivative is recorded as a liability and marked-tomarket each balance sheet date. In the event that the fair value is recorded as a liability, the change in fair value is recorded in the statements of operations as other income or
expense. Upon conversion or exercise of a derivative instrument, the instrument is marked to fair value at the conversion date and then that fair value is reclassified to equity.
The Company utilizes the Monte Carlo Method that values the liability of the debt conversion feature derivative financial instruments and derivative warrants based on a
probability of a down round event. The reason the Company selected the lattice binomial model is that in many cases there may be multiple embedded features or the features of
the bifurcated derivatives may be so complex that a Black-Scholes valuation does not consider all of the terms of the instrument. Therefore, the fair value may not be
appropriately captured by simple models.
From time to time, certain of the Company’s embedded conversion features on debt and outstanding warrants have been treated as derivative liabilities for accounting purposes
under ASC 815 due to insufficient authorized shares to fully settle conversion features of the instruments if exercised. In this case, the Company utilized the latest inception
date sequencing method to reclassify outstanding instruments as derivative instruments. These contracts were recognized at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in
earnings until such time as the conditions giving rise to such derivative liability classification were settled.
Revenue Recognition
On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASC Topic 606 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. This guidance requires an entity to recognize revenue by applying the
following steps: (1) identify the contract with a customer; (2) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (3) determine the transaction price; (4) allocate the
transaction price to each performance obligation in the contract; and (5) recognize revenue when each performance obligation is satisfied. Once the steps are met, revenue is
recognized, generally upon receiving a letter of acceptance from the customer. There has been no material effect on the Company’s financial statements as a result of adopting
Topic 606.
The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of NeuroCaps, Universal as well as revenue from the sale of goods purchased through manufacturers of medical devices. All
revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2020 is from the sale of medical devices purchased from Neurotech, a related party.
Research and Development Costs
The Company expenses all research and development costs as they are incurred. Research and development includes expenditures in connection with in-house research and
development salaries and staff costs, application and filing for regulatory approval of proposed products, regulatory and scientific consulting fees, as well as contract research,
data collection, and monitoring, related to the research and development of the cloud infrastructure, data imaging, and proprietary products and technology. Research and
development costs recognized in the statement of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 were $143,345 and $50,066, respectively. Research and
development costs recognized in the statement of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 were $46,955 and $27,776, respectively.
Sales and Marketing
Advertising and marketing costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising and marketing costs recognized in the statement of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2020
and 2019 were $47,585 and $12,006, respectively. Advertising and marketing costs recognized in the statement of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
were $88,169 and $59,798, respectively.
Stock-based Compensation
The Company measures and recognizes compensation expense for all stock-based payments at fair value over the requisite service period. The Company uses the Black-Scholes
option pricing model to determine the weighted average fair value of options and warrants. Equity-based compensation expense is recorded in administrative expenses based on
the classification of the employee or vendor. The determination of fair value of stock-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model is affected by
our stock price as well as by assumptions regarding a number of subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, the expected stock price volatility over the
term of the awards, and actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors.
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BRAIN SCIENTIFIC INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2020
(unaudited)
Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per Common Share
Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per common
share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period and, if dilutive, potential common shares outstanding
during the period. Potentially dilutive securities consist of the incremental common shares issuable upon exercise of common stock equivalents such as stock options, warrants
and convertible debt instruments. Potentially dilutive securities are excluded from the computation if their effect is anti-dilutive. As a result, the basic and diluted per share
amounts for all periods presented are identical. In the six months ended June 30, 2020 4,239,954 anti-dilutive securities were excluded from the computation.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company’s financial instruments are measured and recorded at fair value based on inputs and assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or a
liability. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. When determining fair value, management considers the principal or most advantageous market in which the Company would transact, and also considers
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, such as inherent risk, transfer restrictions, and risk of non-performance.
Fair value is determined for assets and liabilities using a three-tiered value hierarchy into which these assets and liabilities are grouped based upon significant inputs as follows:
●

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

●

Level 2 - Observable inputs, other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar
assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

●

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. This includes certain
pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs. When a determination is made to classify a
financial instrument within Level 3, the determination is based upon the lack of significance of the observable parameters to the overall fair value measurement.
However, the fair value determination for Level 3 financial instruments may consider some observable market inputs.

The lowest level of significant input determines the placement of the entire fair value measurement in the hierarchy. The carrying values of cash, prepaid expenses and other
current assets, convertible notes, accounts payable, loans payable and due to others approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these items.
The Company did not have any other Level 1 or Level 2 assets or liabilities as of June 30, 2020 and the Company did not have any other Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 assets or
liabilities as of December 31, 2019.
Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured on a Recurring Basis
Financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below and disclosed on the consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2020.
Amounts at Fair
Value
$
215,947
1,777,292
$
1,993,239

Liabilities
Derivative liability – conversion feature
Derivative liability - warrants
Total

Level 1
$
$

Level 2
-

$
$

-

$
$

Level 3
215,947
1,777,292
1,993,239

Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset-and-liability method in accordance with ASC Topic 740, “Income Taxes”. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax
bases and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in
which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on the deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rate is recognized in the period
that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is recorded if it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized in future
periods.
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BRAIN SCIENTIFIC INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2020
(unaudited)
The Company follows the guidance in ASC Topic 740-10 in assessing uncertain tax positions. The standard applies to all tax positions and clarifies the recognition of tax
benefits in the financial statements by providing for a two-step approach of recognition and measurement. The first step involves assessing whether the tax position is morelikely-than-not to be sustained upon examination based upon its technical merits. The second step involves measurement of the amount to be recognized. Tax positions that
meet the more-likely-than-not threshold are measured at the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate finalization with the
taxing authority. The Company recognizes the impact of an uncertain income tax position in the financial statements if it believes that the position is more likely than not to be
sustained by the relevant taxing authority. The Company will recognize interest and penalties related to tax positions in income tax expense. As of June 30, 2020 and December
31, 2019, the Company had no unrecognized uncertain income tax positions.
On December 22, 2017, the passage of legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“TCJA”) was enacted and significantly revised the U.S. income tax law.
The TCJA includes changes, which reduce the corporate income tax rate from 34% to 21% for years beginning after December 31, 2017. On December 22, 2017, Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 118 (“SAB 118”) was issued and allows a company to recognize provisional amounts when it does not have the necessary information available,
prepared or analysed, including computations, in reasonable detail to complete its accounting for the change in tax law. SAB 118 provides for a measurement of up to one year
from the date of enactment.
Recent Issued Accounting Pronouncements
From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the Financial Accounting Standard Board (“FASB”) or other standard setting bodies that the Company adopts
as of the specified effective date. Unless otherwise discussed, the Company does not believe that the impact of recently issued standards that are not yet effective will have a
material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations upon adoption.
In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-13, “Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments,” which requires measurement and recognition of expected credit losses at the point a loss is probable to occur, rather than expected to occur, which will generally
result in earlier recognition of allowances for credit losses. The new guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within
those fiscal years. The Company adopted ASU 2016-13 in the first quarter of 2020 and the adoption did not have a material impact on its condensed consolidated financial
statements.
NOTE 3 – GOING CONCERN
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. GAAP, which contemplate continuation of the Company as a going concern for a period of
one year from the issuance of these financial statements. For the six months ended June 30, 2020, the Company had $220,504 in revenues, a net loss of $2,767,525 and had net
cash used in operations of $414,135. Additionally, as of June 30, 2020, the Company had working capital deficit, stockholders’ deficit and accumulated deficit of $3,620,664,
$3,619,672 and $6,439,602 respectively. It is management’s opinion that these conditions raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for
a period of twelve months from the date of the issuance of these financial statements.
The financial statements do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effect on the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and classifications of
liabilities that may result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
Successful completion of the Company’s development program and, ultimately, the attainment of profitable operations are dependent upon future events, including obtaining
adequate financing to fulfil its development activities, acceptance of the Company’s patent applications and ultimately achieving a level of sales adequate to support the
Company’s cost structure. However, there can be no assurances that the Company will be able to secure additional equity investments or achieve an adequate sales level.
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BRAIN SCIENTIFIC INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2020
(unaudited)
NOTE 4 – CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE
In January 2019, the Company commenced an offering of up to $500,000 pursuant to which the Company will issue convertible notes to investors. On January 18, 2019,
February 5, 2019 and July 23, 2019, the Company issued three such convertible notes payable to three investors for $100,000, $130,000 and $150,000, respectively. The notes
bear interest at a fixed rate of 10% per annum, computed based on a 360-day year and mature on the earlier of one year from the date of issuance or the consummation of an
equity or equity-linked round of financing of the Company in excess of $1,000,000 (“Qualified Financing”) or other event pursuant to which conversion shares are to be issued
pursuant to the terms of the note. On February 28, 2020, the Company and the holder of the January 18, 2019 convertible note agreed to extend the maturity date of the January
18, 2019 convertible note to January 18, 2021. Also, on February 28, 2020, the Company and the holder of the February 5, 2019 convertible note agreed to extend the maturity
date of the February 5, 2019 convertible note to February 5, 2021.
The notes are convertible into common stock of the Company following events on the following terms: with no action on the part of the note holder upon the consummation of a
Qualified Financing, the debt will be converted to new round stock based on the product of the outstanding principal and accrued interest multiplied by 1.35, then divided by the
accrual per share price of the new round common stock. If a change of control occurs or if the Company completes a firmly underwritten public offering of its common stock
prior to the Qualified Financing the notes would, at the election of the holders of a majority of the outstanding principal of the notes, be either payable on demand as of the
closing of such change of control or Initial Public Offering (‘IPO”) or convertible into shares of common stock immediately prior to such change of control transaction or IPO
transaction at a price per share equal to the lesser of the per share value of the common stock as determined by the Company’s Board of Directors or the per share consideration
to be received by the holders of the common stock in such change of control or IPO transaction. Based on the terms of the conversion, the holders may receive a discount, and
the notes are considered to have a contingent beneficial conversion feature. If conversion of the debt occurs, the Company will recognize an expense related to the intrinsic
value. The Company recorded $18,947 of accrued interest and has a total outstanding principal balance of $380,000 as of June 30, 2020.
In the event that the Company consummates a financing prior to the Maturity Date, other than a Qualified Financing, and the economic terms thereof are more favorable to the
investors in such financing than the terms of the note, the note shall automatically be amended to reflect such more favorable economic terms.
December 31, 2019 Securities Purchase Agreement
On December 31, 2019, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement and issued and sold to a third party (the “Investor”) a Convertible Note in the original
principal amount of $275,000 (the “Note”), and a warrant to purchase 100,000 shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Warrant”). The aggregate purchase price received
by the Company was $250,000 after an original issue discount of $25,000. A one-time interest charge of 8% was applied on December 31, 2019 and will be payable, along with
the Principal, on July 31, 2020 (the “Maturity Date”), as may be extended at the option of the Investor.
The unpaid outstanding principal amount and accrued and unpaid interest under the Note shall be convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock at any time at the
option of the Investor. The conversion price shall be equal to 80% multiplied by the price per share paid by the investors in the next capital raising transaction consummated by
the Company in the amount of $1,000,000 or more (the “Qualified Financing”), subject to adjustments as provided in the Note. In the event the Investor elects to convert the
Note prior to a Qualified Financing, the conversion price shall be the effective exercise price per share from time to time pursuant to the Warrant. At any time prior to the
Maturity Date, upon 10 business days’ notice to the Investor, the Company shall have the right to pre-pay the entire remaining principal amount of the Note subject to the prepayment terms contained in the Note. The note is valued at face value and not considered a derivative since the Qualified Financing is at the control of the Company. The
Company recorded $18,857 of accrued interest and has a total outstanding principal balance of $275,000 as of June 30, 2020.
The Note contains a price-based anti-dilution provision, pursuant to which the conversion price of the Note shall be reduced upon the occurrence of certain dilutive issuances of
Company securities as set forth in the Note. The conversion of the Note is also subject to a beneficial ownership limitation of 4.99% of the number of shares of common stock
outstanding immediately after giving effect to such conversion. In the event the Company, prior to the Maturity Date, issues any Security (as defined in the Note) with any term
more favourable to the holder of such Security or with a term in favor of the holder of such Security that was not similarly provided to the Investor, then at the Investor’s option
such term shall become a part of the Note. The Company also agreed to provide piggy-back registration rights to the Investor pursuant to which the Company shall include all
shares issuable upon conversion of the Note on the next registration statement the Company files with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2020
(unaudited)
The Note contains events of default which, among other things, entitle the Investor to accelerate the due date of the unpaid principal amount of, and all accrued and unpaid
interest on, the Note. Upon the occurrence of any event of default, the outstanding balance shall immediately and automatically increase to 130% of the outstanding balance
immediately prior to the event of default, and the conversion price of the Note shall be redefined to equal 65% of the lowest trade accruing during the 10 consecutive Trading
Days (as defined in the Note) immediately preceding the applicable Conversion Date (as defined in the Note). Nickolay Kukekov, a director of the Company, and a third party,
each has personally guaranteed the repayment of the Note.
The Warrant has an exercise price of $1.25 per share (the “Exercise Price”), subject to adjustments as provided in the Warrant, and has a term of five years. The Warrant
contains a price-based anti-dilution provision, pursuant to which the exercise price of the Warrant shall be reduced upon the occurrence of certain dilutive issuances of securities
as set forth in the Warrant, with a corresponding increase in the number of shares underlying the Warrant if the dilutive event occurs during the first three years of the Warrant,
and a cashless exercise provision. The exercise of the Warrant is subject to a beneficial ownership limitation of 9.99% of the number of shares of common stock outstanding
immediately after giving effect to such exercise. The Company calculated the Warrants at fair value of $130,768 using the Monte Carlo model, which was recognized as a
discount to the Note and is being amortized as interest expense over the remaining term of the notes. The Note is considered a derivative liability due to the variable marketbased conversion price upon default. The warrants are accounted for as a discount to the Note, and therefore fair valued and recorded as a derivative liability as well. On March
18, 2020, the warrants were revalued and recorded as a derivative liability in the amount of $255,899. On June 30, 2020, the warrant derivative was valued at $162,605. For the
three and six months ended June 30, 2020, the Company recorded a gain on the change in fair market value of derivative liabilities in the amount of $100,776 and $93,294,
respectively, in relation to the warrant derivative.
In the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded a total debt discount of $155,768 related to the above convertible notes. During the six months ended June 30,
2020, the Company recorded an additional debt discount of $176,274 related to the above convertible notes. Amortization of the debt discount is recorded as interest expense
and a total of $268,894 was amortized during the six months ended June 30, 2020.
Convertible Grid Notes
On April 21, 2020, the Company issued a Convertible Grid Promissory Note (the “Caleca Note”) to Thomas J. Caleca (“Caleca”), an existing stockholder of the Company,
pursuant to which Caleca agreed to advance to the Company the aggregate principal amount of $125,000 (the “Caleca Aggregate Advance”). The Company also issued to
Caleca a common stock purchase warrant (the “Caleca Warrant”), granting Caleca the right to purchase up to 750,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a per share
exercise price of $0.80 (subject to adjustment as set forth in the Caleca Warrant).
Also on April 21, 2020, the Company issued a Convertible Grid Promissory Note (the “Brown Note”, and together with the Caleca Note, the “Grid Notes”) to Andrew Brown
(“Brown”, and together with Caleca, the “Grid Investors”), an existing stockholder of the Company, pursuant to which Brown agreed to advance to the Company the aggregate
principal amount of $125,000 (the “Brown Aggregate Advance”, and together with the Caleca Aggregate Advance, the “Aggregate Advance”). The Company also issued to
Brown a common stock purchase warrant (the “Brown Warrant”, and together with the Caleca Warrant, the “2020 Warrants”), granting Brown the right to purchase up to
750,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a per share exercise price of $0.80 (subject to adjustment as set forth in the Brown Warrant). The 2020 Warrants are
exercisable at any time commencing on the eighteen-month anniversary of the issuance of the 2020 Warrants (as may be accelerated pursuant to the terms of the 2020 Warrants)
and expiring on the five-year anniversary of the issuance of the 2020 Warrants.
On April 22, 2020, the Grid Investors each made their first cash advance of $25,000 pursuant to the terms of the Grid Notes, for an aggregate cash advance to the Company of
$50,000 (the “First Advance”). The Grid Investors shall make additional cash advances to the Company pursuant to the terms of their Grid Notes. As of June 30, 2020, a total of
$200,000 in principal was advanced to the Company. During the six months ended June 30, 2020, the Company recorded debt discount of $200,000 related to the Grid Notes.
Amortization of the debt discount is recorded as interest expense and a total of $38,356 was amortized during the six months ended June 30, 2020.
The Grid Notes bear interest on the unpaid balances at a fixed simple rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum (subject to a rate increase if the Company commits an Event of
Default (as defined in the Grid Notes)), computed based on a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months, commencing on the date of the respective advance and payable quarterly.
The principal amount of the Aggregate Advance, or so much thereof as has been advanced to the Company by the Grid Investors from time to time pursuant to the Grid Notes,
will be payable on April 21, 2021 (the “Maturity Date”), unless sooner converted into shares of the Company’s common stock pursuant to the terms of the Grid Notes.
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The unpaid outstanding principal amount and accrued and unpaid interest under the Grid Notes shall be convertible at any time prior to the Maturity Date at the election of the
Grid Investors into such number of shares of the Company’s common stock obtained by dividing the amount so converted by $1.00 (the “Conversion Price”). At the Maturity
Date, all of the remaining unpaid outstanding principal amount and accrued and unpaid interest (the “Outstanding Balance”) under the Grid Notes shall automatically convert
into such number of shares of the Company’s common stock obtained by dividing the Outstanding Balance by the Conversion Price. The Grid Notes may not be prepaid by the
Company in whole or in part without the prior written consent of the respective Grid Investor.
The Grid Notes contain customary events of default, which, if uncured, entitle the Grid Investors to accelerate the due date of the unpaid principal amount of, and all accrued
and unpaid interest on, their Grid Notes.
Derivative Accounting for the Convertible Notes Payable
The Company evaluated the terms and conditions of the Note and the Grid Notes under the guidance of ASC 815. The conversion terms of the convertible notes are variable
based on certain factors, such as the future price of the Company’s common stock. The number of shares of common stock to be issued is based on the future price of the
Company’s common stock. The number of shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the promissory note is indeterminate. Due to the fact that the number of shares
of common stock issuable could exceed the Company’s authorized share limit, the equity environment is tainted, and all additional convertible debentures and warrants are
included in the value of the derivative liabilities. Pursuant to ASC 815-15 Embedded Derivatives, the fair values of the variable conversion options and warrants and shares to
be issued were recorded as derivative liabilities on the issuance date and revalued at each reporting period.
Certain of the Company’s embedded conversion features on debt and outstanding warrants are treated as derivative liabilities for accounting purposes under ASC 815 due to
insufficient authorized shares to settle these outstanding contracts, or due to other rights connected with these contracts, such as registration rights. In the case of insufficient
authorized share capital available to fully settle outstanding contracts, the Company utilizes the issuance date sequencing method to reclassify outstanding contracts as
derivative instruments. These instruments do not trade in an active securities market.
Derivative Liabilities
The table below provides a summary of the changes in fair value, including net transfers in and/or out of all financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) during the six months ended June 30, 2020:
Amount
Balance on December 31, 2019
Issuances to debt discount
Issuances to interest expense
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities
Balance on June 30, 2020

$

$

376,274
1,283,148
(240,517)
574,334
1,993,239

The fair value of the derivative conversion features and warrant liabilities as of June 30, 2020 were calculated using a Monte-Carlo option model valued with the following
assumptions:
June 30,
2020
Dividend yield
Expected volatility
Risk free interest rate
Contractual terms (in years)
Conversion/Exercise price

$
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NOTE 5 – PROMISSORY NOTES
October 23, 2019 Note
On October 23, 2019, an investor of the Company subscribed for a promissory note (the “October Note”) and loaned to the Company $50,000.
The October Note bears interest at a fixed rate of 14% per annum, computed based on a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months, which interest will be payable quarterly until
the maturity date. The principal amount and any accrued and unpaid interest due under the October Note are payable on October 21, 2020. The Company recorded $1,358 of
accrued interest and has a total outstanding principal balance of $50,000 as of June 30, 2020.
The October Note contains customary events of default, which, if uncured, entitle the lender to accelerate the due date of the unpaid principal amount of, and all accrued and
unpaid interest on, the October Note.
February 21, 2020 Note
On February 21, 2020, a third party loaned the Company $20,000, evidenced by a non-convertible promissory note (the “February Note”).The February Note bears interest at a
fixed rate of 12% per annum, computed based on a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months, which interest will be payable quarterly until the maturity date. The principal amount
and any accrued and unpaid interest due under the February Note are payable on July 1, 2020. The Company recorded $260 of accrued interest and has a total outstanding
principal balance of $20,000 as of June 30, 2020.
The February Note contains customary events of default, which, if uncured, entitle the lender to accelerate the due date of the unpaid principal amount of, and all accrued and
unpaid interest on, the February Note.
NOTE 6 – OTHER LIABILITIES
In 2016, the Company recorded a liability in connection with the sale of two Electroencephalograms (“EEG”) machines as it provided a guarantee to the customer’s financing
company (See Note 2). In June 2017, the customer defaulted on its payments and an additional $19,107 was booked as a liability and recognized as a loss on the sale of the
assets for interest and some taxes related to the transaction. As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, total liability to the financing company reflected in Other Liabilities is
$4,595 and $6,377, respectively. The Company did not make payments in the current quarter and are in discussion as to future payments since the equipment was not returned as
per the agreement.
Future minimum commitments related to the EEG liability consisted of the following at June 30, 2020:
Years ended December 31,
Remainder 2020
Total

Amount (USD)
4,595
$
4,595
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NOTE 7 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended December 31, 2018, an entity controlled by Mr. Vadim Sakharov, former CEO of the Company and current director and executive officer, provided a
$50,000 non-interest-bearing, no-term loan to the Company. An additional $5,530 of non-interest bearing no-term proceeds were loaned to the Company during the year ended
December 31, 2019. As of June 30, 2020, and December 31, 2019, the balance was $55,530 and $55,530, respectively.
During the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company had expenses related to research and development costs of $12,800 and $27,390, respectively, to an entity
controlled by Mr. Sakharov.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, an affiliate of Boris Goldstein, the Company’s Chairman of the Board, provided an aggregate total of $50,000, in non-interestbearing, no-term loans to the Company. As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the balance was $50,000 and $50,000, respectively.
On September 1, 2018, the Company entered into a sublease agreement with a company controlled by the Company’s Chairman, whereby the Company makes payments to the
related party for shared office space. This lease was terminated on March 31, 2019. For the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company has made approximately $0
and $4,900, respectively, in rent payments to the related party.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, an affiliate of Nickolay Kukekov, a director of the Company, provided an aggregate total of $217,000 in non-interest-bearing, noterm loans to the Company. As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the balance was $217,000 and $217,000, respectively.
During the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company purchased an aggregate of $167,659 and $47,042 of medical devices for resale and distribution from
Neurotech, a company that Mr. Sakharov is a shareholder and executive manager.
NOTE 8 – STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Preferred Stock
The Company has authorized 10,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock with a $0.001 par value. As of June 30, 2020, no preferred shares have been issued and these
shares are considered blank check preferred shares with no terms, limitations, or rights associated with them.
Common Stock
The Company has authorized 200,000,000 shares of common stock with a $0.001 par value per share. The holders of common stock are entitled to one vote for each share of
common stock held at the time of vote. As of June 30, 2020, the Company had 19,397,596 shares outstanding or deemed outstanding.
Shares Issued for Services
On August 8, 2018, the Company entered into a one-year agreement with an advisor for consulting services, as extended for an additional one-year period. The Company
extended this agreement through August 9, 2020. Pursuant to the agreement, as amended, the Company has the right to pay $5,000 or issue the advisor a maximum of 6,667
shares of common stock on a quarterly basis. The Company elected to issue an aggregate total of 5,068 shares for the services provided during the six months ended June 30,
2020 at a weighted average value of $1.97 per share or $10,001.
On August 28, 2018, the Company entered into a one-year agreement with an advisor for consulting services, as extended for an additional one-year period. The Company has
extended this agreement through August 28, 2020. Pursuant to the agreement, as amended, the Company has the right to pay $5,000 or issue the advisor a maximum of 6,667
shares of common stock on a quarterly basis. The Company elected to issue an aggregate total of 5,068 shares for the services provided during the six months ended June 30,
2020 at a weighted average value of $1.97 per share or $10,001.
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On June 19, 2020, the Company entered into a 4-month agreement with an advisor for consulting services whereby for services rendered the Company will issue 7,000 shares of
common stock on a monthly basis. The agreement is effective from June 1, 2020 and if not terminated by either party by September 30, 2020 the parties will then negotiate an
employment agreement. As of June 30, 2020, the Company issued 7,000 shares of common stock at a value of $1.47 per share or $10,290.
Warrants
The following table summarized the warrant activity for the six months ended June 30, 2020:

Number of
Shares
502,250
1,500,000
2,002,250

Warrants
Balance Outstanding, December 31, 2019
Granted
Forfeited
Exercised
Expired
Balance Outstanding, June 30, 2020
Exercisable, June 30, 2020

502,250

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term
3.98
5.0
4.48

$

$

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
0.57
0.80
0.74

$

1,457,408

$

0.57

3.48

$

452,408

$

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Options
On January 14, 2019, the Board of Directors approved the issuance of options to purchase an aggregate of 800,000 and 200,000 shares of common stock to Boris Goldstein and
Vadim Sakharov, respectively. The options have an exercise price of $0.75 per share which will vest over a 24-month period as follows: 25% (or 200,000 and 50,000,
respectively) shall vest six months after the grant date with the remaining options will vest on a monthly basis at a rate of 1/24th per month. The options will expire on January
14, 2029. The aggregate fair value of $17,111 was calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions: (i) expected life 10 years, (ii) volatility of
77%, (iii) risk free rate of 2.71% (iv) dividend rate of zero, (v) stock price of $0.042, and (vi) exercise price of $0.75. The expense will be amortized over the vesting period and
a total of $10,432 was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2019. A total of $3,191 was recorded during the six months ended June 30, 2020.
On January 30, 2020, the Board of Directors approved the issuance of options to purchase an aggregate of 800,000 of common stock to Boris Goldstein. The options have an
exercise price of $0.75 per share which will vest over a 24-month period on a monthly basis at a rate of 1/24th per month. The options will expire on January 30, 2030. The
aggregate fair value of $51,757 was calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions: (i) expected life 10 years, (ii) volatility of 76%, (iii) risk
free rate of 1.57% (iv) dividend rate of zero, (v) stock price of $0.12, and (vi) exercise price of $0.75. The expense will be amortized over the vesting period. A total of $10,762
was recorded during the six months ended June 30, 2020.
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The following table summarized the option activity for the six months ended June 30, 2020:

Number of
Shares
1,000,000
800,000
1,800,000

Options
Balance Outstanding, December 31, 2019
Granted
Forfeited
Exercised
Expired
Balance Outstanding, June 30, 2020
Exercisable, June 30, 2020

1,012,500

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term
9.05
10
9.01

$

$

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
0.75
0.75
0.75

$

1,296,000

$

0.75

8.75

$

729,000

$

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

For future periods, the remaining value of the stock options totalling approximately $44,484 will be amortized into the statement of operations consistent with the period for
which the services will be rendered.
NOTE 9 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating Leases
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which requires lessees to recognize most leases on their balance sheets as a right-of-use asset with a
corresponding lease liability. Lessor accounting under the standard is substantially unchanged. Additional qualitative and quantitative disclosures are also required. The
Company adopted the standard effective January 1, 2019 using the cumulative-effect adjustment transition method, which applies the provisions of the standard at the effective
date without adjusting the comparative periods presented. The Company adopted the following practical expedients and elected the following accounting policies related to this
standard update:
●

The option to not reassess prior conclusions related to the identification, classification and accounting for initial direct costs for leases that commenced prior to January
1, 2019.

●

Short-term lease accounting policy election allowing lessees to not recognize right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases with a term of 12 months or less.

●

The option to not separate lease and non-lease components for certain equipment lease asset categories such as freight car, vehicles and work equipment.

●

The package of practical expedients applied to all of its leases, including (i) not reassessing whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases, (ii) not
reassessing the lease classification for any expired or existing leases, and (iii) not reassessing initial direct costs for any existing leases.

As a result of the above, the adoption of ASC 842 did not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. The Company will review for the existence of
embedded leases in future agreements.
The Company has inventoried all leases where the Company is a lessee as of the initial date of application and has examined other contracts with suppliers, vendors, customers
and other outside parties to identify whether such contracts contain an embedded lease as defined under the new guidance. The Company’s lease population comprises lease for
corporate office space and a warehouse that are year-to-year basis with monthly rent ranging from approximately $150 to $3,200 and qualify under the practical expedient of
short-term leases. The Company does not have exclusive rights of control to any assets in the customer and vendor contracts reviews and does not have any financing leases as
of the date of adoption of ASC 842.
Beginning January 1, 2020, the Company entered into a 12-month lease agreement ending December 31, 2020, with a third party in Russia. The Company is paying rent at a
rate of 17,900 Rubles ($252) per month.
Beginning June 1, 2019, the Company entered into a 10-month lease agreement ending June 30, 2020 with a third party in Russia. The Company is paying rent at a rate of
12,000 Rubles ($169) per month.
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Additionally, the Company also rents a warehouse. Beginning December 1, 2018, the Company entered into a 6-month warehouse rental agreement for $2,980 per month. The
lease was renewed on June 1, 2019 for an additional year ending May 31, 2020, for $3,171 per month.
Total rent expense for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was $22,630 and $45,750 respectively.
Equity Incentive Plan
As of September 21, 2018, the Company’s board of directors adopted, and stockholders approved the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (“the 2018 Plan”). The 2018 Plan has a 10year term, which terminates on the day prior to the 10th anniversary of its adoption by the Board. Under the 2018 Plan, the Company may grant equity-based incentive awards,
including options, restricted stock, and other stock-based awards, to any directors, employees, advisers, and consultants that provide services to the Company. The vesting
period, term and exercise price will be determined at the time of the grant. An aggregate of up to 3,500,000 of the Company’s common stock are reserved for issuance under the
2018 Plan. As of June 30, 2020, the Company has granted 1,800,000 options and has 1,800,000 options outstanding under the 2018 Plan (see Note 8).
NOTE 10 – RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUSLY ISSUED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
The Company, while undergoing the review of its consolidated financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2020, commenced an evaluation of its accounting in
connection with the Note and the Grid Notes for derivative accounting in accordance with ASC 815. Management originally deemed these agreements to be fixed in nature and
a derivative would not need be recognized. On August 12, 2020, under the authority of the board of directors, the Company determined that these agreements and underlying
warrants should have been recorded as a derivative with changes in the fair value of the derivate to be recorded in the condensed consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive loss (see Note 4). Accordingly, the Company will restate the condensed consolidated interim financial statements and include the required disclosures for the
three months ended March 31, 2020.
The following table sets forth the effects of the adjustments on affected items within the Company’s previously reported Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet at March 31,
2020 had the adjustments been made in the corresponding quarter:

Convertible notes payable, net
Derivative liabilities
Current liabilities
Total liabilities
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ deficit

$
$
$
$
$
$

As Reported
565,781
1,467,171
1,467,171
(4,211,193)
1,419,785

March 31, 2020
Adjustment
$
(159,299)
$
571,843
$
412,544
$
412,544
$
(412,544)
$
(412,544)

$
$
$
$
$
$

As Restated
406,482
571,843
1,879,715
1,879,715
(4,623,737)
(1,832,329)

The following table sets forth the effects of the adjustments on affected items within the Company’s previously reported Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations and
Comprehensive Loss for the three months ended March 31, 2020, had the adjustments been made in the appropriate quarter:

Interest expense
Change in fair market value of derivative liabilities
Net Loss
Total comprehensive loss
Net loss per common share, basic and diluted

$
$
$
$
$
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As Reported
(88,291)
(539,116)
(540,169)
(0.03)

March 31, 2020
Adjustment
$
(365,325)
$
(47,219)
$
(412,544)
$
(412,544)
$
(0.02)

$
$
$
$
$

As Restated
(453,616)
(47,219)
(951,660)
(952,713)
(0.05)
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NOTE 11 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In accordance with ASC 855 “Subsequent Events,” Company management reviewed all material events through the date this report was issued, and the following subsequent
events took place.
The Effects of COVID-19
The World Health Organization (WHO) declared the coronavirus outbreak a pandemic on January 30, 2020. Since the outbreak in China in December 2019, COVID-19 has
expanded its impact to Europe, where all of our operations reside, as well as our employees, suppliers and customers. While the disruption is currently expected to be
temporary, there is considerable uncertainty around the duration of the closings and shelter-in-place orders and the ultimate impact of governmental initiatives. However, the
financial impact and duration cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.
Allonges to Promissory Notes
On July 28, 2020, the Company entered into an Allonge to Promissory Note, effective as of July 1, 2020, which amends that certain Non-Convertible Promissory Note of the
Company in the principal amount of $20,000 dated February 21, 2020, in favor of ProudLiving, LLC. The allonge amends the original note by extending the maturity date
thereof to February 21, 2021.
On July 29, 2020, the Company entered into an Allonge to Convertible Promissory Note, which amends that certain Convertible Promissory Note of the Company in the
principal amount of $150,000 dated July 23, 2019, in favor of John Silvestri. The allonge amends the original note by extending the maturity date thereof to February 21, 2021.
On August 5, 2020, the Company entered into an Allonge to Convertible Note, dated as of August 8, 2020, which amends the Note. The allonge amends the Note by extending
the maturity date thereof from seven months from the date of the loan to ten months from the date of the loan. The allonge further provided that the piggyback registration
rights set forth in the Note did not apply to the Company’s recently filed Registration Statement on Form S-1. As consideration for the allonge, the original principal amount
was increased by ten percent, and the Company agreed to issue 50,000 shares of its common stock to Vista Capital Investments, LLC.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Brain Scientific Inc.:
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Brain Scientific Inc. (“the Company”) as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2019 and the related
notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31,
2019, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Explanatory Paragraph Regarding Going Concern
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 3 to the financial statements, the
Company has suffered recurring losses from operations and has a net capital deficiency that raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern.
Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 3. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this
uncertainty.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our
audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Sadler, Gibb & Associates, LLC
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2018.
Salt Lake City, UT
March 30, 2020
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,
2019

December 31,
2018

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets - related party
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

$

Property and equipment, net

261,436
5,555
21,637
700
289,328

$

1,674

TOTAL ASSETS

163,563
14,552
178,115
1,999

$

291,002

$

180,114

$

298,578
9,263
50,000
499,232
6,377
323,084
1,186,534

$

139,637
31,900
5,454
50,000
226,991

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expenses - related party
Notes payable
Convertible notes payable, net
Finance lease - short term
Loans payable - related party
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Finance lease, net of current portion
TOTAL LIABILITIES
Commitments and contingencies

-

7,095

1,186,534

234,086

-

-

-

-

STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized, 0 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, respectively
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized, 19,380,460 and 19,205,624 shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively
Additional paid in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

19,381
2,756,798
(3,672,077)
366
(895,532)
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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291,002

19,206
2,595,034
(2,668,212)
(53,972)
$

180,114

Brain Scientific Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
Years Ended December 31,
2019
2018
REVENUE

$

489,202

$

58,113

COST OF GOODS SOLD

387,194

33,939

GROSS PROFIT

102,008

24,174

103,616
255,332
95,165
85,771
532,312
1,072,196

210,206
271,718
93,190
58,301
675,882
1,309,297

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE
Research and development
Professional fees
Sales and marketing expenses
Occupancy expenses
General and administrative expenses
TOTAL SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

(970,188 )

(1,285,123)

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):
Interest expense
Other income
Other expense
Foreign currency transaction loss
TOTAL OTHER EXPENSE

(32,922)
2,108
(597)
(52)
(31,463)

(159,165)
18,186
(140,979)

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES

(1,001,651)

(1,426,102)

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

(2,214 )

NET LOSS

-

(1,003,865)

(1,426,102)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
Foreign currency translation adjustment
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

$

366
(1,003,499)

$

(1,426,102)

NET LOSS PER COMMON SHARE
Basic and diluted

$

(0.05)

$

(0.11)

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING
Basic and diluted

19,236,380

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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12,471,618

Brain Scientific Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
Balance at December 31, 2017
Fair value of warrants issued in connection with
convertible debt
Conversion of convertible notes and accrued
interest to common stock
Issuance of common stock for services
Effect of reverse recapitalization
Net loss
Balances at December 31, 2018
Fair value of stock options vested
Fair value of warrants issued in connection with
convertible debt
Capital contribution and write off of related
party accounts payable
Issuance of common stock for services
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net loss
Balances at December 31, 2019

9,906,526

$

9,907

-

-

5,687,630
106,468
3,505,000
19,205,624

5,688
106
3,505
19,206

$

$

321,522

Accumulated
Deficit
$

2,604

$

2,269,362
5,042
(3,496)
2,595,034

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

(1,242,110)

$

-

$

(1,426,102)
(2,668,212)

Total
-

$

-

$

-

(910,681)
2,604

$

2,275,050
5,148
9
(1,426,102)
(53,972)

-

-

12,797

-

-

12,797

-

-

130,768

-

-

130,768

174,836
19,380,460

175
19,381

653
17,546
2,756,798

$

$

$

(1,003,865)
(3,672,077)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

366
366

$

653
17,721
366
(1,003,865)
(895,532 )

Brain Scientific Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31,
2019
2018
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss
Change in net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense
Amortization of debt discount
Fair value of stock options vested
Common stock issued for services
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Other liabilities
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accounts payable - related party
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES

$

(1,003,865)

$

1,330
12,797
17,720

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of property and equipment
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from convertible notes payable
Proceeds from note payable
Proceeds from related party loans
Payments of related party loans
Capital contribution - related party
NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES

656
77,889
5,148

$

(5,555)
(7,085)
(6,172)
(700)
159,441
(22,637)
(854,726 )

$

(12,593)
(3,570)
213,982
31,900
(1,112,690)

$
$

(1,005 )
(1,005 )

$
$

(1,143 )
(1,143 )

$

630,000
50,000
273,084
154

$

964,120
50,000
(34,252)
-

$

953,238

$

979,868

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

366

NET CHANGE IN CASH
CASH AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR
CASH AT END OF THE YEAR

(1,426,102)

-

$

97,873
163,563
261,436

(133,965)
297,528
163,563

$

Cash paid for interest

$

-

$

3,615

Cash paid for taxes

$

-

$

-

$

130,768

$

2,604

$

2,275,050

$

-

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information

Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities
Discounts related to warrants issued in connection with convertible debentures
Conversion of convertible notes and accrued interest to common stock
Write off of related party accounts payable

$
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BRAIN SCIENTIFIC INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019 and 2018
NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS
Brain Scientific Inc. (the “Company”), was incorporated under the laws of the state of Nevada on November 18, 2013 under the name All Soft Gels Inc. The Company on
September 21, 2018 acquired MemoryMD, Inc. (“MemoryMD”), a privately held Delaware corporation formed in February 2015. Upon completion of the acquisition,
MemoryMD is treated as the surviving entity and accounting acquirer although the Company was the legal acquirer. Accordingly, the Company’s historical financial statements
are those of MemoryMD, the surviving entity and accounting acquirer. MemoryMD is a cloud computing, data analytics and medical device technology company in the
NeuroTech and brain monitoring industries seeking to commercialize its EEG devices and caps. The Company is headquartered in New York, New York.
Reverse Merger and Corporate Restructure
On September 21, 2018, the Company entered into a merger agreement (the “Merger Agreement”) with MemoryMD and AFGG Acquisition Corp. to acquire MemoryMD (the
“Acquisition”). The transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement were consummated on September 21, 2018 and, pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, all
outstanding shares of MemoryMD were exchanged for shares of the Company’s common stock. Accordingly, the Company acquired 100% of MemoryMD in exchange for the
issuance of shares of the Company’s common stock and MemoryMD became the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary. The Company issued an additional 4,083,252 shares of
its common stock upon the automatic conversion at the closing of an aggregate of $1,507,000 principal amount plus accrued interest of outstanding convertible promissory
notes issued by MemoryMD, and it further issued an additional 1,604,378 shares of its common stock upon the automatic conversion immediately subsequent to the closing of
an aggregate of $640,000 principal amount plus accrued interest of outstanding convertible promissory notes issued by MemoryMD. Furthermore, as of the closing, Mr. Amer
Samad, the sole director and executive officer until the consummation of the Acquisition, committed to tender for cancellation 6,495,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock as part of the conditions to closing, of which 6,375,000 have been cancelled at December 31, 2018 and 120,000 are expected to be cancelled as soon as practicable. Total
shares issued as a result of the Acquisition was 13,421,752.
The Acquisition has been accounted for as a reverse recapitalization of Brain Scientific by MemoryMD, but in substance as a capital transaction, rather than a business
combination since Brain Scientific had nominal or no operations and assets prior to and as of the closing of the Acquisition. The transaction is deemed a reverse recapitalization
and the accounting is similar to that resulting from a reverse acquisition, except that no goodwill or other intangible assets should be recorded. For accounting purposes,
MemoryMD is treated as the surviving entity and accounting acquirer although Brain Scientific was the legal acquirer. Accordingly, the Company’s historical financial
statements are those of MemoryMD.
All references to common stock, share and per share amounts have been retroactively restated to reflect the reverse recapitalization as if the transaction had taken place as of the
beginning of the earliest period presented.
Assignment and Assumption Agreement
As of immediately prior to the closing of the Acquisition, the Company entered into an Assignment and Assumption Agreement with Chromium 24 LLC, pursuant to which
Chromium 24 LLC assumed all of the Company’s remaining assets and liabilities through the closing of the Acquisition. Accordingly, as of the closing of the Acquisition, Brain
Scientific had no assets or liabilities other than the shares of MemoryMD acquired in the Acquisition.
Name Change and Increase in Authorized Shares
On September 18, 2018, the Company filed an amendment to its certificate of incorporation with the Nevada Secretary of State to change its name to Brain Scientific Inc. On
September 18, 2018, FINRA approved of the name change as well as a ticker symbol change, which was effective as of September 19, 2018. In addition, the Company
increased its authorized shares of common stock from 50,000,000 to 200,000,000 and created and authorized 10,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock.
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BRAIN SCIENTIFIC INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019 and 2018
NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP.
Principles of Consolidation
The Company evaluates the need to consolidate affiliates based on standards set forth in ASC 810 Consolidation (“ASC 810”).
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, MemoryMD and MemoryMD - Russia. The operations of the newly formed
100% wholly owned subsidiary, MemoryMD – Russia, are included beginning April 1, 2019. All significant consolidated transactions and balances have been eliminated in
consolidation.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates include the useful life of property and equipment and assumptions used in the valuation of options
and warrants.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid temporary cash investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. At December 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, the Company had no cash equivalents.
The Company’s cash is held with financial institutions, and the account balances may, at times, exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance limit.
Accounts are insured by the FDIC up to $250,000 per financial institution. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts with these financial institutions. As of
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company had $11,436 and $0, respectively, in excess over the FDIC insurance limit.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost, less depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.
Expenditures for repair and maintenance are charged to operations as incurred. Property and equipment consisted of computer equipment, with an estimated useful life of three
years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019 and 2018
Convertible Notes Payable
The Company has issued convertible notes, which contain variable conversion features, whereby the outstanding principal and accrued interest automatically convert into
common shares at a fixed price which may be a discount to the common stock at the time of conversion. The conversion features of these notes are contingent upon future
events, whereby, the holder agreed not to convert until the contingent future event has occurred.
Revenue Recognition
On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASC Topic 606 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. This guidance requires an entity to recognize revenue by applying the
following steps: (1) identify the contract with a customer; (2) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (3) determine the transaction price; (4) allocate the
transaction price to each performance obligation in the contract; and (5) recognize revenue when each performance obligation is satisfied. Once the steps are met, revenue is
recognized, generally upon receiving a letter of acceptance from the customer. There has been no material effect on the Company’s financial statements as a result of adopting
Topic 606.
The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of NeuroCaps, Universal as well as revenue from the sale of goods purchased through manufacturers of medical devices. All
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019 is from the sale of medical devices purchased from Neurotech, a related party. All revenue for the year ended December 31,
2018 was from the sale of NeuroCaps.
Research and Development
The Company expenses all research and development costs as they are incurred. Research and development includes expenditures in connection with in-house research and
development salaries and staff costs, application and filing for regulatory approval of proposed products, regulatory and scientific consulting fees, as well as contract research,
data collection, and monitoring, related to the research and development of the cloud infrastructure, data imaging, and proprietary products and technology. Research and
development costs recognized in the statement of operations for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were $103,616 and $210,206, respectively.
Sales and Marketing
Advertising and marketing costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising and marketing costs recognized in the statement of operations for the years ended December 31, 2019
and 2018 were $95,165 and $93,190, respectively.
Stock-based Compensation
The Company measures and recognizes compensation expense for all stock-based payments at fair value over the requisite service period. The Company uses the Black-Scholes
option pricing model to determine the weighted average fair value of options and warrants. Equity-based compensation expense is recorded in administrative expenses based on
the classification of the employee or vendor. The determination of fair value of stock-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model is affected by
our stock price as well as by assumptions regarding a number of subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, the expected stock price volatility over the
term of the awards, and actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors.
Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per Common Share
Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per common
share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period and, if dilutive, potential common shares outstanding
during the period. Potentially dilutive securities consist of the incremental common shares issuable upon exercise of common stock equivalents such as stock options, warrants
and convertible debt instruments. Potentially dilutive securities are excluded from the computation if their effect is anti-dilutive. As a result, the basic and diluted per share
amounts for all periods presented are identical. In the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, 1,502,250 and 402,250, respectively, of anti-dilutive securities were excluded
from the computation.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company’s financial instruments are measured and recorded at fair value based on inputs and assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or a
liability. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. When determining fair value, management considers the principal or most advantageous market in which the Company would transact, and also considers
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, such as inherent risk, transfer restrictions, and risk of nonperformance.
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December 31, 2019 and 2018
Fair value is determined for assets and liabilities using a three-tiered value hierarchy into which these assets and liabilities are grouped based upon significant inputs as follows:
●

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

●

Level 2 - Observable inputs, other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar
assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

●

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. This includes certain
pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs. When a determination is made to classify a
financial instrument within Level 3, the determination is based upon the lack of significance of the observable parameters to the overall fair value measurement.
However, the fair value determination for Level 3 financial instruments may consider some observable market inputs.

The lowest level of significant input determines the placement of the entire fair value measurement in the hierarchy. The carrying values of cash, prepaid expenses and other
current assets, convertible notes, accounts payable, loans payable and due to others approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these items.
The Company did not have any other Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 assets or liabilities as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.
Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset-and-liability method in accordance with ASC Topic 740, “Income Taxes”. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax
bases and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in
which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on the deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rate is recognized in the period
that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is recorded if it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized in future
periods.
The Company follows the guidance in ASC Topic 740-10 in assessing uncertain tax positions. The standard applies to all tax positions and clarifies the recognition of tax
benefits in the financial statements by providing for a two-step approach of recognition and measurement. The first step involves assessing whether the tax position is morelikely-than-not to be sustained upon examination based upon its technical merits. The second step involves measurement of the amount to be recognized. Tax positions that
meet the more-likely-than-not threshold are measured at the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate finalization with the
taxing authority. The Company recognizes the impact of an uncertain income tax position in the financial statements if it believes that the position is more likely than not to be
sustained by the relevant taxing authority. The Company will recognize interest and penalties related to tax positions in income tax expense. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018,
the Company had no unrecognized uncertain income tax positions.
On December 22, 2017, the passage of legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“TCJA”) was enacted and significantly revised the U.S. income tax law.
The TCJA includes changes, which reduce the corporate income tax rate from 34% to 21% for years beginning after December 31, 2017. On December 22, 2017, Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 118 (“SAB 118”) was issued and allows a company to recognize provisional amounts when it does not have the necessary information available,
prepared or analyzed, including computations, in reasonable detail to complete its accounting for the change in tax law. SAB 118 provides for a measurement of up to one year
from the date of enactment.
Recent Issued Accounting Pronouncements
From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the Financial Accounting Standard Board (“FASB”) or other standard setting bodies that the Company adopts
as of the specified effective date. Unless otherwise discussed, the Company does not believe that the impact of recently issued standards that are not yet effective will have a
material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations upon adoption.
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which requires lessees to recognize most leases on their balance sheets as a right-of-use asset with a
corresponding lease liability. Lessor accounting under the standard is substantially unchanged. Additional qualitative and quantitative disclosures are also required. The
Company adopted the standard effective January 1, 2019 using the cumulative-effect adjustment transition method, which applies the provisions of the standard at the effective
date without adjusting the comparative periods presented. The Company adopted the following practical expedients and elected the following accounting policies related to this
standard update:
●

The option to not reassess prior conclusions related to the identification, classification and accounting for initial direct costs for leases that commenced prior to January
1, 2019.

●

Short-term lease accounting policy election allowing lessees to not recognize right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases with a term of 12 months or less.

●

The option to not separate lease and non-lease components for certain equipment lease asset categories such as freight car, vehicles and work equipment.

●

The package of practical expedients applied to all of its leases, including (i) not reassessing whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases, (ii) not
reassessing the lease classification for any expired or existing leases, and (iii) not reassessing initial direct costs for any existing leases.

The Company has inventoried all leases where the Company is a lessee as of the initial date of application and has examined other contracts with suppliers, vendors, customers
and other outside parties to identify whether such contracts contain an embedded lease as defined under the new guidance. The Company’s lease population comprises lease for
corporate office space and a warehouse that are year-to-year basis with monthly rent ranging from approximately $200 to $3,200 and qualify under the practical expedient of
short-term leases. The Company does not have exclusive rights of control to any assets in the customer and vendor contracts reviews and does not have any financing leases as
of the date of adoption of ASC 842.
As a result of the above, the adoption of ASC 842 did not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. The Company will review for the existence of
embedded leases in future agreements
In June 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2018-07, Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic
718). This update is intended to reduce cost and complexity and to improve financial reporting for share-based payments issued to non-employees (for example, service
providers, external legal counsel, suppliers, etc.). The ASU expands the scope of Topic 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation, which currently only includes share-based
payments issued to employees, to also include share-based payments issued to non-employees for goods and services. Consequently, the accounting for share-based payments to
non-employees and employees will be substantially aligned. This standard will be effective for financial statements issued by public companies for the annual and interim
periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Early adoption of the standard is permitted. The adoption of this ASU did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.
NOTE 3 – GOING CONCERN
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. GAAP, which contemplate continuation of the Company as a going concern for a period of
one year from the issuance of these financial statements. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company had $489,202 in revenues, a net loss of $1,003,865 and had net
cash used in operations of $854,726. Additionally, as of December 31, 2019, the Company had working capital deficit, stockholders’ deficit and accumulated deficit of
$897,206, $895,532 and $3,672,077, respectively. It is management’s opinion that these conditions raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern for a period of twelve months from the date of the issuance of these financial statements.
The financial statements do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effect on the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and classifications of
liabilities that may result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
Successful completion of the Company’s development program and, ultimately, the attainment of profitable operations are dependent upon future events, including obtaining
adequate financing to fulfill its development activities, acceptance of the Company’s patent applications and ultimately achieving a level of sales adequate to support the
Company’s cost structure. However, there can be no assurances that the Company will be able to secure additional equity investments or achieve an adequate sales level.
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NOTE 4 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment, net consists of the following:

Computer equipment

December 31,
December 31,
2019
2018
$
4,105 $
3,100

Less: Accumulated depreciation
Total

$

(2,431 )
1,674 $

(1,101 )
1,999

Depreciation expense was $1,330 and $656 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
NOTE 5 – CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE
2017 Debt Offering
During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company commenced a private offering (the “Bridge Financing Transaction”) of up to $1,000,000, which was amended on
September 19, 2017 to a maximum offering amount of $1,100,000 and amended again on April 4, 2018 to $1,500,000, pursuant to which the Company issued convertible notes
totaling $1,087,500. The notes all have a maturity date of one year from the date of issuance and accrue interest at a rate of 8% per annum. In a qualified financing, reverse
merger, change of control or an initial public offering (“Conversion Event”), the notes, including interest thereon, will automatically convert at $0.40 per share. Based on the
terms of the conversion, the holders may receive a discount and is considered a contingent beneficial conversion feature. At the closing of the Conversion Event, the Company
will recognize an expense related to the intrinsic value. The Company recorded $50,389 of accrued interest and has a total outstanding principal balance of $1,087,500 as of
December 31, 2017.
In January 2018 the Company issued an additional $97,000 convertible note payable to a third party. The funding of the note was comprised of the $50,000 loaned to the
Company on December 28, 2017, plus additional cash proceeds of $47,000 on January 3, 2018.
On April 24, 2018, the Company extended the maturity dates of all convertible notes issued during the year ended December 31, 2017 to the earlier of April 30, 2019 or the
consummation of a qualified financing or other event pursuant to which the Conversion shares are to be issued.
The Company issued 12 additional convertible notes payable to third parties in the aggregate principal amount of $962,500 from February through September 2018. The terms
of the convertible note are substantially the same as the notes issued during the year ended December 31, 2017. On September 21, 2018 the outstanding principal balances of all
of the convertible notes in the amount of $2,147,000 and $128,050 in accrued interest was converted into shares of the Company’s common stock (see Note 9).
The Company recorded a total debt discount of $122,615 related to all the above convertible notes. Amortization of the debt discount, which is recorded as interest expense, was
$77,889 and $44,726 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The discount related to the convertible notes was fully amortized on September 21, 2018 in
relation to the conversion of the convertible notes to shares of the Company’s common stock.
January 2019 Debt Offering
In January 2019, the Company commenced an offering of up to $500,000 pursuant to which the Company will issue convertible notes to investors. On January 18, 2019,
February 5, 2019 and July 23, 2019, the Company issued three such convertible notes payable to three investors for $100,000, $130,000 and $150,000, respectively. The notes
bear interest at a fixed rate of 10% per annum, computed based on a 360-day year and mature on the earlier of one year from the date of issuance or the consummation of an
equity or equity-linked round of financing of the Company in excess of $1,000,000 (“Qualified Financing”) or other event pursuant to which conversion shares are to be issued
pursuant to the terms of the note. On February 28, 2020, the Company and the holder of the January 18, 2019 convertible note agreed to extend the maturity date of the January
18, 2019 convertible note to January 18, 2021. Also on February 28, 2020, the Company and the holder of the February 5, 2019 convertible note agreed to extend the maturity
date of the February 5, 2019 convertible note to February 5, 2021.
The notes are convertible into common stock of the Company following events on the following terms: with no action on the part of the note holder upon the consummation of a
Qualified Financing, the debt will be converted to new round stock based on the product of the outstanding principal and accrued interest multiplied by 1.35, then divided by the
accrual per share price of the new round common stock. If a change of control occurs or if the Company completes a firmly underwritten public offering of its common stock
prior to the Qualified Financing the notes would, at the election of the holders of a majority of the outstanding principal of the notes, be either payable on demand as of the
closing of such change of control or Initial Public Offering (‘IPO”) or convertible into shares of common stock immediately prior to such change of control transaction or IPO
transaction at a price per share equal to the lesser of the per share value of the common stock as determined by the Company’s Board of Directors or the per share consideration
to be received by the holders of the common stock in such change of control or IPO transaction. Based on the terms of the conversion, the holders may receive a discount, and
the notes are considered to have a contingent beneficial conversion feature. If conversion of the debt occurs, the Company will recognize an expense related to the intrinsic
value. The Company recorded $28,043 of accrued interest and has a total outstanding principal balance of $380,000 as of December 31, 2019.
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In the event that the Company consummates a financing prior to the Maturity Date, other than a Qualified Financing, and the economic terms thereof are more favorable to the
investors in such financing than the terms of the note, the note shall automatically be amended to reflect such more favorable economic terms.
December 31, 2019 Securities Purchase Agreement
On December 31, 2019, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement and issued and sold to a third party a Convertible Note in the original principal amount of
$275,000 (the “Note”), and a warrant to purchase 100,000 shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Warrant”). The aggregate purchase price received by the Company was
$250,000 after an original issue discount of $25,000. A one-time interest charge of 8% was applied on December 31, 2019 and will be payable, along with the Principal, on July
31, 2020 (the “Maturity Date”), as may be extended at the option of the Investor.
The unpaid outstanding principal amount and accrued and unpaid interest under the Note shall be convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock at any time at the
option of the Investor. The conversion price shall be equal to 80% multiplied by the price per share paid by the investors in the next capital raising transaction consummated by
the Company in the amount of $1,000,000 or more (the “Qualified Financing”), subject to adjustments as provided in the Note. In the event the Investor elects to convert the
Note prior to a Qualified Financing, the conversion price shall be the effective exercise price per share from time to time pursuant to the Warrant. At any time prior to the
Maturity Date, upon 10 business days’ notice to the Investor, the Company shall have the right to pre-pay the entire remaining principal amount of the Note subject to the prepayment terms contained in the Note. The note is valued at face value and not considered a derivative since the Qualified Financing is at the control of the Company. The
Company recorded $0 of accrued interest and has a total outstanding principal balance of $275,000 as of December 31, 2019.
The Note contains a price-based anti-dilution provision, pursuant to which the conversion price of the Note shall be reduced upon the occurrence of certain dilutive issuances of
Company securities as set forth in the Note. The conversion of the Note is also subject to a beneficial ownership limitation of 4.99% of the number of shares of common stock
outstanding immediately after giving effect to such conversion. In the event the Company, prior to the Maturity Date, issues any Security (as defined in the Note) with any term
more favorable to the holder of such Security or with a term in favor of the holder of such Security that was not similarly provided to the Investor, then at the Investor’s option
such term shall become a part of the Note. The Company also agreed to provide piggy-back registration rights to the Investor pursuant to which the Company shall include all
shares issuable upon conversion of the Note on the next registration statement the Company files with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
The Note contains events of default which, among other things, entitle the Investor to accelerate the due date of the unpaid principal amount of, and all accrued and unpaid
interest on, the Note. Upon the occurrence of any event of default, the Outstanding Balance shall immediately and automatically increase to 130% of the Outstanding Balance
immediately prior to the event of default, and the conversion price of the Note shall be redefined to equal 65% of the lowest trade accruing during the 10 consecutive Trading
Days (as defined in the Note) immediately preceding the applicable Conversion Date (as defined in the Note). Nickolay Kukekov, a director of the Company, and a third party,
each has personally guaranteed the repayment of the Note.
The Warrant has an exercise price of $1.25 per share (the “Exercise Price”), subject to adjustments as provided in the Warrant, and has a term of five years. The Warrant
contains a price-based anti-dilution provision, pursuant to which the exercise price of the Warrant shall be reduced upon the occurrence of certain dilutive issuances of securities
as set forth in the Warrant, with a corresponding increase in the number of shares underlying the Warrant if the dilutive event occurs during the first three years of the Warrant,
and a cashless exercise provision. The exercise of the Warrant is subject to a beneficial ownership limitation of 9.99% of the number of shares of common stock outstanding
immediately after giving effect to such exercise. The Company calculated the Warrants at fair value of $130,768 using the Monte Carlo model, which was recognized as a
discount to the Note and is being amortized as interest expense over the remaining term of the notes.
The Company recorded a total of $155,768 of debt discounts related to the above Note during the year ended December 31, 2019. Amortization of debt discount for the year
ended December 31, 2019 was $0.
NOTE 6 – PROMISSORY NOTE
On October 23, 2019, an investor of the Company subscribed for a promissory note (the “Note”) and loaned to the Company $50,000.
The Note bears interest at a fixed rate of 14% per annum, computed based on a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months, which interest will be payable quarterly until the
Maturity Date. The principal amount and any accrued and unpaid interest due under the Note is payable on October 21, 2020. The Company recorded $1,360 of accrued interest
and has a total outstanding principal balance of $50,000 as of December 31, 2019.
The Note contains customary events of default, which, if uncured, entitle the Lender to accelerate the due date of the unpaid principal amount of, and all accrued and unpaid
interest on, its Note.
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NOTE 7 – OTHER LIABILITIES
In 2016, the Company recorded a liability in connection with the sale of two EEG machines as it provided a guarantee to the customer’s financing company (See Note 2). In
June 2017, the customer defaulted on its payments and an additional $19,107 was booked as a liability and recognized as a loss on the sale of the assets for interest and some
taxes related to the transaction. As of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, total liability to the financing company reflected in Other Liabilities is $6,377 and $12,549,
respectively.
Future minimum commitments related to the EEG liability consisted of the following at December 31, 2019:
Years ended December 31,
2020
Total

Amount (USD)
6,377
$
6,377

NOTE 8 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
On May 9, 2017, the Company entered into a sublease agreement with Nano Graphene Inc., a company controlled by the Company’s chairman and his affiliates. In the years
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 Nano Graphene paid rent of $0 and $10,626, respectively, for warehouse space the Company rents from a third party. The Company has
recorded the payments as other income.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, an entity controlled by Vadim Sakharov, the Company’s then CEO and current President and CTO, provided a non-interest-bearing,
no-term loan to the Company. The Company repaid that loan in full during the year ended December 31, 2018. During the year ended December 31, 2018, an entity controlled
by Mr. Sakharov provided a $50,000 non-interest-bearing, no-term loan to the Company. As of December 31, 2019, and December 31, 2018, the balance was $50,000 and
$50,000, respectively.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, a company controlled by the Company’s Mr. Sakharov provided an aggregate total of $5,530 in non-interest bearing, no-term loans
to the Company. As of December 31, 2019, the balance was $5,530.
During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company purchased an aggregate of $386,421 and $0 of medical devices for resale and distribution from Neurotech,
a company that Mr. Sakharov is a shareholder and executive manager.
During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had expenses related to consulting fees of $0 and $83,377, respectively, to Mr. Sakharov.
During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had expenses related to research and development costs of $50,713 and $59,788, respectively, to an entity
controlled by Mr. Sakharov.
On September 1, 2018, the Company entered into a sublease agreement with a company controlled by the Company’s Chairman, whereby the Company makes payments to the
related party for shared office space. This lease was terminated on March 31, 2019. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company made approximately $4,900
and $6,202, respectively, in rent payments to the related party.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, an affiliate of Boris Goldstein, the Company’s Chairman of the Board, provided an aggregate total of $50,000, in a non-interestbearing, no-term loan to the Company. As of December 31, 2019, the balance was $50,000.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, an affiliate of Nickolay Kukekov, a director of the Company, provided an aggregate total of $217,000 in non-interest-bearing, noterm loans to the Company. As of December 31, 2019, the balance was $217,000.
During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had expenses related to marketing and sales costs of $0 and $15,000, respectively, to entities controlled by
the Company’s Chairman.
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NOTE 9 – INCOME TAXES
The Company files corporate income tax returns in the United States (federal) and New York. The Company is subject to federal, state and local income tax examinations by
tax authorities through inception.
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had federal and state net operating loss carry forwards of $3,617,000 and $2,655,000, respectively that may be offset against
future taxable income which will begin to expire in 2035 through 2039.
There was a foreign provision for income tax during the year ended December 31, 2019 and no provision or benefit for income taxes in 2018. The tax effects of temporary
differences which give rise to deferred tax assets (liabilities) are summarized as follows:

Net operating loss carry forwards
Stock based compensation
Depreciation
Valuation allowance
Net Deferred Tax Asset

$

$

For the Years Ended
December 31,
2019
2018
1,016,339 $
746,028
3,596
(22)
(41)
(1,019,913)
(745,987 )
- $
-

In assessing the realization of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized.
The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become
deductible. Deferred tax assets consist primarily of the tax effect of NOL carry-forwards. The Company has provided a full valuation allowance on the deferred tax assets
because of the uncertainty regarding its realizability.
Reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax to the Company’s effective tax:
For the Years Ended
December 31,
2019
2018
%
%
21.00%
21.00%
6.99%
8.40%
-27.70%
-29.40%

Statutory federal tax rate
State taxes, net of federal benefit
Valuation allowance
Provision for income taxes

0.30%

0.00%

The Company’s policy is to record interest and penalties associated with unrecognized tax benefits as additional income taxes in the statement of operations. As of December
31, 2019 and 2018 the Company had no unrecognized tax benefits. There were no changes in the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits during the years ended December 31,
2019 and 2018. The Company did not recognize any interest or penalties during fiscal 2019 or 2018 related to unrecognized tax benefits.
All tax years remain open to examination for federal income tax purposes and by other major taxing jurisdictions to which the Company is subject.
NOTE 10 – STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Preferred Stock
The Company has authorized 10,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock with a $0.001 par value. As of December 31, 2019, no preferred shares have been issued and
these shares are considered blank check preferred shares with no terms, limitations, or rights associated with them.
Common Stock
The Company has authorized 200,000,000 shares of common stock with a $0.001 par value per share. The holders of common stock are entitled to one vote for each share of
common stock held at the time of vote. As of December 31, 2019, the Company has deemed 19,380,460 shares outstanding or deemed outstanding.
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Shares Issued for Services
On May 5, 2018, the Company entered into an agreement with a third-party consultant to provide services to the Company over an indefinite period until either party provides
written notice of termination with thirty days notice. As compensation for such services, the Company has agreed to pay the consultant $75 an hour in cash and $75 an hour in
shares of common stock with a monthly cap of $6,500 in cash and $6,500 a month in shares of common stock. The Company has additionally agreed to pay the consultant 1.5%
of the gross revenue during the term of the agreement and six months after. On September 17, 2018, the agreement was amended related to services performed from July 1,
2018 through August 31, 2018. The Company has agreed to pay 10,134 shares of common stock for services performed during such time. The shares were valued at $0.05 per
share or $734. No shares were earned prior to July 1, 2018. Commencing September 1, 2018, the May 5, 2018 consulting agreement shall be in accordance with the terms stated
above and from September through December 31, 2018, the Company issued an additional 13,000 shares to the consultant at an average fair market value of $0.04 per share or
$562.
For services rendered from July 2018 through September 2018, the Company agreed to issue 70,000 shares of common stock to a consultant pursuant to an agreement dated
October 10, 2018. The Company valued the shares at $0.04 per share based on fair market value or $3,290. No further compensation is due to this consultant.
On August 8, 2018, the Company entered into a one-year agreement with an advisor for consulting services, as extended for an additional one-year period. Pursuant to the
agreement, as amended, the Company has the right to pay $5,000 or issue the advisor a maximum of 6,667 shares of common stock on a quarterly basis, beginning the quarter
ended December 31, 2018. The Company elected to issue 26,668 shares for the services provided during the year ended December 31, 2019 at an average value of $0.08 per
share or $1,653.
On August 28, 2018, the Company entered into a one-year agreement with an advisor for consulting services, as extended for an additional one-year period. Pursuant to the
agreement, as amended, the Company has the right to pay $5,000 or issue the advisor a maximum of 6,667 shares of common stock on a quarterly basis, beginning the quarter
ended December 31, 2018. The Company elected to issue 26,668 shares for the services provided during the year ended December 31, 2019 at an average value of $0.08 per
share or $1,653.
On September 1, 2019, the Company entered into a four-month agreement with an advisor for consulting services. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company shall pay the advisor
5,000 shares of common stock a month. As of December 31, 2019, the Company has issued 20,000 shares for services provided by the advisor at an average value of $0.10 per
share or $2,000.
On October 1, 2019, the Company entered into a three-month agreement with an advisor for consulting services. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company shall pay the advisor
4,000 shares of common stock a month. As of December 31, 2019, the Company has issued 4,000 shares at a value of $0.12 per share or $488. The agreement was terminated
on October 31, 2019.
On October 7, 2019, the Company entered into a three-month agreement with an advisor for consulting services. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company shall pay the advisor
7,500 shares of common stock a month. As of December 31, 2019, the Company has issued 22,500 shares at a value of $0.12 per share or $2,745.
On December 4, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with an advisor to memorialize certain services rendered to the Company. Pursuant to the terms of the
agreement, in consideration for those services, the Company issued the advisor 75,000 shares of common stock. The shares were valued at $0.12 per share or $9,150.
Shares issued for conversion of convertible debt
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company issued 5,687,630 shares of its common stock at a conversion price of $0.40 as a result of the conversion of principal
and interest in the aggregate amount of $2,275,050 underlying the outstanding convertible notes converted during the period.
Warrants
During the year ended December 31, 2018, cash consideration of $45,380 was paid and 167,875 warrants were issued to a third party on September 20, 2018 for services
rendered in connection with the issuance of the convertible notes related to the Bridge Financing Transaction. During the year ended December 31, 2017 a total of 234,375
warrants were issued. The warrants are immediately exercisable upon issuance at a per share price of $0.40 and expire on September 20, 2023. The Company calculated the fair
value of the warrants and recorded a total debt discount in the amount of $4,735 which was amortized through September 21, 2018, the date of the reverse merger. The fair
value was calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions: (i) expected life 5 years, (ii) volatility of 78% - 86%, (iii) risk free rate of 2.27% 2.90%, (iv) dividend rate of zero, (v) stock price of $0.05, and (vi) exercise price of $0.40.
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During the year ended December 31, 2019, in connection with the Securities Purchase Agreement (see Note 4), the company issued 100,000 warrants to a third party. The
warrants were accounted for as a discount to the December 31, 2019 convertible note and therefor fair-valued using the Monte Carlo model with the following assumptions:
-

The stock price of $0.1208 would fluctuate with an annual volatility
The projected volatility curve was based on historical volatility of comparable companies for the valuation period and the remaining term of the warrants. The volatility used
was 85.2%.
The stock price projection was modeled such that it follows a geometric Brownian motion with constant drift and a constant volatility, starting with market prices.
The warrants are exercised at maturity, December 31, 2024, by the holder if they are in the money based on the adjusted exercise price (adjusted for full ratchet reset events).
The warrants have a fixed $1.25 exercise price subject to full ratchet reset provisions. Capital raising events triggering a reset to 100% of the projected stock price (no
discount to the market) are projected for the warrants on 6/30/20, 6/30/21 and 6/30/22.
The cash flows are discounted to net present values using risk free rates. Discount rates were based on risk free rates in effect based on the remaining term.

The following table summarized the warrant activity for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Number of
Shares
234,375
167,875
402,250
100,000
502,250

Warrants
Balance Outstanding, December 31, 2017
Granted
Forfeited
Exercised
Expired
Balance Outstanding, December 31, 2018
Granted
Forfeited
Exercised
Expired
Balance Outstanding, December 31, 2019
Exercisable, December 31, 2019

502,250

$

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
0.40
0.40
0.40
1.25
0.57

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term
5.00
5.00
4.72
5.00
3.98

$

0.57

3.98

$
$

$

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
$

$

-

$

-

$

Options
On January 14, 2019, the Board of Directors approved the issuance of options to purchase an aggregate of 800,000 and 200,000 share of common stock to Boris Goldstein and
Vadim Sakharov, respectively. The options have an exercise price of $0.75 per share which will vest over a 24-month period as follows: 25% (or 200,000 and 50,000,
respectively) shall vest six months after the grant date with the remaining options will vest on a monthly basis at a rate of 1/24th per month. The options will expire on January
14, 2029. The aggregate fair value of $17,111 was calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions: (i) expected life 10 years, (ii) volatility of
77%, (iii) risk free rate of 2.71% (iv) dividend rate of zero, (v) stock price of $0.042, and (vi) exercise price of $0.75. The expense will be amortized over the vesting period and
a total of $10,432 was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2019.
On January 25, 2019, the Company appointed Jesse W. Crowne as the Company’s new Chief Executive Officer. In connection with this appointment, the Company and Mr.
Crowne entered into an employment agreement effective as of January 25, 2019. As part of his compensation, Mr. Crowne received options to purchase 800,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.75 per share, of which 200,000 vest on the one year anniversary of the date of grant and the remaining 600,000 shares vest
ratably on a quarterly basis over the following two years. The options will expire January 25, 2029. Under certain circumstances, the Company would be obligated to grant
options to purchase an additional 200,000 shares at substantially similar terms. The fair value of $13,714 was calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the
following assumptions: (i) expected life 10 years, (ii) volatility of 77%, (iii) risk free rate of 2.76% (iv) dividend rate of zero, (v) stock price of $0.042, and (vi) exercise price of
$0.75. On May 31, 2019, Mr. Crowne resigned as Chief Executive Officer, and in November 2019 he resigned as a director of the Company’s Board. As a result of his
resignation as Chief Executive Officer, his options were cancelled. The fair value of the stock option expense was amortized over the vesting period and a total of $2,366 was
recorded through the date resignation.
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The following table summarized the option activity for the year ended December 31, 2019:
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number of
Shares

Options
Balance Outstanding, December 31, 2018
Granted
Forfeited
Exercised
Expired
Balance Outstanding, December 31, 2019
Exercisable, December 31, 2019

1,800,000
(800,000)
1,000,000

$

625,000

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

10
9.05

$

$

0.75
0.75

$

-

$

0.75

9.05

$

-

For future periods, the remaining value of the stock options totaling approximately $6,680 will be amortized into the statement of operations consistent with the period for which
the services will be rendered.
NOTE 11 – CONCENTRATIONS
In the year ending December 31, 2019, the Company purchased 99.84% of its medical devices for resale and distribution from Neurotech, a company that Vadim Sakharov is a
shareholder and executive manager.
NOTE 12 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Financial Advisory Agreement
On February 1, 2017, the Company entered into a one-year agreement with a third party to act as the Company’s exclusive financial advisor (the “Financial Advisor”). In
consideration for services, the Company will pay a cash fee equal to 8% of the total amount of capital received by the Company from institutions and 10% of the total amount of
capital received by the Company from retail. With the exception of the Bridge Private Placement Transaction, the Company will also pay a cash amount, representing a nonaccountable expense allowance payable immediately upon closing of a financing equal to 3% of the aggregate gross proceeds raised in the transactions from retail. In addition to
the cash consideration, the Company will also issue warrants to purchase common stock to the Financial Advisor in an amount equal to 10% of the number of shares of common
stock purchased by the investors and that the investors obtain a right to acquire through purchase, conversion or exercise of convertible securities issued by the Company. Those
warrants will be immediately exercisable at the price per share at which the investor can acquire the common stock. On February 5, 2018, the agreement was amended to extend
the exclusivity period another 12 months through February 1, 2019, all other terms and conditions of the agreement remained the same.
Operating Leases
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which requires lessees to recognize most leases on their balance sheets as a right-of-use asset with a
corresponding lease liability. Lessor accounting under the standard is substantially unchanged. Additional qualitative and quantitative disclosures are also required. The
Company adopted the standard effective January 1, 2019 using the cumulative-effect adjustment transition method, which applies the provisions of the standard at the effective
date without adjusting the comparative periods presented. The Company adopted the following practical expedients and elected the following accounting policies related to this
standard update:
●

The option to not reassess prior conclusions related to the identification, classification and accounting for initial direct costs for leases that commenced prior to January
1, 2019.
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●

Short-term lease accounting policy election allowing lessees to not recognize right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases with a term of 12 months or less.

●

The option to not separate lease and non-lease components for certain equipment lease asset categories such as freight car, vehicles and work equipment.

●

The package of practical expedients applied to all of its leases, including (i) not reassessing whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases, (ii) not
reassessing the lease classification for any expired or existing leases, and (iii) not reassessing initial direct costs for any existing leases.

As a result of the above, the adoption of ASC 842 did not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. The Company will review for the existence of
embedded leases in future agreements.
The Company has inventoried all leases where the Company is a lessee as of the initial date of application and has examined other contracts with suppliers, vendors, customers
and other outside parties to identify whether such contracts contain an embedded lease as defined under the new guidance. The Company’s lease population comprises lease for
corporate office space and a warehouse that are year-to-year basis with monthly rent ranging from approximately $200 to $3,200 and qualify under the practical expedient of
short-term leases. The Company does not have exclusive rights of control to any assets in the customer and vendor contracts reviews and does not have any financing leases as
of the date of adoption of ASC 842.
The Company conducts its U.S. operations from one office located in New York, NY. Beginning September 1, 2018, the Company entered into a six-month agreement from
September 1, 2018 through February 28, 2019 at $1,598 per month. The Company continues to rent this location on a month to month basis at a rate of $1,750 per month. In
March 2019, the Company rented an additional office at this location at a rate of $1,700 per month, which was terminated on June 30, 2019.
Beginning September 1, 2018, the Company entered into a one-year lease agreement with a related party (see Note 5). The Company is paying the related party one half of the
$3,000 monthly rent or $1,500 per month, plus expenses. This lease was terminated on March 31, 2019.
Beginning January 2, 2019, the Company entered into a 12-month lease agreement ending December 31, 2019, with a third party in Russia. The Company is paying rent at a
rate of 17,200 Rubles ($272) per month.
Beginning June 1, 2019, the Company entered into a 10-month lease agreement ending March 31, 2020 with a third party in Russia. The Company is paying rent at a rate of
12,000 Rubles ($190) per month.
Additionally, the Company also rents a warehouse. Beginning December 1, 2018, the Company entered into a 6-month warehouse rental agreement for $2,980 per month. The
lease was renewed on June 1, 2019 for an additional year ending May 31, 2020, for $3,171 per month.
Total rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $85,771 and $58,301, respectively.
Equity Incentive Plan
As of September 21, 2018, the Company’s board of directors adopted, and stockholders approved the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2018 Plan”). The 2018 Plan has a 10year term, which terminates on the day prior to the 10th anniversary of its adoption by the Board. Under the 2018 Plan, the Company may grant equity-based incentive awards,
including options, restricted stock, and other stock-based awards, to any directors, employees, advisers, and consultants that provide services to the Company. The vesting
period, term and exercise price will be determined at the time of the grant. An aggregate of up to 3,500,000 of the Company’s common stock are reserved for issuance under the
2018 Plan. As of December 31, 2019, the Company has granted and has 1,000,000 options outstanding under the 2018 Plan (see Note 9).
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NOTE 12 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In accordance with ASC 855 “Subsequent Events,” Company management reviewed all material events through the date this report was issued and the following subsequent
events took place.
Employee Agreements
On March 25, 2020, effective retroactive to January 30, 2020, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Boris Goldstein pursuant to which Mr. Goldstein
received 800,000 options to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock. The options vest ratably on a quarterly basis over the following two years.
On March 25, 2020, effective retroactive to January 30, 2020, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Vadim Sakharov pursuant to which Mr. Sakharov will
receive an annual salary of $60,000.
Non-Convertible Promissory Note
On February 21, 2020, a third party loaned the Company $20,000, evidenced by a non-convertible promissory note (the “Note”).The Note bears interest at a fixed rate of 12%
per annum, computed based on a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months, which interest will be payable quarterly until the Maturity Date. The principal amount and any accrued
and unpaid interest due under the Note is payable on July 1, 2020 (the “Maturity Date”). The Note contains customary events of default, which, if uncured, entitle the Lender to
accelerate the due date of the unpaid principal amount of, and all accrued and unpaid interest on, the Note.
Extension of Existing Convertible Promissory Notes
On February 28, 2020, the Company entered into allonges to extend the maturity date of certain existing Convertible Promissory Notes of the Company (each, a “Note”). The
Allonge relating to the Note in the principal amount of $130,000, provides for the maturity date thereof to be extended to February 5, 2021, subject to earlier conversion
pursuant to the terms of such Note. The Allonge relating to the Note in the principal amount of $100,000, provides for the maturity date thereof to be extended to January 18,
2021, subject to earlier conversion pursuant to the terms of such Note. Other than as set forth in each Allonge, the terms of the Notes remain the same.
F-38

PART III—EXHIBITS
Exhibit
2.1
3.1
3.2
4.1
4.2
6.1
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6.14
6.15
6.16
6.17
6.18
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6.21
6.22
11.1
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Description
Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization by and among Brain Scientific Inc., ASGI Acquisition Company and Memory MD, Inc. dated as of
September 21, 2018 (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on September 27, 2018)
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Brain Scientific Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on September 24, 2018)
Amended and Restated By-Laws of Brain Scientific Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on September 27, 2018)
Form of the Subscription Agreement for the Offering
Form of the Warrant Agreement
Broker-Dealer Agreement between Brain Scientific Inc. and Dalmore Group, LLC
Software As A Service Agreement between Brain Scientific Inc. and Novation Solutions Inc. (O/A DealMaker)
Patent Assignment and License Back Agreement, dated May 2018, by and among Boris Goldstein, Dmitriy Prilutskiy, Stanislav Zabodaev, Memory MD, Inc.
and (c) Medical Computer Systems Ltd. (Incorporated by Form 8-K filed on September 27, 2018)
Agreement, dated as of September 21, 2018, between Brain Scientific Inc. and Amer Samad (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on September 27,
2018)
Sublease Agreement dated as of May 9, 2017 by and between Memory MD, Inc. and Nano Graphene Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on
September 27, 2018)
2018 Equity Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on September 27, 2018)
Form of Stock Option Award Agreement pursuant to 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on September 27, 2018)
Assignment and Assumption Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on September 27, 2018)
Jesse W. Crowne Employment Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on January 30, 2019)
Form of Subscription Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on February 11, 2019)
Form of Note (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on February 11, 2019)
Form of Placement Agent Warrant (incorporated by reference to Form 10-K filed April 1, 2019)
Form of Subscription Agreement (incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed October 25, 2019)
Form of Note (incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed October 25, 2019)
Allonge to Convertible Promissory Note dated February 28, 2020 ($130,000 (incorporated by reference to 8-K filed March 5, 2020)
Allonge to Convertible Promissory Note dated February 28, 2020 ($100,000 (incorporated by reference to 8-K filed March 5, 2020)
Employment Agreement between the Company and Boris Goldstein (incorporated by reference to 10-K filed March 31, 2020)
Employment Agreement between the Company and Vadim Sakharov (incorporated by reference to 10-K filed March 31, 2020)
Securities Purchase Agreement between the Company and Auctus Fund, LLC dated September 22, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8K filed on September 23, 2020)
Form of Promissory Note issued to Auctus Fund, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K filed on September 23, 2020)
Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant A held by Auctus Fund, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K filed on September 23, 2020)
Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant B held by Auctus Fund, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K filed on September 23, 2020)
Consent of Sadler, Gibb & Associates, LLC
Consent of Sichenzia Ross Ference LLP (included in Exhibit 12.1)
Opinion of Sichenzia Ross Ference LLP
Subsidiaries (Incorporated by Reference to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 27, 2018)
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Regulation A, the issuer certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 1-A
and has duly caused this offering statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in City of New York, State of New York, on November 12,
2020.
Brain Scientific Inc.
By:
/s/ Boris Goldstein
Name: Boris Goldstein
Title: Chairman of the Board and
Executive Vice President
(Principal Executive Officer)
This offering statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
/s/ Boris Goldstein
Boris Goldstein
Chairman of the Board and Executive Vice President
(Principal Executive Officer)

November 12, 2020

/s/ Mark Corrao
Mark Corrao
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

November 12, 2020

/s/ Nickolay Kukekov
Nickolay Kukekov
Director

November 12, 2020
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Exhibit 4.1
SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT
THIS INVESTMENT INVOLVES A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK. THIS INVESTMENT IS SUITABLE ONLY FOR PERSONS WHO CAN BEAR THE
ECONOMIC RISK FOR AN INDEFINITE PERIOD OF TIME AND WHO CAN AFFORD TO LOSE THEIR ENTIRE INVESTMENT. FURTHERMORE,
INVESTORS MUST UNDERSTAND THAT SUCH INVESTMENT IS ILLIQUID AND IS EXPECTED TO CONTINUE TO BE ILLIQUID FOR AN INDEFINITE
PERIOD OF TIME. NO PUBLIC MARKET EXISTS FOR THE SECURITIES, AND NO PUBLIC MARKET MAY DEVELOP FOLLOWING THIS OFFERING.
THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES
ACT”), OR ANY STATE SECURITIES OR BLUE SKY LAWS AND ARE BEING OFFERED AND SOLD IN RELIANCE ON EXEMPTIONS FROM THE
REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE ACT AND STATE SECURITIES OR BLUE SKY LAWS. ALTHOUGH AN OFFERING STATEMENT HAS BEEN
FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (THE “SEC”), THAT OFFERING STATEMENT DOES NOT INCLUDE THE SAME
INFORMATION THAT WOULD BE INCLUDED IN A REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT. THE SECURITIES HAVE NOT
BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE SEC, ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR OTHER REGULATORY AUTHORITY, NOR HAVE
ANY OF THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES PASSED UPON THE MERITS OF THIS OFFERING OR THE ADEQUACY OR ACCURACY OF THE
SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER MATERIALS OR INFORMATION MADE AVAILABLE TO SUBSCRIBERS IN CONNECTION WITH THIS
OFFERING.
SUBSCRIBERS WHO ARE NOT “ACCREDITED INVESTORS” (AS THAT TERM IS DEFINED IN SECTION 501 OF REGULATION D PROMULGATED
UNDER THE ACT) ARE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS ON THE AMOUNT THEY MAY INVEST, AS SET OUT IN SECTION 4. THE COMPANY IS RELYING
ON THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES SET FORTH BY EACH SUBSCRIBER IN THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER
INFORMATION PROVIDED BY SUBSCRIBER IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING TO DETERMINE THE APPLICABILITY TO THIS OFFERING
OF EXEMPTIONS FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE ACT.
THE OFFERING MATERIALS MAY CONTAIN FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND INFORMATION RELATING TO, AMONG OTHER THINGS,
THE COMPANY, ITS BUSINESS PLAN AND STRATEGY, AND ITS INDUSTRY. THESE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS ARE BASED ON THE
BELIEFS OF, ASSUMPTIONS MADE BY, AND INFORMATION CURRENTLY AVAILABLE TO THE COMPANY’S MANAGEMENT. WHEN USED IN THE
OFFERING MATERIALS, THE WORDS “ESTIMATE,” “PROJECT,” “BELIEVE,” “ANTICIPATE,” “INTEND,” “EXPECT” AND SIMILAR EXPRESSIONS
ARE INTENDED TO IDENTIFY FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. THESE STATEMENTS REFLECT MANAGEMENT’S CURRENT VIEWS WITH
RESPECT TO FUTURE EVENTS AND ARE SUBJECT TO RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES THAT COULD CAUSE THE COMPANY’S ACTUAL RESULTS TO
DIFFER MATERIALLY FROM THOSE CONTAINED IN THE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. INVESTORS ARE CAUTIONED NOT TO PLACE
UNDUE RELIANCE ON THESE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, WHICH SPEAK ONLY AS OF THE DATE ON WHICH THEY ARE MADE. THE
COMPANY DOES NOT UNDERTAKE ANY OBLIGATION TO REVISE OR UPDATE THESE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS TO REFLECT EVENTS
OR CIRCUMSTANCES AFTER SUCH DATE OR TO REFLECT THE OCCURRENCE OF UNANTICIPATED EVENTS.
THE COMPANY MAY NOT BE OFFERING THE SECURITIES IN EVERY STATE. THE OFFERING MATERIALS DO NOT CONSTITUTE AN OFFER OR
SOLICITATION IN ANY STATE OR JURISDICTION IN WHICH THE SECURITIES ARE NOT BEING OFFERED.
THE COMPANY RESERVES THE RIGHT IN ITS SOLE DISCRETION AND FOR ANY REASON WHATSOEVER TO MODIFY, AMEND AND/OR
WITHDRAW ALL OR A PORTION OF THE OFFERING AND/OR ACCEPT OR REJECT IN WHOLE OR IN PART ANY PROSPECTIVE INVESTMENT IN
THE SECURITIES OR TO ALLOT TO ANY PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR LESS THAN THE AMOUNT OF SECURITIES SUCH INVESTOR DESIRES TO
PURCHASE. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE INDICATED, THE OFFERING MATERIALS SPEAK AS OF THEIR DATE. NEITHER THE DELIVERY NOR THE
PURCHASE OF THE SECURITIES SHALL, UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES, CREATE ANY IMPLICATION THAT THERE HAS BEEN NO CHANGE IN
THE AFFAIRS OF THE COMPANY SINCE THAT DATE.

To: Brain Scientific Inc.
125 Wilbur Place, Suite 170
Bohemia, NY 11716
Ladies and Gentlemen:
1. SUBSCRIPTION.
(a) The undersigned (“Subscriber”) hereby irrevocably subscribes for and agrees to purchase units (the “Securities” or “Units”) of Brain Scientific Inc., a Nevada corporation
(the “Company”), at a purchase price of $9.00 per Unit (the “Per Security Price”), which equates to a price of $1.80 per share of Common Stock, provided that a Subscriber
must purchase the Units in at least the amount of the minimum investment of $504 (56 Units), upon the terms and conditions set forth herein. Each Unit offered herein consists
of five (5) shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Common Stock”), par value $0.001 per share, and a warrant (the “Warrant”) to purchase one (1) share of the Common
Stock. The holders of the Warrants may exercise the Warrants to purchase shares of the Common Stock at the price of $2.25 per share within three years from the issuance date
of the Warrants. The terms and conditions of the Warrants are as set forth in the form of the Warrant Agreement included as Exhibit 4.2 to the Offering Statement of the
Company filed with the SEC (the “Offering Statement”).
(b) Subscriber understands that the Securities are being offered pursuant to an offering circular dated ____, 2020 (the “Offering Circular”) filed with the SEC as part of the
Offering Statement. By executing this Subscription Agreement, Subscriber acknowledges that Subscriber has received this Subscription Agreement, copies of the Offering
Circular and Offering Statement including exhibits thereto and any other information required by the Subscriber to make an investment decision.
(c) The Subscriber’s subscription may be accepted or rejected in whole or in part, at any time prior to a Closing Date (as hereinafter defined), by the Company at its sole
discretion. In addition, the Company, at its sole discretion, may allocate to Subscriber only a portion of the number of Securities Subscriber has subscribed for. The Company
will notify Subscriber whether this subscription is accepted (whether in whole or in part) or rejected. If Subscriber’s subscription is rejected, Subscriber’s payment (or portion
thereof if partially rejected) will be returned to Subscriber without interest and all of Subscriber’s obligations hereunder shall terminate.
(d) The aggregate number of Securities sold shall not exceed 1,111,111 Units (the “Maximum Offering”). The Company may accept subscriptions until ____, 2021 unless
otherwise extended by the Company in its sole discretion in accordance with applicable SEC regulations for such other period required to sell the Maximum Offering (the
“Termination Date”). The Company may elect at any time to close all or any portion of this offering, on various dates at or prior to the Termination Date (each a “Closing
Date”).
(e) In the event of rejection of this subscription in its entirety, or in the event that the sale of the Securities (or any portion thereof) is not consummated for any reason, this
Subscription Agreement shall have no force or effect, except for Section 5 hereof, which shall remain in force and effect.
(f) The terms of this Subscription Agreement shall be binding upon Subscriber and its transferees, heirs, successors and assigns (collectively, “Transferees”); provided that for
any such transfer to be deemed effective, the Transferee shall have executed and delivered to the Company in advance an instrument in a form acceptable to the Company in its
sole discretion, pursuant to which the proposed Transferee shall acknowledge, agree, and be bound by the representations and warranties of Subscriber, and the terms of this
Subscription Agreement.
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2. PURCHASE PROCEDURE.
The purchase price for the Securities shall be paid simultaneously with Subscriber’s subscription. Subscriber shall deliver payment for the aggregate purchase price of the
Securities by a check for available funds made payable as directed by the Company, by ACH electronic transfer, credit card, debit card, or wire transfer to an account designated
by the Company, or by any combination of such methods. Payment for the Securities shall be received as directed by the Company, from the undersigned by check, ACH
electronic transfer credit card, debit card, or wire transfer of immediately available funds at least two days prior to the applicable Closing Date, in the amount as set forth on the
signature page hereto. The undersigned shall receive notice and evidence of the digital entry of the number of the Securities owned by undersigned reflected on the books and
records of the Company and verified by VStock Transfer, LLC, which books and records shall bear a notation that the Securities were sold in reliance upon Regulation A.
3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY.
The Company represents and warrants to Subscriber that the following representations and warranties are true and complete in all material respects as of the date of each
Closing Date, except as otherwise indicated. For purposes of this Agreement, an individual shall be deemed to have “knowledge” of a particular fact or other matter if such
individual is actually aware of such fact. The Company will be deemed to have “knowledge” of a particular fact or other matter if one of the Company’s current officers has, or
at any time had, actual knowledge of such fact or other matter.
(a) Organization and Standing. The Company is a corporation duly formed, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Nevada. The Company has all
requisite power and authority to own and operate its properties and assets, to execute and deliver this Subscription Agreement, and any other agreements or instruments required
hereunder. The Company is duly qualified and is authorized to do business and is in good standing as a foreign corporation in all jurisdictions in which the nature of its activities
and of its properties (both owned and leased) makes such qualification necessary, except for those jurisdictions in which failure to do so would not have a material adverse
effect on the Company or its business.
(b) Issuance of the Securities. The issuance, sale and delivery of the Securities in accordance with this Subscription Agreement has been duly authorized by all necessary
corporate action on the part of the Company. The Securities, including the shares of Common Stock underlying the Warrants (the “Warrant Shares”) when so issued, sold and
delivered against payment therefor in accordance with the provisions of this Subscription Agreement, will be duly and validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.
4. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SUBSCRIBER . By executing this Subscription Agreement, Subscriber (and, if Subscriber is purchasing the Securities
subscribed for hereby in a fiduciary capacity, the person or persons for whom Subscriber is so purchasing) represents and warrants, which representations and warranties are
true and complete in all material respects as of such Subscriber’s respective Closing Date(s):
(a) Requisite Power and Authority. Such Subscriber has all necessary power and authority under all applicable provisions of law to execute and deliver this Subscription
Agreement and other agreements required hereunder and to carry out their provisions. All action on Subscriber’s part required for the lawful execution and delivery of this
Subscription Agreement and other agreements required hereunder have been or will be effectively taken prior to the Closing Date. Upon their execution and delivery, this
Subscription Agreement and other agreements required hereunder will be valid and binding obligations of Subscriber, enforceable in accordance with their terms, except (i) as
limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws of general application affecting enforcement of creditors’ rights, and (ii) as limited by
general principles of equity that restrict the availability of equitable remedies.
(b) Investment Representations. Subscriber understands that the Securities have not been registered under the Securities Act. Subscriber also understands that the Securities are
being offered and sold pursuant to an exemption from registration contained in the Securities Act based in part upon Subscriber’s representations contained in this Subscription
Agreement.
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(c) Illiquidity and Continued Economic Risk. Subscriber acknowledges and agrees that there is no ready public market for the Securities and that there is no guarantee that a
market for their resale will ever exist. Subscriber must bear the economic risk of this investment indefinitely. While the Company’s Common Stock is quoted on the OTCQB,
the Company has no obligation to list the Securities, including its Common Stock and Warrants, on any market or take any steps (including registration under the Securities Act
or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) with respect to facilitating trading or resale of the Securities. Further, there can be no assurance that an active market may
develop or be sustained. Subscriber acknowledges that Subscriber is able to bear the economic risk of losing Subscriber’s entire investment in the Securities. Subscriber also
understands that an investment in the Company involves significant risks and has taken full cognizance of and understands all of the risks relating to the purchase of the
Securities and an investment in the Company, including those risks set forth in the Offering Circular and in the Company’s filings with the SEC.
(d) Subscriber Determination of Suitability. Subscriber has evaluated the risks of an investment in the Securities including those described in the section of the Offering Circular
captioned “Risk Factors”, and has determined that the investment is suitable for Subscriber. Subscriber has adequate financial resources for an investment of this character, and
at this time Subscriber could bear a complete loss of Subscriber’s investment in the Company.
(f) Accredited Investor Status or Investment Limits. Subscriber represents that either:
(i) Subscriber is an “accredited investor” within the meaning of Rule 501 of Regulation D under the Securities Act. Subscriber represents and warrants that the
information set forth in response to question (c) on the signature page hereto concerning Subscriber is true and correct; or
(ii) The purchase price set out in the signature page to this Subscription Agreement, together with any other amounts previously used to purchase Securities in this
offering, does not exceed 10% of the greater of the Subscriber’s annual income or net worth.
Subscriber represents that to the extent it has any questions with respect to its status as an accredited investor, or the application of the investment limits, it has sought
professional advice.
5. SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS AND INDEMNITY . The representations, warranties and covenants made by the Subscriber herein shall survive the Termination
Date of this Agreement. The Subscriber agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Company and its respective officers, directors and affiliates, and each other person, if any,
who controls the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense whatsoever (including, but not
limited to, any and all reasonable attorneys’ fees, including attorneys’ fees on appeal) and expenses reasonably incurred in investigating, preparing or defending against any
false representation or warranty or breach of failure by the Subscriber to comply with any covenant or agreement made by the Subscriber herein or in any other document
furnished by the Subscriber to any of the foregoing in connection with this transaction.
6. GOVERNING LAW. This Subscription Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York.
7. NOTICES. Notice, requests, demands and other communications relating to this Subscription Agreement and the transactions contemplated herein shall be in writing and
shall be deemed to have been duly given if and when (a) delivered personally, on the date of such delivery; or (b) mailed by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return
receipt requested, in the third day after the posting thereof; or (c) emailed on the date of such delivery to the address of the respective parties as follows:
If to the Company, to:

Brain Scientific Inc.
125 Wilbur Place, Suite 170
Bohemia, NY 11716
bgoldstein@memorymd.com

Copy to:

Sichenzia Ross Ference LLP
Attn: Arthur Marcus, Esq.
1185 Avenue of the Americas, 37th Floor
New York, NY 10036
amarcus@srf.law
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If to a Subscriber, to the Subscriber’s address as shown on the signature page hereto or to such other address as may be specified by written notice from time to time by the party
entitled to receive such notice.
8. MISCELLANEOUS.
(a) All pronouns and any variations thereof shall be deemed to refer to the masculine, feminine, neuter, singular or plural, as the identity of the person or persons or entity or
entities may require.
(b) This Subscription Agreement is not transferable or assignable by Subscriber.
(c) The representations, warranties and agreements contained herein shall be deemed to be made by and be binding upon Subscriber and its heirs, executors, administrators and
successors and shall inure to the benefit of the Company and its successors and assigns.
(d) None of the provisions of this Subscription Agreement may be waived, changed or terminated orally or otherwise, except as specifically set forth herein or except by a
writing signed by the Company and Subscriber.
(e) In the event any part of this Subscription Agreement is found to be void or unenforceable, the remaining provisions are intended to be separable and binding with the same
effect as if the void or unenforceable part were never the subject of agreement.
(f) The invalidity, illegality or unenforceability of one or more of the provisions of this Subscription Agreement in any jurisdiction shall not affect the validity, legality or
enforceability of the remainder of this Subscription Agreement in such jurisdiction or the validity, legality or enforceability of this Subscription Agreement, including any such
provision, in any other jurisdiction, it being intended that all rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall be enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.
(g) This Subscription Agreement supersedes all prior discussions and agreements between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and contains the sole and entire
agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof.
(h) The terms and provisions of this Subscription Agreement are intended solely for the benefit of each party hereto and their respective successors and assigns, and it is not the
intention of the parties to confer, and no provision hereof shall confer, third-party beneficiary rights upon any other person.
(i) The headings used in this Subscription Agreement have been inserted for convenience of reference only and do not define or limit the provisions hereof.
(j) This Subscription Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, but all of which together will constitute one and the
same instrument.
(k) If any recapitalization or other transaction affecting the capital stock of the Company is effected, then any new, substituted or additional securities or other property which is
distributed with respect to the Securities shall be immediately subject to this Subscription Agreement, to the same extent that the Securities, immediately prior thereto, shall
have been covered by this Subscription Agreement.
(l) No failure or delay by any party in exercising any right, power or privilege under this Subscription Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or partial
exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. The rights and remedies herein provided shall be cumulative
and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law.
9. SUBSCRIPTION PROCEDURE.
Each Subscriber, by providing his or her name and subscription amount and clicking “accept” and/or checking the appropriate box on the Platform (“Online Acceptance”),
confirms such Subscriber’s investment through the Platform and confirms such Subscriber’s electronic signature to this Agreement. Subscriber agrees that his or her electronic
signature as provided through Online Acceptance is the legal equivalent of his or her manual signature on this Agreement and Online Acceptance establishes such Subscriber’s
acceptance of the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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BRAIN SCIENTIFIC INC.
SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT SIGNATURE PAGE
The undersigned, desiring to: (i) enter into the Unit Subscription Agreement, dated as of ______________ (the “Subscription Agreement”), between the undersigned, Brain
Scientific Inc., a Nevada company (the “Company”), and the other parties thereto, in or substantially in the form furnished to the undersigned and (ii) purchase the Units (the
“Securities”) of the Company as set forth below, hereby agrees to purchase such Securities from the Company and further agrees to join the Subscription Agreement as a party
thereto, with all the rights and privileges appertaining thereto, and to be bound in all respects by the terms and conditions thereof. The undersigned specifically acknowledges
having read the representations section in the Subscription Agreement entitled “Representations and Warranties of Subscriber,” and hereby represents that the statements
contained therein are complete and accurate with respect to the undersigned as a Subscriber.
SUBSCRIBER (individual)
______________________________________
Signature
________________________________________
Print Name
__________________________________________
Signature (if Joint Tenants or Tenants in Common)
__________________________________________
Email:
Signature page to Brain Scientific Inc. Unit Subscription Agreement
This Subscription is accepted on _________
BRAIN SCIENTIFIC INC.
By: _________________________________
Name:
Title:

Exhibit 4.2
NEITHER THIS SECURITY NOR THE SECURITIES FOR WHICH THIS SECURITY IS EXERCISABLE HAVE BEEN REGISTERED WITH THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR THE SECURITIES COMMISSION OF ANY STATE IN RELIANCE UPON AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), AND, ACCORDINGLY, MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN
EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR PURSUANT TO AN AVAILABLE EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION
NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS.
THIS SECURITY AND THE SECURITIES ISSUABLE UPON EXERCISE OF THIS SECURITY MAY BE PLEDGED IN CONNECTION WITH A BONA FIDE
MARGIN ACCOUNT OR OTHER LOAN SECURED BY SUCH SECURITIES.
COMMON STOCK PURCHASE WARRANT
BRAIN SCIENTIFIC INC.
Warrant Shares: [

]

Issuance Date: [

], 2020

THIS COMMON STOCK PURCHASE WARRANT (the “Warrant”) certifies that, for value received, the person(s) named on the signature page of this Warrant or its
assigns (the “Holder”) is entitled, upon the terms and subject to the limitations on exercise and the conditions hereinafter set forth, at any time on or the date hereof (the “Initial
Exercise Date”) and on or prior to the close of business on the three (3) year anniversary of the Issuance Date (the “Termination Date”) but not thereafter, to subscribe for and
purchase from BRAIN SCIENTIFIC INC., a Nevada corporation (the “Company”), of a certain number of shares as set forth above (as subject to adjustment hereunder, the
“Warrant Shares”) of the Company’s common stock (the “Common Stock”), par value $0.001 per share. The purchase price of one share of Common Stock under this Warrant
shall be equal to the Exercise Price, as defined in Section 1(b).
Section 1. Exercise.
a) Exercise of Warrant. Exercise of the purchase rights represented by this Warrant may be made, in whole or in part, at any time or times on or after the
Initial Exercise Date and on or before the Termination Date by delivery to the Company (or such other office or agency of the Company as it may designate by notice in writing
to the registered Holder at the address of the Holder appearing on the books of the Company) of a duly executed facsimile copy (or e-mail attachment) of the Notice of Exercise
in the form annexed hereto (the “Notice of Exercise”). Within the earlier of (i) two (2) Trading Days and (ii) the number of Trading Days comprising the Standard Settlement
Period (as defined in Section 2(d)(i) herein) following the date of exercise as aforesaid, the Holder shall deliver the aggregate Exercise Price for the shares specified in the
applicable Notice of Exercise by wire transfer or cashier’s check drawn on a United States bank. No ink-original Notice of Exercise shall be required, nor shall any medallion
guarantee (or other type of guarantee or notarization) of any Notice of Exercise be required. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Holder shall not be required to
physically surrender this Warrant to the Company until the Holder has purchased all of the Warrant Shares available hereunder and the Warrant has been exercised in full, in
which case, the Holder shall surrender this Warrant to the Company for cancellation within two (2) Trading Days of the date when the final Notice of Exercise is delivered to the
Company. Partial exercises of this Warrant resulting in purchases of a portion of the total number of Warrant Shares available hereunder shall have the effect of lowering the
outstanding number of Warrant Shares purchasable hereunder in an amount equal to the applicable number of Warrant Shares purchased. The Holder and the Company shall
maintain records showing the number of Warrant Shares purchased and the date of such purchases. The Company shall deliver any objection to any Notice of Exercise within
one (1) Business Day of receipt of such notice. The Holder and any assignee, by acceptance of this Warrant, acknowledge and agree that, by reason of the provisions of
this paragraph, following the purchase of a portion of the Warrant Shares hereunder, the number of Warrant Shares available for purchase hereunder at any given
time may be less than the amount stated on the face hereof.
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b) Exercise Price. The exercise price per share of the Common Stock under this Warrant shall be $2.25, subject to adjustment hereunder (the “Exercise
Price”).
c) Mechanics of Exercise.
i . Delivery of Warrant Shares Upon Exercise. The Company shall cause the Warrant Shares purchased hereunder to be transmitted by the
Company’s Transfer Agent to the Holder by crediting the account of the Holder’s or its designee’s balance account with The Depository Trust Company through its Deposit or
Withdrawal at Custodian system (“ DWAC”) if the Company is then a participant in such system and either (A) there is an effective registration statement permitting the
issuance of the Warrant Shares to or resale of the Warrant Shares by Holder or (B) the Warrant Shares are eligible for resale by the Holder without volume or manner-of- sale
limitations pursuant to Rule 144, and otherwise by physical delivery of a certificate, registered in the Company’s share register in the name of the Holder or its designee, for the
number of Warrant Shares to which the Holder is entitled pursuant to such exercise to the address specified by the Holder in the Notice of Exercise by the date that is the earlier
of (i) the earlier of (A) two (2) Trading Days after the delivery to the Company of the Notice of Exercise and (B) one (1) Trading Day after delivery of the aggregate Exercise
Price to the Company and (ii) the number of Trading Days comprising the Standard Settlement Period after the delivery to the Company of the Notice of Exercise (such date, the
“Warrant Share Delivery Date”). Upon delivery of the Notice of Exercise, the Holder shall be deemed for all corporate purposes to have become the holder of record of the
Warrant Shares with respect to which this Warrant has been exercised, irrespective of the date of delivery of the Warrant Shares, provided that payment of the aggregate
Exercise Price is received within the earlier of (i) five Trading Days and (ii) the number of Trading Days comprising the Standard Settlement Period following delivery of the
Notice of Exercise. The Company agrees to maintain a transfer agent that is a participant in the FAST program so long as this Warrant remains outstanding and exercisable. As
used herein, “Standard Settlement Period” means the standard settlement period, expressed in a number of Trading Days, on the Company’s primary Trading Market with
respect to the Common Stock as in effect on the date of delivery of the Notice of Exercise.
ii. Delivery of New Warrants Upon Exercise. If this Warrant shall have been exercised in part, the Company shall, at the request of a Holder and
upon surrender of this Warrant certificate, at the time of delivery of the Warrant Shares, deliver to the Holder a new Warrant evidencing the rights of the Holder to purchase the
unpurchased Warrant Shares called for by this Warrant, which new Warrant shall in all other respects be identical with this Warrant.
iii. Rescission Rights. If the Company fails to cause the Transfer Agent to transmit to the Holder the Warrant Shares by the Warrant Share Delivery
Date, then the Holder will have the right to rescind such exercise.
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iv. No Fractional Shares or Scrip. No fractional shares or scrip representing fractional shares shall be issued upon the exercise of this Warrant. As to
any fraction of a share which the Holder would otherwise be entitled to purchase upon such exercise, the Company shall, at its election, either pay a cash adjustment in respect
of such final fraction in an amount equal to such fraction multiplied by the Exercise Price or round up to the next whole share.
v. Charges, Taxes and Expenses. Issuance of Warrant Shares shall be made without charge to the Holder for any issue or transfer tax or other
incidental expense in respect of the issuance of such Warrant Shares, all of which taxes and expenses shall be paid by the Company, and such Warrant Shares shall be issued in
the name of the Holder or in such name or names as may be directed by the Holder; provided, however, that in the event that Warrant Shares are to be issued in a name other
than the name of the Holder, this Warrant when surrendered for exercise shall be accompanied by the Assignment Form attached hereto duly executed by the Holder and the
Company may require, as a condition thereto, the payment of a sum sufficient to reimburse it for any transfer tax incidental thereto. The Company shall pay all Transfer Agent
fees required for same-day processing of any Notice of Exercise and all fees to the Depository Trust Company (or another established clearing corporation performing similar
functions) required for same-day electronic delivery of the Warrant Shares.
vi. Closing of Books. The Company will not close its stockholder books or records in any manner which prevents the timely exercise of this Warrant,
pursuant to the terms hereof.
Section 2. Certain Adjustments.
a) Stock Dividends and Splits. If the Company, at any time while this Warrant is outstanding: (i) pays a stock dividend or otherwise makes a distribution or
distributions on shares of its Common Stock or any other equity or equity equivalent securities payable in shares of Common Stock (which, for avoidance of doubt, shall not
include any shares of Common Stock issued by the Company upon exercise of this Warrant), (ii) subdivides outstanding shares of Common Stock into a larger number of
shares, (iii) combines (including by way of reverse stock split) outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, or (iv) issues by reclassification of shares
of the Common Stock any shares of capital stock of the Company, then in each case the Exercise Price shall be multiplied by a fraction of which the numerator shall be the
number of shares of Common Stock (excluding treasury shares, if any) outstanding immediately before such event and of which the denominator shall be the number of shares
of Common Stock outstanding immediately after such event, and the number of shares issuable upon exercise of this Warrant shall be proportionately adjusted such that the
aggregate Exercise Price of this Warrant shall remain unchanged. Any adjustment made pursuant to this Section 2(a) shall become effective immediately after the record date
for the determination of stockholders entitled to receive such dividend or distribution and shall become effective immediately after the effective date in the case of a subdivision,
combination or re-classification.
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b) Pro Rata Distributions. During such time as this Warrant is outstanding, if the Company shall declare or make any dividend or other distribution of its
assets (or rights to acquire its assets) to holders of shares of Common Stock, by way of return of capital or otherwise (including, without limitation, any distribution of cash,
stock or other securities, property or options by way of a dividend, spin off, reclassification, corporate rearrangement, scheme of arrangement or other similar transaction) (a
“Distribution”), at any time after the issuance of this Warrant, then, in each such case, the Holder shall be entitled to participate in such Distribution to the same extent that the
Holder would have participated therein if the Holder had held the number of shares of Common Stock acquirable upon complete exercise of this Warrant (without regard to any
limitations on exercise hereof, including without limitation, the Beneficial Ownership Limitation) immediately before the date of which a record is taken for such Distribution,
or, if no such record is taken, the date as of which the record holders of shares of Common Stock are to be determined for the participation in such Distribution (provided,
however, to the extent that the Holder's right to participate in any such Distribution would result in the Holder exceeding the Beneficial Ownership Limitation, then the Holder
shall not be entitled to participate in such Distribution to such extent (or in the beneficial ownership of any shares of Common Stock as a result of such Distribution to such
extent) and the portion of such Distribution shall be held in abeyance for the benefit of the Holder until such time, if ever, as its right thereto would not result in the Holder
exceeding the Beneficial Ownership Limitation). To the extent that this Warrant has not been partially or completely exercised at the time of such Distribution, such portion of
the Distribution shall be held in abeyance for the benefit of the Holder until the Holder has exercised this Warrant.
c) Fundamental Transaction. If, at any time while this Warrant is outstanding, (i) the Company, directly or indirectly, in one or more related transactions
effects any merger or consolidation of the Company with or into another Person, (ii) the Company, directly or indirectly, effects any sale, lease, license, assignment, transfer,
conveyance or other disposition of all or substantially all of its assets in one or a series of related transactions, (iii) any, direct or indirect, purchase offer, tender offer or
exchange offer (whether by the Company or another Person) is completed pursuant to which holders of Common Stock are permitted to sell, tender or exchange their shares for
other securities, cash or property and has been accepted by the holders of 50% or more of the outstanding Common Stock, (iv) the Company, directly or indirectly, in one or
more related transactions effects any reclassification, reorganization or recapitalization of the Common Stock or any compulsory share exchange pursuant to which the
Common Stock is effectively converted into or exchanged for other securities, cash or property, or (v) the Company, directly or indirectly, in one or more related transactions
consummates a stock or share purchase agreement or other business combination (including, without limitation, a reorganization, recapitalization, spin-off or scheme of
arrangement) with another Person or group of Persons whereby such other Person or group acquires more than 50% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (not including
any shares of Common Stock held by the other Person or other Persons making or party to, or associated or affiliated with the other Persons making or party to, such stock or
share purchase agreement or other business combination) (each a “Fundamental Transaction”), then, upon any subsequent exercise of this Warrant, the Holder shall have the
right to receive, for each Warrant Share that would have been issuable upon such exercise immediately prior to the occurrence of such Fundamental Transaction, at the option of
the Holder, the number of shares of Common Stock of the successor or acquiring corporation or of the Company, if it is the surviving corporation, and any additional
consideration (the “Alternate Consideration”) receivable as a result of such Fundamental Transaction by a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock for which this
Warrant is exercisable immediately prior to such Fundamental Transaction. For purposes of any such exercise, the determination of the Exercise Price shall be appropriately
adjusted to apply to such Alternate Consideration based on the amount of Alternate Consideration issuable in respect of one share of Common Stock in such Fundamental
Transaction, and the Company shall apportion the Exercise Price among the Alternate Consideration in a reasonable manner reflecting the relative value of any different
components of the Alternate Consideration. If holders of Common Stock are given any choice as to the securities, cash or property to be received in a Fundamental Transaction,
then the Holder shall be given the same choice as to the Alternate Consideration it receives upon any exercise of this Warrant following such Fundamental Transaction.
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d) Calculations. All calculations under this Section 2 shall be made to the nearest cent or the nearest 1/100th of a share, as the case may be. For purposes of
this Section 2, the number of shares of Common Stock deemed to be issued and outstanding as of a given date shall be the sum of the number of shares of Common Stock
(excluding treasury shares, if any) issued and outstanding.
e) Notice to Holder.
i. Adjustment to Exercise Price. Whenever the Exercise Price is adjusted pursuant to any provision of this Section 2, the Company shall promptly
deliver to the Holder by facsimile or email a notice setting forth the Exercise Price after such adjustment and any resulting adjustment to the number of Warrant Shares and
setting forth a brief statement of the facts requiring such adjustment.
ii. Notice to Allow Exercise by Holder. If (A) the Company shall declare a dividend (or any other distribution in whatever form) on the Common
Stock, (B) the Company shall declare a special nonrecurring cash dividend on or a redemption of the Common Stock, (C) the Company shall authorize the granting to all
holders of the Common Stock rights or warrants to subscribe for or purchase any shares of capital stock of any class or of any rights, (D) the approval of any stockholders of the
Company shall be required in connection with any reclassification of the Common Stock, any consolidation or merger to which the Company is a party, any sale or transfer of
all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, or any compulsory share exchange whereby the Common Stock is converted into other securities, cash or property, or (E)
the Company shall authorize the voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the affairs of the Company, then, in each case, the Company shall cause to be
delivered by facsimile or email to the Holder at its last facsimile number or email address as it shall appear upon the Warrant Register of the Company, at least 20 calendar days
prior to the applicable record or effective date hereinafter specified, a notice stating (x) the date on which a record is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend, distribution,
redemption, rights or warrants, or if a record is not to be taken, the date as of which the holders of the Common Stock of record to be entitled to such dividend, distributions,
redemption, rights or warrants are to be determined or (y) the date on which such reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer or share exchange is expected to become
effective or close, and the date as of which it is expected that holders of the Common Stock of record shall be entitled to exchange their shares of the Common Stock for
securities, cash or other property deliverable upon such reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer or share exchange; provided that the failure to deliver such notice or
any defect therein or in the delivery thereof shall not affect the validity of the corporate action required to be specified in such notice. To the extent that any notice provided in
this Warrant constitutes, or contains, material, non-public information regarding the Company or any of the Subsidiaries, the Company shall simultaneously file such notice
with the Commission pursuant to a Current Report on Form 8-K. The Holder shall remain entitled to exercise this Warrant during the period commencing on the date of such
notice to the effective date of the event triggering such notice except as may otherwise be expressly set forth herein.
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Section 3. Transfer of Warrant.
a) Transferability. Subject to compliance with any applicable securities laws, this Warrant and all rights hereunder (including, without limitation, any
registration rights) are transferable and upon issuance detachable from the units to which this Warrant is a part, in whole or in part, upon surrender of this Warrant at the
principal office of the Company or its designated agent, together with a written assignment of this Warrant substantially in the form attached hereto duly executed by the Holder
or its agent or attorney and funds sufficient to pay any transfer taxes payable upon the making of such transfer. Upon such surrender and, if required, such payment, the
Company shall execute and deliver a new Warrant or Warrants in the name of the assignee or assignees, as applicable, and in the denomination or denominations specified in
such instrument of assignment, and shall issue to the assignor a new Warrant evidencing the portion of this Warrant not so assigned, and this Warrant shall promptly be
cancelled. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Holder shall not be required to physically surrender this Warrant to the Company unless the Holder has assigned
this Warrant in full, in which case, the Holder shall surrender this Warrant to the Company within three (3) Trading Days of the date the Holder delivers an assignment form to
the Company assigning this Warrant in full. The Warrant, if properly assigned in accordance herewith, may be exercised by a new holder for the purchase of Warrant Shares
without having a new Warrant issued.
b) New Warrants. This Warrant may be divided or combined with other Warrants upon presentation hereof at the aforesaid office of the Company, together
with a written notice specifying the names and denominations in which new Warrants are to be issued, signed by the Holder or its agent or attorney. Subject to compliance with
Section 3(a), as to any transfer which may be involved in such division or combination, the Company shall execute and deliver a new Warrant or Warrants in exchange for the
Warrant or Warrants to be divided or combined in accordance with such notice. All Warrants issued on transfers or exchanges shall be dated the Issue Date of this Warrant and
shall be identical with this Warrant except as to the number of Warrant Shares issuable pursuant thereto.
c) Warrant Register. The Company shall register this Warrant, upon records to be maintained by the Company for that purpose (the “Warrant Register”), in
the name of the record Holder hereof from time to time. The Company may deem and treat the registered Holder of this Warrant as the absolute owner hereof for the purpose of
any exercise hereof or any distribution to the Holder, and for all other purposes, absent actual notice to the contrary.
d) Transfer Restrictions. If, at the time of the surrender of this Warrant in connection with any transfer of this Warrant, the transfer of this Warrant shall not
be either (i) registered pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act and under applicable state securities or blue sky laws or (ii) eligible for resale
without volume or manner-of-sale restrictions or current public information requirements pursuant to Rule 144, the Company may require, as a condition of allowing such
transfer, that the Holder or transferee of this Warrant, as the case may be, provide an opinion of counsel acceptable to the Company that such transfer is in accordance with Rule
144.
e) Representation by the Holder. The Holder, by the acceptance hereof, represents and warrants that it is acquiring this Warrant and, upon any exercise hereof,
will acquire the Warrant Shares issuable upon such exercise, for its own account and not with a view to or for distributing or reselling such Warrant Shares or any part thereof in
violation of the Securities Act or any applicable state securities law, except pursuant to sales registered or exempted under the Securities Act.
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Section 4. Miscellaneous.
a) No Rights as Stockholder Until Exercise. This Warrant does not entitle the Holder to any voting rights, dividends or other rights as a stockholder of the
Company prior to the exercise hereof as set forth in Section 1(d)(i), except as expressly set forth in Section 2.
b) Loss, Theft, Destruction or Mutilation of Warrant. The Company covenants that upon receipt by the Company of evidence reasonably satisfactory to it of
the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of this Warrant or any stock certificate relating to the Warrant Shares, and in case of loss, theft or destruction, of indemnity or security
reasonably satisfactory to it (which, in the case of the Warrant, shall not include the posting of any bond), and upon surrender and cancellation of such Warrant or stock
certificate, if mutilated, the Company will make and deliver a new Warrant or stock certificate of like tenor and dated as of such cancellation, in lieu of such Warrant or stock
certificate.
c) Saturdays, Sundays, Holidays, etc. If the last or appointed day for the taking of any action or the expiration of any right required or granted herein shall not
be a Business Day, then, such action may be taken or such right may be exercised on the next succeeding Business Day.
d) Authorized Shares.
The Company covenants that, during the period the Warrant is outstanding, it will reserve from its authorized and unissued Common Stock a
sufficient number of shares to provide for the issuance of the Warrant Shares upon the exercise of any purchase rights under this Warrant. The Company further covenants that
its issuance of this Warrant shall constitute full authority to its officers who are charged with the duty of issuing the necessary Warrant Shares upon the exercise of the purchase
rights under this Warrant. The Company will take all such reasonable action as may be necessary to assure that such Warrant Shares may be issued as provided herein without
violation of any applicable law or regulation, or of any requirements of the Trading Market upon which the Common Stock may be listed. The Company covenants that all
Warrant Shares which may be issued upon the exercise of the purchase rights represented by this Warrant will, upon exercise of the purchase rights represented by this Warrant
and payment for such Warrant Shares in accordance herewith, be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and free from all taxes, liens and charges created
by the Company in respect of the issue thereof (other than taxes in respect of any transfer occurring contemporaneously with such issue).
Except and to the extent as waived or consented to by the Holder, the Company shall not by any action, including, without limitation, amend its
certificate of incorporation or through any reorganization, transfer of assets, consolidation, merger, dissolution, issue or sale of securities or any other voluntary action, avoid or
seek to avoid the observance or performance of any of the terms of this Warrant, but will at all times in good faith assist in the carrying out of all such terms and in the taking of
all such actions as may be necessary or appropriate to protect the rights of Holder as set forth in this Warrant against impairment. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, the Company will (i) not increase the par value of any Warrant Shares above the amount payable therefor upon such exercise immediately prior to such increase in
par value, (ii) take all such action as may be necessary or appropriate in order that the Company may validly and legally issue fully paid and nonassessable Warrant Shares
upon the exercise of this Warrant and (iii) use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all such authorizations, exemptions or consents from any public regulatory body having
jurisdiction thereof, as may be, necessary to enable the Company to perform its obligations under this Warrant.
Before taking any action which would result in an adjustment in the number of Warrant Shares for which this Warrant is exercisable or in the
Exercise Price, the Company shall obtain all such authorizations or exemptions thereof, or consents thereto, as may be necessary from any public regulatory body or bodies
having jurisdiction thereof.
e) Jurisdiction. All questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and interpretation of this Warrant shall be determined in accordance with the
provisions of the Subscription Agreement for the Units, to which the Warrant is a part.
f) Restrictions. The Holder acknowledges that the Warrant Shares acquired upon the exercise of this Warrant, if not registered, will have restrictions upon
resale imposed by state and federal securities laws.
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g) Nonwaiver and Expenses. No course of dealing or any delay or failure to exercise any right hereunder on the part of Holder shall operate as a waiver of
such right or otherwise prejudice the Holder’s rights, powers or remedies. Without limiting any other provision of this Warrant or the Purchase Agreement, if the Company
willfully and knowingly fails to comply with any provision of this Warrant, which results in any material damages to the Holder, the Company shall pay to the Holder such
amounts as shall be sufficient to cover any costs and expenses including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys’ fees, including those of appellate proceedings, incurred by the
Holder in collecting any amounts due pursuant hereto or in otherwise enforcing any of its rights, powers or remedies hereunder.
h) Notices. Any notice, request or other document required or permitted to be given or delivered to the Holder by the Company shall be delivered in
accordance with the notice provisions of the Purchase Agreement.
i) Limitation of Liability. No provision hereof, in the absence of any affirmative action by the Holder to exercise this Warrant to purchase Warrant Shares, and
no enumeration herein of the rights or privileges of the Holder, shall give rise to any liability of the Holder for the purchase price of any Common Stock or as a stockholder of
the Company, whether such liability is asserted by the Company or by creditors of the Company.
j) Remedies. The Holder, in addition to being entitled to exercise all rights granted by law, including recovery of damages, will be entitled to specific
performance of its rights under this Warrant. The Company agrees that monetary damages would not be adequate compensation for any loss incurred by reason of a breach by it
of the provisions of this Warrant and hereby agrees to waive and not to assert the defense in any action for specific performance that a remedy at law would be adequate.
k) Successors and Assigns. Subject to applicable securities laws, this Warrant and the rights and obligations evidenced hereby shall inure to the benefit of and
be binding upon the successors and permitted assigns of the Company and the successors and permitted assigns of Holder. The provisions of this Warrant are intended to be for
the benefit of any Holder from time to time of this Warrant and shall be enforceable by the Holder or holder of Warrant Shares.
l) Amendment. This Warrant may be modified or amended or the provisions hereof waived with the written consent of the Company and the Holder.
m) Severability. Wherever possible, each provision of this Warrant shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if
any provision of this Warrant shall be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, such provision shall be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without
invalidating the remainder of such provisions or the remaining provisions of this Warrant.
n) Headings. The headings used in this Warrant are for the convenience of reference only and shall not, for any purpose, be deemed a part of this Warrant.
o) Governing law. This Warrant shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Nevada, without giving effect to
conflict of laws principles thereof.
********************
(Signature Page Follows)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Warrant to be executed by its officer thereunto duly authorized as of the date first above indicated.
BRAIN SCIENTIFIC INC.
By:
Name:
Title:
Name of Holder: [ ]
Name of Joint Holder: [
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]

NOTICE OF EXERCISE
TO: [ ]
(1) The undersigned hereby elects to purchase ______ Warrant Shares of the Company pursuant to the terms of the attached Warrant, and tenders herewith payment of
the exercise price in full, together with all applicable transfer taxes, if any.
(2) Payment shall take the form of lawful money of the United States
(3) Please issue the said amount of Warrant Shares in the name of the undersigned or in such other name as is specified below:

The Warrant Shares shall be delivered to the following DWAC Account Number:

(4) Accredited Investor. The undersigned is an “accredited investor” as defined in Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
[SIGNATURE OF HOLDER]
Name of Investing Entity:________________________________________________________
Signature of Authorized Signatory of Investing Entity: __________________________________
Name of Authorized Signatory:____________________________________________________
Title of Authorized Signatory (Institutional Entity Only):______________________________
Date: _____________________________

EXHIBIT B
ASSIGNMENT FORM
(To assign the foregoing Warrant, execute this form and supply required information. Do not use this form to purchase shares.)
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the foregoing Warrant and all rights evidenced thereby are hereby assigned to
Name:
(Please Print)
Address:
(Please Print)
Phone Number:
(Please Print)
Email Address:
(Please Print)
Dated: _________, _______
Holder’s Signature:______________________
Holder’s Address:_______________________

Exhibit 6.1

Broker-Dealer Agreement
This agreement (together with exhibits and schedules, the “Agreement”) is entered into by and between Brain Scientific Inc. (“Client”), a Nevada Corporation, and
Dalmore Group, LLC., a New York Limited Liability Company (“Dalmore”). Client and Dalmore agree to be bound by the terms of this Agreement, effective as of July 23,
2020 (the “Effective Date”):
Whereas, Dalmore is a registered broker-dealer providing services in the equity and debt securities market, including offerings conducted via SEC approved
exemptions such as Reg D 506(b), 506(c), Regulation A+, Reg CF and others;
Whereas, Client is offering securities directly to the public in an offering exempt from registration under Regulation A+ (the “Offering”); and
Whereas, Client recognizes the benefit of having Dalmore as a service provider for investors who participate in the Offering (“Investors”).
Now, Therefore, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained herein and for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which
are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:
1. Appointment, Term, and Termination
a. Client hereby engages and retains Dalmore to provide operations and compliance services at Client’s discretion.
b. The Agreement will commence on the Effective Date and will remain in effect for a period of twelve (12) months and will renew automatically for successive
renewal terms of twelve (12) months each unless any party provides notice to the other party of non-renewal at least sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of the current term. If
Client defaults in performing the obligations under this Agreement, the Agreement may be terminated (i) upon sixty (60) days written notice if Client fails to perform or
observe any material term, covenant or condition to be performed or observed by it under this Agreement and such failure continues to be unremedied, (ii) upon written notice, if
any material representation or warranty made by either Provider or Client proves to be incorrect at any time in any material respect, (iii) in order to comply with a Legal
Requirement, if compliance cannot be timely achieved using commercially reasonable efforts, after providing as much notice as practicable, or (iv) upon thirty (30) days’ written
notice if Client or Dalmore commences a voluntary proceeding seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief, or is adjudged bankrupt or insolvent or has entered against it a
final and unappeable order for relief, under any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law, or either party executes and delivers a general assignment for the benefit of its
creditors. The description in this section of specific remedies will not exclude the availability of any other remedies. Any delay or failure by Client to exercise any right, power,
remedy or privilege will not be construed to be a waiver of such right, power, remedy or privilege or to limit the exercise of such right, power, remedy or privilege. No single,
partial or other exercise of any such right, power, remedy or privilege will preclude the further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power, remedy or privilege.
All terms of the Agreement, which should reasonably survive termination, shall so survive, including, without limitation, limitations of liability and indemnities, and the
obligation to pay Fees relating to Services provided prior to termination.
1

2. Services. Dalmore will perform the services listed on Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof, in connection with the Offering (the “Services”). Unless otherwise
agreed to in writing by the parties.
3. Compensation. As compensation for the Services, Client shall pay to Dalmore a fee equal to one hundred (100) basis points on the aggregate amount raised by the Client.
This will only start after FINRA Corporate Finance issues a No Objection Letter for the offering and will only be payable upon the closing of such purchases and the company’s
simultaneous receipt of the net funds.. Client authorizes Dalmore to deduct the fee directly from the Client’s third party escrow or payment account.
There will also be a one time advance payment for out of pocket expenses of $5,000. Payment is due and payable upon execution of this agreement. The advance payment will
cover expenses anticipated to be incurred by the firm such as preparing the FINRA filing, due diligence expenses, working with the Client’s SEC counsel in providing
information to the extent necessary, and any other services necessary and required prior to the approval of the offering.
The firm will refund a portion of the payment related to the advance to the extent it was not used, incurred or provided to the Client.
The Client shall also engage Dalmore as a consultant to provide ongoing general consulting services relating to the Offering such as coordination with third party vendors and
general guidance with respect to the Offering. The Client will pay a one time Consulting Fee of $20,000 which will be due and payable within 30 days after FINRA issues a No
Objection Letter and the Client receives SEC Qualification.
4. Regulatory Compliance
a. Client and all its third party providers shall at all times (i) comply with direct requests of Dalmore; (ii) maintain all required registrations and licenses, including
foreign qualification, if necessary; and (iii) pay all related fees and expenses (including the FINRA Corporate Filing Fee), in each case that are necessary or appropriate to
perform their respective obligations under this Agreement. Client shall comply with and adhere to all Dalmore policies and procedures.
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FINRA Corporate Filing Fee for this $10,000,000, best efforts offering will be $2,000 and will be a pass- through fee payable to Dalmore, from the Client, who will then
forward it to FINRA as payment for the filing. This fee is due and payable prior to any submission by Dalmore to FINRA.
b. Client and Dalmore will have the shared responsibility for the review of all documentation related to the Transaction but the ultimate discretion about accepting a
client will be the sole decision of the Client. Each Investor will be considered to be that of the Client’s and NOT Dalmore.
c. Client and Dalmore will each be responsible for supervising the activities and training of their respective sales employees, as well as all of their other respective
employees in the performance of functions specifically allocated to them pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
d. Client and Dalmore agree to promptly notify the other concerning any material communications from or with any Governmental Authority or Self Regulatory
Organization with respect to this Agreement or the performance of its obligations, unless such notification is expressly prohibited by the applicable Governmental Authority.
5. Role of Dalmore. Client acknowledges and agrees that Client will rely on Client’s own judgment in using Dalmore’ Services. Dalmore (i) makes no representations with
respect to the quality of any investment opportunity or of any issuer; (ii) does not guarantee the performance to and of any Investor; (iii) will make commercially reasonable
efforts to perform the Services in accordance with its specifications; (iv) does not guarantee the performance of any party or facility which provides connectivity to Dalmore;
and (v) is not an investment adviser, does not provide investment advice and does not recommend securities transactions and any display of data or other information about an
investment opportunity, does not constitute a recommendation as to the appropriateness, suitability, legality, validity or profitability of any transaction. Nothing in this
Agreement should be construed to create a partnership, joint venture, or employer-employee relationship of any kind.
6. Indemnification.
a. Indemnification by Client. Client shall indemnify and hold Dalmore, its affiliates and their representatives and agents harmless from, any and all actual or direct
losses, liabilities, judgments, arbitration awards, settlements, damages and costs (collectively, “Losses”), resulting from or arising out of any third party suits, actions, claims,
demands or similar proceedings (collectively, “ Proceedings”) to the extent they are based upon (i) a breach of this Agreement by Client, (ii) the wrongful acts or omissions of
Client, or (iii) the Offering, unless such losses are adjudged to be a result of the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Dalmore..
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b. Indemnification by Dalmore. Dalmore shall indemnify and hold Client, Client’s affiliates and Client’s representatives and agents harmless from any Losses resulting
from or arising out of Proceedings to the extent they are based upon (i) a breach of this Agreement by Dalmore or (ii) the wrongful acts or omissions of Dalmore or its failure to
comply with any applicable federal, state, or local laws, regulations, or codes in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement.
c. Indemnification Procedure. If any Proceeding is commenced against a party entitled to indemnification under this section, prompt notice of the Proceeding shall be
given to the party obligated to provide such indemnification. The indemnifying party shall be entitled to take control of the defense, investigation or settlement of the
Proceeding and the indemnified party agrees to reasonably cooperate, at the indemnifying party's cost in the ensuing investigations, defense or settlement.
7. Notices. Any notices required by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be addressed, and delivered or mailed postage prepaid, or faxed or emailed to the other parties
hereto at such addresses as such other parties may designate from time to time for the receipt of such notices. Until further notice, the address of each party to this Agreement for
this purpose shall be the following:
If to the Client:
Brain Scientific Inc.
205 East 42nd Street, 14th Floor
New York, NY 10027
Attn: Boris Goldstein, Chairman
Tel: 646-388-3788
Email: Bgoldstein@memorymd.com
If to the Dalmore:
Dalmore Group, LLC.
525 Green Place
Woodmere, NY 11598
Attn: Etan Butler, Chairman
Tel: 917-319-3000
etan@dalmorefg.com
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8. Confidentiality and Mutual Non-Disclosure:
a. Confidentiality.
i. Included Information. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Confidential Information” means all confidential and proprietary information of a party,
including but not limited to (i) financial information, (ii) business and marketing plans, (iii) the names of employees and owners, (iv) the names and other personally-identifiable
information of users of the third-party provided online fundraising platform, (v) security codes, and (vi) all documentation provided by Client or Investor.
ii. Excluded Information. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “confidential and proprietary information” shall not include (i) information already known or
independently developed by the recipient without the use of any confidential and proprietary information, or (ii) information known to the public through no wrongful act of the
recipient.
iii. Confidentiality Obligations. During the Term and at all times thereafter, neither party shall disclose Confidential Information of the other party or use such
Confidential Information for any purpose without the prior written consent of such other party. Without limiting the preceding sentence, each party shall use at least the same
degree of care in safeguarding the other party’s Confidential Information as it uses to safeguard its own Confidential Information. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a party may
disclose Confidential Information (i) if required to do by order of a court of competent jurisdiction, provided that such party shall notify the other party in writing promptly upon
receipt of knowledge of such order so that such other party may attempt to prevent such disclosure or seek a protective order; or (ii) to any applicable governmental authority as
required by applicable law. Nothing contained herein shall be construed to prohibit the SEC, FINRA, or other government official or entities from obtaining, reviewing, and
auditing any information, records, or data. Issuer acknowledges that regulatory record-keeping requirements, as well as securities industry best practices, require Provider to
maintain copies of practically all data, including communications and materials, regardless of any termination of this Agreement.
9. Miscellaneous.
a. ANY DISPUTE OR CONTROVERSY BETWEEN THE CLIENT AND PROVIDER RELATING TO OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT WILL BE
SETTLED BY ARBITRATION BEFORE AND UNDER THE RULES OF THE ARBITRATION COMMITIEE OF FINRA.
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b. This Agreement is non-exclusive and shall not be construed to prevent either party from engaging in any other business activities
c. This Agreement will be binding upon all successors, assigns or transferees of Client. No assignment of this Agreement by either party will be valid unless the other
party consents to such an assignment in writing. Either party may freely assign this Agreement to any person or entity that acquires all or substantially all of its business or
assets. Any assignment by the either party to any subsidiary that it may create or to a company affiliated with or controlled directly or indirectly by it will be deemed valid and
enforceable in the absence of any consent from the other party.
d. Neither party will, without prior written approval of the other party, place or agree to place any advertisement in any website, newspaper, publication, periodical or
any other media or communicate with the public in any manner whatsoever if such advertisement or communication in any manner makes reference to the other party, to any
person or entity that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls or is controlled by, or is under common control, with the other party and to the clearing
arrangements and/or any of the Services embodied in this Agreement. Client and Dalmore will work together to authorize and approve co- branded notifications and client
facing communication materials regarding the representations in this Agreement. Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary within, Client agrees that Dalmore may make
reference in marketing or other materials to any transactions completed during the term of this Agreement, provided no personal data or Confidential Information is disclosed in
such materials.
e. THE CONSTRUCTION AND EFFECT OF EVERY PROVISION OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE RIGHTS OF THE PARTIES UNDER THIS AGREEMENT
AND ANY QUESTIONS ARISING OUT OF THE AGREEMENT, WILL BE SUBJECT TO THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT REGARD TO
CONFLICT OF LAW PRINCIPLES. The language used in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the language chosen by the parties to express their mutual intent, and no rule
of strict construction will be applied against any party
f. If any provision or condition of this Agreement will be held to be invalid or unenforceable by any court, or regulatory or self-regulatory agency or body, the validity
of the remaining provisions and conditions will not be affected and this Agreement will be carried out as if any such invalid or unenforceable provision or condition were not
included in the Agreement.
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g. This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes any prior agreement relating to the
subject matter herein. The Agreement may not be modified or amended except by written agreement.
h. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts and by facsimile or electronic means, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which together
shall constitute one and the same agreement.
[SIGNATURES APPEAR ON FOLLOWING PAGE(S)]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
CLIENT: Brain Scientific Inc.
By
/s/ Boris Goldstein
Name: Boris Goldstein
Its:
Chairman
Dalmore Group, LLC:
By
Name: Etan Butler
Its:
Chairman
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Exhibit A
Services:
a.

Dalmore Responsibilities – Dalmore agrees to:
i.

Review investor information, including KYC (Know Your Customer) data, perform AML (Anti-Money Laundering) and other compliance background checks,
and provide a recommendation to Client whether or not to accept investor as a customer of the Client;

ii.

Review each investors subscription agreement to confirm such Investors participation in the offering, and provide a determination to Client whether or not to
accept the use of the subscription agreement for the Investors participation;

iii.

Contact and/or notify the issuer, if needed, to gather additional information or clarification on an investor;

iv.

Not provide any investment advice nor any investment recommendations to any investor;

v.

Keep investor details and data confidential and not disclose to any third-party except as required by regulators or in our performance under this Agreement (e.g.
as needed for AML and background checks);

vi.

Coordinate with third party providers to ensure adequate review and compliance.
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Exhibit 6.2
SOFTWARE AS A SERVICE (SAAS) AGREEMENT
Customer:

Brain Scientific Inc.

Contact:

Baruch (Boris) Goldstein

Address:

125 Wilbur Place, Suite 170
Bohemia, NY 11716

Phone:

64638837388

E-Mail:

bgoldstein@memorymd.com

Services: Creation of a deal portal hosted by www.dealmaker.tech, and related and related services (as further described in Schedule A, the “Service(s)”).
Subscription Term: From the Commencement Date (as defined herein) until termination.
Services Fees: Set forth herein

Fees payable in USD unless otherwise specified.

Implementation: DealMaker will provide Customer the Services and Customer shall pay DealMaker the fees set forth in Schedule A in accordance with the terms herein.

This SaaS Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into on 10/05/2020, (the “Effective Date”) between Novation Solutions Inc. (O/A DealMaker) (“ Company”), and the
Customer listed above (“Customer”).
This Agreement includes and incorporates the above Order Form, as well as the DealMaker Terms of Service applicable to use of the Services available online at
www.dealmaker.tech/terms and contains, among other things, warranty disclaimers, liability limitations and use limitations. Customer also understands and agrees to the
charges and fees for any additional functionality or services requested pursuant to the Schedules to this Agreement.
There shall be no force or effect to any different terms other than as referenced herein (including the Terms and Conditions) except as entered into by Company and Customer in
writing.
DEALMAKER

Name:

By:
“Rebecca Kacaba”
Name: Rebecca Kacaba
Title: CEO

By:
/s/ Boris Goldstein
Name: BORIS GOLDSTEIN
Title: Chairman
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Schedule “A”
Standard Pricing
Platform Hosting and Maintenance Fees
Due on signing: $10,000†
†For Brain Scientific:
$5,000 due on signing (remaining balance only due when offering is live, payable from investment proceeds on hand)
Initial customer onboarding, including
o

Setup of subscription documents

o

Enablement and/or application to payment networks

o

Assignment of Senior Account Manager for support resources

o

Up to two (2) trainings on system for team users

Monthly Subscription Fee: $120* (payable once deal has been launched)
●

Access to Deal portal with automated tracking, signing, and reconciliation of investment transactions

●

Seats for up to 10 users (including legal, compliance, broker-dealer and transfer agent)

●

Support and periodic review with assigned Account Manager

Transaction Fees
Per Investor
●

$15 per electronic signature executed on portal

●

$15 per payment reconciled via DealMaker

Tranche Release/Funding
●

$200 per tranche closing and reconciliation

●

$50 per refund processed

●

$5 surcharge for check payments

*Historical pricing, honoured as originally quoted for Brain Scientific
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Schedule “B”
Additional Services
Customer may order Additional Services as set forth below.
Account Setup and Management (Prior to Launch)
For the period beginning on the Effective Date and ending on the Offering’s date of commencement (“Commencement Date”)
●

DealMaker partner network. Customer may request introductions to DealMaker’s network of partner and vendor relationships for the purpose of sourcing additional
services (call centre, transfer agent, marketing support, investment relations). All engagements with third-parties in this respect are to be made directly between the
Customer and the vendor, at the Customer’s discretion.

●

DealMaker template library and forms. Customer may request access to DealMaker’s documents and resources to help organize and set up the offering. These resources
may include educational packages, resources for the management of administrative and collaborative tasks, and best practices observed from other offerings and
industries.

●

Customized Support and Training. Customer may request additional support and training for team members and third party service providers, up to 4 unique sessions.

Price: $500 per month (terminating as of Launch Date)
Portal Customizations
Customer may request specific customizations or functionality to augment the standard deal portal, pursuant to the following:
●

Company will deliver an itemized project plan outlining the work to be completed, expected lead time to complete, and a fair estimate of costs.

●

Customer will review the project plan and authorize the scope of work

●

Customer acknowledges that additional deposit fees may be required before work begins

●

In the event that the relationship between Customer and Company is terminated prior to the completion of customizations, Customer remains responsible for all costs
authorized.

●

Customer may authorize additional customizations throughout the course of the deal at any time.

Fees: TBD
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Schedule “C”
Terms of Service
Payment & Billing
During the Term, Customer will be billed for expenses incurred on a monthly basis, payable via PAD agreement enclosed herein (Schedule E).
Invoices will be released to customer for review the first Monday of each month, and payment shall be withdrawn by the following Friday thereafter.
Term & Termination
Term and Renewal. Unless otherwise specified in your Order, your subscription will automatically renew each month for the shorter of the duration of the offering period, or
one year.
Early Cancellation. You may choose to cancel your subscription early at your convenience provided that, we will not provide any refunds of prepaid fees or unused Subscription
Fees, and you will promptly pay all unpaid fees due through the end of the Subscription Term.
Termination for Cause. Either party may terminate this Agreement for cause, as to any or all Subscription Services: (i) upon thirty (30) days’ notice to the other party of a
material breach if such breach remains uncured at the expiration of such period, or (ii) immediately, if the other party becomes the subject of a petition in bankruptcy or any
other proceeding relating to insolvency, cessation of business, liquidation or assignment for the benefit of creditors, in the event of Company insolvency, all of the Customer’s
assets are immediately released.
We may also terminate this Agreement for cause immediately if we determine that you are acting, or have acted, in a way that has or may negatively reflect on or impact us, our
prospects, or our customers.
This Agreement may not otherwise be terminated prior to the end of the Subscription Term.
Third-Party Payment Processing
For the processing of electronic payments (including “pull” ACH, credit card, etc.), the Company may submit material(s) and or application(s) to partner third-party payment
processors on behalf of the Customer. Upon approval, the Company will enable technological integration of the partner processors’ intake form/system within the subscription
portal.
The Customer acknowledges that there is no guarantee Customer will be approved via third party, and approval is subject to underwriters’ and compliance approval. Use of
payment processing service(s) is further contingent on acceptance of their respective fees, to be included as attached Schedule(s) to this agreement or presented to Customer
upon approval (including fees for merchant processing account and ongoing maintenance, which may be applied on a per-issuer basis).
Note holdback periods may apply for electronic payment transfer methods, as enforced by processors.
Integration with Third Party Service Providers
DealMaker shall bear no responsibility or liability whatsoever in connection with any third party services provided by a vendor engaged by Customer, the decision to engage
such vendors rests solely with the management of the Customer on the terms contracted between the Customer and such parties.
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Schedule “D”
Fund Collection Additional Terms
Capitalized terms used, but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Agreement, including the DealMaker Terms of Service available online at
www.dealmaker.tech/terms and the Fund Collection with DealMaker Agreement available online at www.dealmaker.tech/funds.
1.

Indemnification. Customer agrees to indemnify Company and hold Company harmless from any and all losses incurred by Company acting in its capacity as Custodian of
the Custody Assets, including, but not limited to, losses arising from chargebacks, clawbacks, payment reversals, fraudulent charges, insufficient credit, unauthorized
charges or any other payment card or ACH problems (collectively, “Losses”).

2.

Pre-Closing Custody Asset Lock. Customer agrees that Custody Assets that are deposited in Customer’s account with a financial institution (“Account”) prior to the closing
date (“Closing Date”) of the transaction involving the Custody Assets (each, a “Transaction”) shall remain in Customer’s Account and shall not be withdrawn by Customer,
or a person authorized by Customer, from the Customer’s Account prior to the Closing Date.

3.

Closing Holdback. The Customer hereby acknowledges that holdback periods apply in respect of electronic payment transfer methods to cover against charge-backs and/or
rescission. These holdback periods can vary in duration and amount depending on the industry and contemporaneous fluctuations. Due to COVID or other external events
these amounts can be increased. After the Closing Date, Customer agrees to retain in Customer’s Account thirty (30) percent of the Custody Assets processed by methods of
electronic transfer in respect of each Transaction for a period of ninety (90) days following the Closing Date (“Initial Holdback Period”), and retain twenty (20) percent of
such Custody Assets in Customer’s Account for an additional ninety (90) days after the end of the Initial Holdback Period (together, the “Closing Holdback”) to mitigate the
risk of any Losses. Company reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to amend the amount and duration of the Closing Holdback. Company shall notify Customer prior to
amending the Closing Holdback. It is acknowledged that Holdback periods applied by credit card processors are beyond DealMaker’s control however, the parties hereby
agree to work together collaboratively and in good faith in order to reduce any holdbacks required.

4.

Loss Recovery. Company shall have the right, in its sole discretion and without prior notice, to deduct funds from Customer’s Account to reimburse Company for any
Losses. Customer acknowledges and agrees that recovery of Losses from Customer’s Account will not serve as any limitation on the indemnification obligations of
Customer under this Agreement or any remedy or claim that Company may be entitled to pursue against Customer in respect of such Losses.

5.

Third Party Payments. Customer authorizes and directs Company to pay legal and professional fees, including, but not limited to, fees of lawyers, broker dealers,
investment bankers, consultants and other service providers, incurred by Company in respect of a Transaction from the Custody Assets, including from Custody Assets
deposited in Customer’s Account.
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Schedule “E”
PRE-AUTHORIZED DEBIT AUTHORIZATION (“PAD Agreement”)
FOR BUSINESS PURPOSES
The undersigned hereby authorizes NOVATION SOLUTIONS INC. O/A DEALMAKER (hereinafter called the “Payee”) to debit the account of the undersigned identified on
the void cheque delivered by or on behalf of the undersigned to the Payee (the “Account”) with the amount of each payment or other amount owing from time to time to the
Payee under the Services Agreement between, the undersigned, as software user, and the Payee, as service provider (as such may be amended, supplemented, otherwise
modified, restated or replaced from time to time), in accordance with the Services Agreement, by issuing pre-authorized debit requests (each a “PAD”) to the financial
institution at which the Account is held (the “Processing Institution”) on the day an invoice is issued and delivered and/or from time to time for one-time payments. The
undersigned undertakes to inform the Payee in writing of any change in the information related to the Account not less than 10 days prior to any such change.
The undersigned acknowledges that this authorization is being given for the benefit of the Payee and the benefit of the Processing Institution and is provided in consideration of
the Processing Institution agreeing to process PADs against the Account in accordance with the rules of the Canadian Payments Association (the “CPA Rules”). The Processing
Institution is hereby authorized and irrevocably directed to pay from and to debit against the Account any payment order or request whatsoever, payable to the order of the
Payee and drawn on the said Account by a bank acting in the name of the Payee. Any payment order or request whatsoever thus drawn by the Payee’s bank shall be considered
as having been signed by the undersigned.
The undersigned hereby acknowledges the payment terms of the Services Agreement and agrees that each PAD may be processed without prior written notice from the Payee of
either the amount of the PAD or the date that the PAD is to be processed.
The undersigned acknowledges: (i) that this authorization to the Payee also constitutes delivery thereof by the undersigned to the Processing Institution, and (ii) that the
Processing Institution is not required to verify that each PAD submitted by the Payee has been issued in accordance with this PAD Agreement (including the amount) or that the
purpose of the payment for which a PAD was made has been fulfilled as a condition of honouring such PAD.
The undersigned may revoke this authorization at any time by giving a 10-day written prior notice to the Payee at the address set forth below. We acknowledge that we may
obtain a sample cancellation form, or further information on our right to cancel this authorization at the Processing Institution or by visiting www.cdnpay.ca. We acknowledge
that we have certain recourse rights if any debit does not comply with this PAD Agreement. For example, we have the right to receive reimbursement for any debit that is not
authorized or is not consistent with this PAD Agreement. To obtain more information on our recourse rights, we acknowledge that we may contact our financial institution or
visit www.cdnpay.ca.
This PAD Agreement only relates to the method of payment under the Services Agreement and neither this Agreement nor cancellation thereof affects your obligations under
the Services Agreement. The Payee may assign or transfer its rights under this PAD Agreement. Each person whose signature is required on the Account must sign below.
Signed this

day of

, 2020.

Name:
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Undersigned

Processing INSTITUTION

Name:
Name:
Address:

Address:
Number:
Transit:
Account Number:

Authorized Signature(s) (as it appears on cheques)
Please attach a sample of a void cheque from the Processing Institution.
CONTACT INFORMATION OF THE PAYEE FOR NOTIFICATION OR INFORMATION:
NOVATION SOLUTIONS INC. O/A DEALMAKER
40 King Street West
Toronto, Ontario
M5H 3Y2
Tel: 1-647-478-4952
Email : funding@dealmaker.tech
Contact: Payments Group
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Exhibit 11.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors
Brain Scientific Inc.
As independent registered public accountants, we hereby consent to the use of our report dated March 30, 2020, which includes an explanatory paragraph as to the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Brain Scientific Inc., in its registration statement on Amendment No. 1 to Form 1A relating to the registration of 5,555,556 shares of common stock. We also consent to the reference of our firm under the caption “Experts” in the registration statement.
/s/ Sadler, Gibb & Associates, LLC
Salt Lake City, UT
November 12, 2020

Exhibit 12.1

November 12, 2020
Board of Directors
Brain Scientific Inc.
125 Wilbur Place, Suite 170
Bohemia, NY 11716
Ladies and Gentlemen:
We have acted as counsel to Brain Scientific Inc., a Nevada corporation (the “Company”), in connection with the preparation and filing of an offering statement on Form
1-A. The offering statement covers the contemplated sale of up to 1,111,111 Units, each consisting of five (5) shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Common Stock”)
and a warrant (the “Warrant”) to purchase one (1) share of Common Stock.
In connection with this opinion, we have examined originals or copies, certified or otherwise identified to our satisfaction, of the following:
1. Articles of Incorporation of the Company, as amended;
2. Bylaws of the Company, as amended;
3. The offering statement, as amended (File No. 024-11327) as filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”); and
4. Written consents of the Board of Directors of the Company approving the offering of the Units under the offering statement.
We have also examined originals or copies, certified or otherwise identified to our satisfaction, of such records of the Company and such agreements, certificates and
receipts of public officials, certificates of officers or other representatives of the Company and others, and such other documents as we have deemed necessary or appropriate as
a basis for the opinions stated below.
In our examination, we have assumed the genuineness of all signatures, including endorsements, the legal capacity and competency of all natural persons, the authenticity
of all documents submitted to us as originals, the conformity to original documents of all documents submitted to us as facsimile, electronic, certified or photostatic copies, and
the authenticity of the originals of such copies. In making our examination of executed documents, we have assumed (i) that the parties thereto, other than the Company, had the
power, corporate or other, to enter into and perform all obligations thereunder and (ii) the due authorization by all requisite action, corporate or other, and the execution and
delivery by such parties of such documents, and the validity and binding effect thereof on such parties.
The opinion expressed below is limited to the corporate laws of the State of Nevada and we express no opinion as to the effect on the matters covered by the laws of any
other jurisdiction.
1185 Avenue of the Americas | 37th Floor | New York, NY | 10036
T (212) 930 9700 | F (212) 930 9725 | WWW.SRF.LAW

Based upon and subject to the foregoing, we are of the opinion that the Company’s Units, consisting of Common Stock and Warrants, being offered pursuant to the
offering statement, will be, when issued in the manner described in the offering statement, duly authorized, legally and validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable and that the
shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Warrants, upon the exercise and payment therefor, will be duly authorized, legally and validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.
We hereby consent to the filing of this opinion with the Commission as an exhibit to the offering statement. We also hereby consent to the reference to our firm under the
caption “Legal Matters” in the offering circular. This opinion is expressed as of the date hereof unless otherwise expressly stated, and we disclaim any undertaking to advise you
of any subsequent changes in the facts stated or assumed herein or of any subsequent changes in applicable laws.
Very truly yours,
/s/ Sichenzia Ross Ference LLP
Sichenzia Ross Ference LLP

1185 Avenue of the Americas | 37th Floor | New York, NY | 10036
T (212) 930 9700 | F (212) 930 9725 | WWW.SRF.LAW

